Copyright is owned by the Author of the thesis. Permission is given for a copy to be downloaded by an individual for the purpose of research and private study only. The thesis may not be reproduced elsewhere without the permission of the Author.

Associations between physical activity, body composition, nutrient intake, and bone mineral density in pre-menopausal Pacific Island women living in New Zealand.

A thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

In

Nutrition and Dietetics

at Massey University, Albany

New Zealand

Maria Casale

Abstract

Background/Aim: Anecdotally it is suggested that Pacific Island women have good bone mineral density (BMD); however little evidence for this or for associated factors exists. The aim of this study is to explore associations between several key predictors of bone health with bone mineral density, as measured by BMD (g/cm²), in pre-menopausal Pacific Island women. **Methods:** Healthy pre-menopausal Pacific Island women (n=91; age 16-45y) were recruited. Participants' body composition and total body BMD were assessed using DXA and airdisplacement plethysmography (BodPod). A food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) and current bone-specific physical activity questionnaire (cBPAQ) were completed. Variables that significantly correlated with BMD were applied to a hierarchical multiple regression analysis. **Results:** The mean BMD was $1.1 \text{ g/cm}^2 \pm 0.08$. Bone-free, fat-free lean mass only (LMO, 52.4kg \pm 6.9) and total mass (90.4kg \pm 19) were the only factors to show a significant correlation with BMD. Body-fat (38.4% ± 7.6), cBPAQ score (1.7 (0.4,5.2)), and dietary calcium (1016mg ± 442), protein (18% ± 3.8) and vitamin C (125mg (94, 216)) showed no correlation with BMD. The regression analysis suggests that LMO is the most important predictor of BMD, explaining 13.4% of the variance, while total mass accounts for a further 2.5% of the variance. Together, these factors explain a total of 15.9% of the variability.

Conclusions: LMO is the strongest predictor of BMD, while many established contributors to bone health (calcium, physical activity, protein, and vitamin C) do not appear to be associated with BMD in this population. As just 15.9% of the variability can be explained, further research is needed in this area.

Key words: Bone mineral density, Pacific Island, pre-menopausal, body composition, physical activity, dietary intake

Acknowledgements

There are many people I owe my thanks to for their support and involvement which has made this research and thesis possible. Firstly to the wonderful Pasifika women who so generously gave their time to participate in this study: fa'afetai, mālō 'aupito, meitaki, vinaka, fakafetai, tank iu, and oue tulou - without your valuable contributions, none of this would have been possible.

My supervisors, Dr Pamela von Hurst, Dr Sarah Shultz, and Dr Marlena Kruger: thank you for your support, guidance, and kind words during stressful times.

Wendy O'Brien, Shakeela Jayasinghe, thank you for your huge amount of work in co-ordinating recruitment and testing.

Dr Rozanne Kruger, Dr Cathryn Conlon, and Dr Kathryn Beck, thank you for your time and work with testing.

PC Tong, thank you for your hard work analysing the DXA results.

Owen Mugridge, Sarah Philipsen, Richard Swift, Zara Houston, Adrianna Hepburn, Andrea Fenner, thank you for your time and work in recruitment, testing, and data entry.

Jenna Schrijvers, thank you for your help with recruitment, your moral support, and your normality checks.

Mum and Dad, thank you for your patience and understanding and for your wonderful help with Charlotte.

Will, thank you for your frequent reassurances and listening so tirelessly to my frustrations and worries over the last two years.

My beautiful daughter Charlotte: thank you for your patience and understanding, and for putting up with so many weekends and nights without me there, I know how hard it was for you, and I truly appreciate your sacrifice.

Table of Contents

Abstract	I
Acknowledgements	II
List of Tables	VI
List of Figures	VII
List of Appendices	VIII
List of Abbreviations	IX
Contribution to Research	X
Chapter 1: Background of Research	1
Purpose of the Study	2
Hypothesis	2
Aim	2
Objectives	3
Research Structure	3
Chapter 2: Review of the Literature	4
2.1 Bone Structure and Function	4
Structural properties	4
Material properties	5
2.2 Osteoporosis	7
Pathogenesis	7
Definitions	8
Measurements	9
Epidemiology	10
2.3 Factors that affect bone health	10
Dietary factors	11
Physical activity	23
Body composition	26
Hormonal factors	28
Genetics	30
2.4 Factors affecting bone health of Pacific Island women living in New Zealand	31

Physical activity prevalence of Pacific Island women living in New Zealand	.34
Body composition of Pacific Island women living in New Zealand	.35
2.5 Bone quality of Pacific Island women living in New Zealand & Australia	.36
2.6 Summary	.41

С	hapter 3: Methods	42
	3.1 Research Design	42
	3.2 Ethical Approval	42
	3.3 EXPLORE Participants	43
	3.4 Factor Selection	43
	3.5 Phases of Data Collection	43
	3.6 Anthropometric Measurements	44
	3.7 Bone and Measurements	46
	3.8 Physical Activity Measurements	46
	3.9 Dietary Analysis	47
	3.10 Data Handling	47
	3.11 Statistical Analyses	47

Chapter 4: Results	. 49
4.1 Study Participants49	
4.2 Participant Demographics	
4.3 Bone Mineral Measures51	
4.4 Body Composition Measures51	
4.5 Physical Activity Measures	
4.6 Dietary Analysis53	
4.7 Associations between BMD and predictor variables54	

Chapter 5: Discussion	59
5.1 Summary of Outcomes	59
5.2 Participant Characteristics	60
5.3 Bone Mineral Measures	60
5.4 Body Composition Measures	62
5.5 Physical Activity Measures	64
5.6 Dietary Measures	67

Chapter 6: Conclusion	72
6.1 Summary 72	
6.2 General Study Limitations	
6.3 Future applications and research73	

eferences	74
ppendices1	10

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Contributions to this study	X
Table 2.1: World Health Organisation definitions of osteoporosis based on T-scores	8
Table 2.2: Key nutrient intake for bone health amongst Pacific Island women in New Zealar	1d 34
Table 2.3: The 10 most popular sport and recreation activities for Pacific Islanders 2013-20.	1435
Table 2.4: International BMI Cut-Off Points	36
Table 2.5: Summary of bone studies involving Pacific Islanders	38
Table 4.1: Summary of study population characteristics	51
Table 4.2: Bone mineral measurements for pre-menopausal Pacific Island women	51
Table 4.3: Comparison between DXA and BodPod for body composition measures	52
Table 4.4: Intake of key nutrients	53
Table 4.5: Correlation of predictor variables with BMD	57
Table 4.6: Hierarchical multiple regression	58
Table 5.1: Percentage of European and Pacific Island Women in different Z-Score categorie.	s61
Table 5.2: Comparison of findings between present study and study by Rush et. al	62
Table 5.3: Comparison of BMI scores between study group and NZ-wide Pacific Island wom	en63
Table 5.4: Changing levels of physical activity with age in Pacific Islanders	67
Table 5.5: Intake of key nutrients	69

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Cortical and trabecular bone	5
Figure 2.2: Healthy versus osteoporotic bone	8
Figure 2.3: Pacific Island geography	32
Figure 4.1: Participant recruitment	50
Figure 4.2: cBPAQ score distribution with normality curve	52
Figure 4.3. Reporting of energy intake calculated using the Goldberg Equation	54
Figure 4.4: Correlations between BMD (g/cm ²) and independent variables	56
Figure 4.5: Vitamin C intake with outlier removed	56
Figure 4.6: Homoscedasticity of BMD distribution variance	58

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Recent Physical Activity Questionnaire (RPAQ)	.110
Appendix B: Bone-Specific Physical Activity Questionnaire (BPAQ)	.115
Appendix C: Current BPAQ (cBPAQ) algorithm	.116
Appendix D: Food Frequency Questionnaire	.117
Appendix E: Standard Operating Procedure for Food Frequency Questionnaire	.138
Appendix F: Energy intake and Goldberg Equation Cut-Offs	.140

List of Abbreviations

25-OH-D	25-hydroxycholecalciferol
AMDR	Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Range
ASMM	Appendicular Skeletal Muscle Mass
BIA	Bioelectrical Impedance Analyser
BLHQ	Bone Loading History Questionnaire
BMAD	Bone Mineral Apparent Density
BMC	Bone Mineral Content
BMD	Bone Mineral Density
BMI	Body Mass Index
BMR	Basal Metabolic Rate
BPAQ	Bone-Specific Physical Activity Questionnaire
cBPAQ	current Bone-Specific Physical Activity Questionnaire
DXA	Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry
EXPLORE	Examining Predictors Linking Obesity Related Elements
FFM	Fat Free Mass
FFQ	Food Frequency Questionnaire
IGF+1	Insulin-like Growth Factor
IL	Interleukin
LMO	Lean Mass Only
LRP	Lipoprotein Receptor Related Protein
МоН	Ministry of Health
MUHEC	Massey University Human Ethics Committee
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
PAL	Physical Activity Level
PBM	Peak Bone Mass
pBPAQ	past Bone-Specific Physical Activity Questionnaire
PTH	Parathyroid Hormone
RANKL	Receptor Activator of Nuclear factor-Kappa B Ligand
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial
RDI	Recommended Daily Intake
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RPAQ	Regular Physical Activity Questionnaire
SD	Standard Deviation
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure
SPARC	Sport and Recreation New Zealand
tBPAQ	total Bone-Specific Physical Activity Questionnaire
UVB	Ultraviolet B
WHO	World Health Organisation

Contribution to Research

	Table 1	1:	Contributions	to	this	stud	v
--	---------	----	---------------	----	------	------	---

Researchers	Contribution to this thesis
Maria Casale	Main researcher, participant recruitment,
	screening, and testing, data analysis,
	statistical analysis, interpretation and
	discussion of results.
Dr Pamela von Hurst	Main academic supervisor, DXA testing, and
	guidance with design of thesis, methods,
	statistical analysis, interpretation of results,
	and revision.
Dr Sarah Shultz	Academic supervisor and assistance with
	interpretation of physical activity measures,
	thesis design, interpretation of results, and
	revision.
Dr Marlena Kruger	Academic supervisor, assistance with design
	of thesis, methods, statistical analysis,
	interpretation of results, revision, and final
	approval.
Dr Rozanne Kruger	Principal Investigator of the Women's
	EXPLORE study, application for ethics,
	development of study design.
Wendy O'Brien and Shakeela Jayasinghe	Co-ordination of and participation in
	recruitment, screening, and testing of
	participants.
PC Tong	Analysis of DXA data and assistance with
	equipment for data collection.
Zara Houston, Richard Swift, Adrianna	Participant screening, testing, and
Hepburn, Jenna Schrijvers, Andrea Fenner,	recruitment.
Sarah Philipsen, Owen Mugridge, Pamela	
von Hurst, Cath Conlon, Kathryn Beck,	
Rozanne Kruger	
Jenna Schrijvers, Zara Houston, Chelsea	Data entry of the FFQs
Symons, Alex Lawn	

Chapter 1

Background of Research

There is little doubt that bone mineral density (BMD) is a cornerstone of healthy aging, and with a low BMD, quality of life is severely affected through loss of mobility and independence, and increased mortality. Peak bone mass (PBM) is reached in the third decade of life, and maintenance of bone density is crucial for avoiding osteoporosis and fragility fractures later in life. Anecdotally it is thought that Pacific Island women mostly have good BMD; however there is relatively scarce research into the factors determining this.

Although genetic factors account for approximately three quarters of the variation in BMD, individuals have the ability to determine their bone health through diet and lifestyle factors.

Physical activity is one lifestyle factor that is crucial for bone development, and reaching optimum PBM in early adulthood. In post-menopausal women with osteoporosis, physical activity reduces the likelihood of falls and subsequent fractures, thus improving quality of life (Caputo and Costa, 2014). Additionally, increasing daily activity can help prevent further decreases in bone mass of older adults (>75yrs) (Muir *et al.*, 2013). In New Zealand, there is mixed evidence for the level of physical activity amongst Pacific Island children, with indications that Pacific Island children are more likely to be active than European children, however there are conflicting reports that Pacific Island children have lower levels of physical activity than other groups (SPARC, 2003, Ministry of Health, 2003). However, it is likely that this is due to Pacific Island children having higher rates of incidental activity – such as walking or biking to school – but lower rates of participation in sport, which was the sole parameter measured when reporting lower physical activity rates.

Diet plays an important role in achieving and maintaining healthy bones. Specific nutrients involved in bone health are calcium, vitamin D, vitamin A, vitamin K, protein, phosphorous, omega-3 fatty acids, with lesser roles for iron, sodium, vitamin C, magnesium, and B vitamins (Anderson *et al.*, 2012). Intakes of these nutrients amongst Pacific Island women in New Zealand falls short of the recommended daily intake (RDI) set by the Ministry of Health for calcium (University of Otago and Ministry of Health, 2011). Data for folate, sodium, and

Vitamin D are not shown as the data was not reliable, and there is no data available for magnesium intake.

Body composition is also a key factor in bone health: it is well known that the greater the load on the body physical activity is, the more effect it has on bone density. As such, the positive association between higher body weight and greater BMD generally seen in Pacific Islanders is likely to be due in part to the greater mechanical force placed on the skeleton. Pacific Island women typically fall into the higher range of the international body mass index (BMI) cut-off points: 13.7% fall within the normal range ($18.5 - 24.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$), 26.5% in the overweight range ($25-30 \text{ kg/m}^2$), and 59.5% in the obese range ($\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$). Much of the contribution to BMI comes from lean muscle mass, and it is well established that Pacific Islanders have greater muscularity than European or Asian Indian groups. Considering that lean mass is a predictor for BMD in pre-menopausal women, it is likely that this is a primary determinant for the bone health of Pacific Island women.

Purpose of the study

The greatest focus on the health of Pacific Island people often tends to be around obesity and lifestyle-related diseases: it may be important to consider the potential cost to bone health when devising interventions around this. By identifying the determinants of bone health, whether it be genetic in terms of bone microstructure and architecture, or related to body composition, could allow for greater refinement of obesity interventions so the risk of any affect on bone health could be minimised. Additionally, identifying BMD determinants in Pacific Island women allows this study to contribute to an area that is currently somewhat lacking in specific research.

Hypothesis

Lean muscle mass is the primary determinant of bone mineral density in pre-menopausal Pacific Island women.

Aim

To explore the associations between nutrients, physical activity, body composition, and regional fat with bone quality in New Zealand-based Pacific Island women.

Objectives

- 1. To analyse total body BMD of participants.
- 2. To analyse body composition of participants.
- 3. To analyse physical activity of participants.
- 4. To analyse key bone-specific nutrient intake of participants.
- 5. To investigate the relationships between these factors and bone density.

Research Structure

This thesis has been set out in six chapters. The first chapter introduces the topic of BMD, and in particular with relation to Pacific Island women. The second chapter is the literature review, and looks at structure and function of bone, factors that affect BMD, and those factors in relation to Pacific Island women. Chapter three details the methods of the study, with an overview of the wider EXPLORE study methods, then specific detail on the methods required for the present study. The fourth chapter contains the results. Chapter five consists of the discussion of the study findings, and incorporates limitations within each section. Chapter six concludes the thesis with a brief summary, and recommendations for applicability and future research.

Chapter 2

Review of the Literature

Bone is a well-researched topic, and there is a wealth of knowledge around bone growth, development, maintenance, structure and function. However, there are areas of contention as well, with conflicting and controversial issues, such as the role of calcium supplementation, and protein intake.

2.1 Bone Structure and Function

Bones serve multiple important functions in the body: they are a support framework, they protect vital organs, they act as levers to help move the body, they are a repository for minerals, they house blood cell formation, and they produce the hormone osteocalcin which helps regulate bone formation (Marieb and Hoehn, 2013). To achieve its function, bone must be strong, flexible, and light in weight. These properties are due to the structural and material composition of bone.

Structural properties

The outer shell of bone is the smooth, compact, cortical layer, and coats every bone in the body, protecting the inner trabecular bone and resisting mechanical stress and pressure. Despite its solid appearance, cortical bone is made up of a labyrinth of tiny cylinders called osteons, the hollow centre of which (the central canal) houses nerves and blood vessels. They act as miniature weight-bearing shafts, and they owe this ability to the layout of the collagen fibres. Each osteon is made up of three progressively smaller tubes that sit inside each other. Each of these tubes is called a lamellar, and each particular lamellar has collagen fibres running in one direction. However, the collagen fibres of the three lamella run in alternating directions to each other, thus each lamella helps the adjacent one resist twisting: it is this that gives bone the ability to resist torsion stress (Marieb and Hoehn, 2013). Cortical bone is the predominant type of bone in the body, making up ~85% of the skeleton. In addition to the osteons, there are perforating canals (Volkmann's canals), which run parallel from the axis of the bone and feed the blood and nerve supply to where the spongy bone sits in the medullary cavity (Seeman and Delmas, 2006). These are not surrounded by lamellae as the osteons are. There

are small holes called lacunae at the junctions of the lamellae that surround osteons, and these are filled with osteocytes. The lacunae are connected to both each other and the central canal by canaliculi, which are tiny strands of canals. Surrounding the osteons are incomplete lamellae which are either remains of osteons that have been broken down during the bone remodelling process, or are filling gaps between osteons that are forming (Floyd, 2015). Adjacent to these, located on the outer layer, is circumferential lamellae, which are spread around the circumference of the diaphysis, and provide resistance to twisting stress on the long bones (Fyhrie and Christiansen, 2015). In the centre of the cortical layer of bone is the trabecular bone: a soft, spongy bone. Unlike the cortical bone, the layout of the bone appears like an intricate matrix of bone strands - however, the trabecular bone is carefully deposited: in fact, the mechanical stressed placed on bone as they develop determines how the trabeculae are laid out (Seeman and Delmas, 2006). This design helps the bone further resist stress.



Figure 2.1: *Cortical and trabecular bone* Weiner, S., & Wagner, H. D. (1998). The material bone: structure-mechanical function relations. *Annual Review of Materials Science, 28*(1), 271-298.

Material properties

Bone primarily consists of calcium carbonate and calcium phosphate (~60-70%), water (~25-30%), and collagen (Floyd, 2015). The collagen is primarily type I, which covalently cross-links to form a matrix, which is strengthened with hydroxyapatite that interlock with the matrix (Fyhrie and Christiansen, 2015, Seeman and Delmas, 2006). Hydroxyapatite is made up of calcium and phosphate: bone also contains small amounts of magnesium, sodium and bicarbonate (Marieb and Hoehn, 2013). The more mineralised a bone is, the stronger it is and thus better able it is to withstand mechanical stressors: however, this is not a case of "more is better": bone that is 100% mineralised is fragile, and is not able to absorb impact by bending a little. Rather, its ability to withstand pressure will decline, and it will be more likely to fracture under pressure (Seeman and Delmas, 2006, Fyhrie and Christiansen, 2015). This effect occurs at a bone mineral content (BMC) of greater than 65% (Currey, 1969). If bone is undermineralised, when remodelling increases after menopause, the older bone that may be well mineralised will be replaced with newer bone that is sparsely mineralised - this will cause the bone to become too flexible, and therefore more likely to fracture due to excessive bending with mechanical loading (Fyhrie and Christiansen, 2015, Seeman and Delmas, 2006).

Bone needs to be rebuilt due to either mechanical stresses endured by the bone from everyday activities, or because of bone breakdown in response to hormonal changes in response to increases or decreases of serum calcium. Osteoblasts, osteoclasts, and osteocytes are the three main types of cells that are involved in bone re-modelling, each with a different role, but all working in concert to maintain bone homeostasis (Huiskes *et al.*, 2000).

The function of osteoblasts is to build new bone matrix by producing collagen, into which bone salts can be deposited. As osteoblasts progress along the bone, they deposit densely cross-linked strands of type I collagen parallel then at right angles to the long axis of the bone, providing flexible strength (Reddi *et al.*, 1977). They then trap themselves in the very matrix they are secreting, and become osteocytes, resulting in stronger thicker bone (Franz-Odendaal *et al.*, 2006).

Osteocytes not only differentiate from osteoblasts, but also directly from osteoprogenitors. They reside in the lacunae and canaliculi, which they connect through to one another via elongated cytoplasmic extensions (Franz-Odendaal *et al.*, 2006). Osteocytes do not undergo mitosis, and have an average half-life of approximately 25 years. They respond strongly to mechanical loading (Burger and Klein-Nulend, 1999, Lanyon, 1996, Mullender and Huiskes, 1995, Noble *et al.*, 1997, Skerry *et al.*, 1989), which generates a complex cascade of signals that travel through the canaliculi and act upon osteoblasts which in turn lay down new bone (Burger and Klein-Nulend, 1999).

Osteoclasts on the other hand have the opposite effect on bone: they are multinucleated cells that break bone matrix down in response to various stimuli. Activated by cytokines produced

by the osteoblasts (Chambers and Fuller, 1985), potentially as a result of micro-fractures or mechanical disuse (Burger and Klein-Nulend, 1999, Noble *et al.*, 1997), osteoclasts secrete a lysosomal enzyme and collagenase which allows the disassembly and digestion of the bone, and releases calcium into the blood. This occurs by the osteoclast forming a tight seal around the area of the bone where resorption is to take place. Once the seal is formed, the portion of the osteoclast that is next to the bone changes to the distinctive ruffled shape, which allows increased secretory activity and the transcytosis of calcium and broken-down collagen into the extracellular matrix (Marieb and Hoehn, 2013).

2.2 Osteoporosis

Pathogenesis

The literal translation of osteoporosis is "porous bone", where the bone becomes brittle, weak, and is subsequently prone to fractures (figure 2.2). The development of osteoporosis is silent: the first symptom is typically a fracture, at which point osteoporosis is advanced, and more difficult to treat.

Osteoporosis results from abnormalities in the composition and structure of the bone. Additionally, as people grow older, less bone is laid down than is resorbed, which can be due to declining oestrogen that comes with menopause, calcium deficiency or malabsorption, or secondary hyperparathyroidism (Eriksen and Langdahl, 1997).

Bones reach their peak mass in the third decade (Mahan *et al.*, 2012). The quality of an individual's PBM is dictated by many factors, with the predominant factor being genetics. Modifiable factors that play a major role are dietary (calcium & vitamin D), and lifestyle (physical activity, smoking, caffeine, and alcohol consumption). As such, the development of healthy bones earlier in life reduces the likelihood of developing osteoporosis later in life (Eriksen and Langdahl, 1997).



The bone on the left shows normal healthy bone, while the bone on the right shows the fragile porous bone that is characteristic of osteoporosis.

Figure 2.2: Healthy versus osteoporotic bone U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2015). Menopause: Time for a Change. Retrieved 4/6/2015 2015 from https://www.nia.nih.gov/health/publication/menopause-time-change/postmenopausal-health-concerns

Definitions

Low bone density and osteoporosis are diagnosed by comparing a person's BMD to the established norm for a population, which produces a T-Score. (NIH Osteoporosis and Related Bone Diseases National Resource Centre, 2012). Osteoporosis is diagnosed when an individual's BMD T-Score is 2.5 standard deviations (SD) or more below the young adult mean BMD (table 1).

Level	Definition
Normal	Bone density is within 1 SD (+/-) of the young adult mean
Low bone mass	Bone density is between 1 and 2.5 SD below the young adult mean
Osteoporosis	Bone density is 2.5 SD or more below the young adult mean
Severe (established)	Bone density is more than 2.5 SD below the young adult mean, and there
osteoporosis	have been one or more osteoporotic fractures

Table 2.1: World Health Organisation definitions of osteoporosis based on T-scores

World Health Organisation. (2004). WHO Scientific Group on the Assessment of Osteoporosis at Primary Health Care Level. Geneva, Switzerland. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/chp/topics/Osteoporosis.pdf

There is potential for Z scores to help diagnose secondary causes of osteoporosis: if a Z-score is -2 or lower, something other than aging may be causing bone loss (Leib, 2004). Premenopausal women with a low BMD as determined by a Z-score of less than -2 would benefit from further medical evaluation to assess for secondary causes of osteoporosis.

Osteoporosis in pre-menopausal women is either idiopathic or secondary. One clinic reported 56% of patients with idiopathic variety, and 44% with secondary (Peris *et al.*, 2002). Patients with the idiopathic variety tended to have a lower BMI and higher femoral neck Z-Scores than those with secondary, as well as a family history of hypercalciuria and osteoporosis (Peris *et al.*, 2002). Micro-architectural defects of the bone is commonly seen in idiopathic osteoporosis, and such defects are similar to those seen in fractures, however it is not possible to predict future fracture risk due to a lack of longitudinal data (Cohen and Shane, 2013).

Osteoporosis from secondary causes can be diagnosed in pre-menopausal women using clinical diagnosis in conjunction with consideration of bone density measures: osteoporosis in pre-menopausal women who have a Z-score of -1 is likely due to secondary causes (Swaminathan *et al.*, 2009). Secondary causes of low bone mass may include excess glucocorticoids, early-onset menopause, anorexia nervosa, or pre-menopausal oestrogen deficiency (Peris *et al.*, 2002, Lewiecki, 2005). Women who are being treated with chemotherapy or endocrine therapy for breast cancer are subject to rapid bone loss (Hadji *et al.*, 2014). Gut conditions that affect nutrient absorption, such as Coeliac's disease, Crohn's disease, inflammatory bowel syndrome, or any other malabsoprtive disorders that prevent absorption and utilisation of key nutrients such as calcium, vitamin D, vitamin C, and protein may also increase the risk for osteoporosis, particularly in the case of juvenile onset during critical bone growth periods (Mauro and Armstrong, 2007, Katz and Weinerman, 2010, Bernstein *et al.*, 2003, Bertoldi Franco, 2014).

<u>Measurements</u>

BMD can be calculated by analysing either total body bone density, or specific sites of interest. The most common fragility fractures occur at the hip, spine, and wrist, with hip and spine fractures being the most devastating in terms of decreased mobility and independence, and increased mortality rates. As bone scans are typically conducted with the goal of helping diagnose possible osteoporosis or osteoporosis risk, regional scans of these areas of interest are most commonly carried out. The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey

(NHANES) however changed to using total body bone density measurements in 1999 (Melton *et al.*, 2005). At this time, evidence for accuracy of total body scans to identify bone density at key sites of interest (spine and hip) was scarce, but consistently favourable (Franck and Munz, 2000, Hammami *et al.*, 2001, Hangartner *et al.*, 2000, Lu *et al.*, 1994, Nysom *et al.*, 1998). The rationale for the change was to obtain more complete data on body composition as well as bone density the NHANES. Since then, total body bone density has been shown to have strong correlations with dedicated site-specific scans of the hip, spine, and distal forearm, but with slightly different predictions of osteoporosis and fracture risk (Melton *et al.*, 2005).

Epidemiology

Approximately 50% of women will sustain an osteoporotic fracture, with the most common of these being hip, spine, or forearm fractures (Kanis *et al.*, 2001). Of these, hip fractures are the most devastating: they often require surgery, resulting in a substantial loss of mobility (Taylor *et al.*, 2004, Pasco *et al.*, 2005), and thus independence and quality of life. This is magnified by increased mortality, with 25% of people suffering an osteoporotic hip fracture dying within 12 months of sustaining the injury (Kanis *et al.*, 2003). Approximately 90% of hip fractures in both men and women occur as a result of a fall from standing height or less (Youm *et al.*, 1999). The pathophysiology of such falls can be attributed to several modifiable and non-modifiable factors, including the biomechanics of the fall: i.e., which part of the individual receives the greatest impact from the fall (Cummings and Melton, 2002).

People with vertebral fractures can experience loss of height, deformity (Dowager's Hump), and acute back pain, which again has a significant impact on mobility and independence (Ettinger *et al.*, 1992). Additionally, there is an increased risk of peripheral fractures subsequent to a vertebral fracture (Silverman, 1992), which further reduces quality of life. Vertebral fractures are less well quantified due to their low rate of diagnosis, however approximately a quarter are caused by a fall (Cooper *et al.*, 1992), while most result from load bearing during usual everyday activities (Myers and Wilson, 1997). Other risk factors identified were age, fracture history, physical activity, and osteoporosis history (Janott *et al.*, 1996).

2.3 Factors That Affect Bone Health

No one factor is solely responsible for the attainment and maintenance of good bone health: rather, it is a combination of many lifestyle and genetic influences, which weave together to create a tapestry that can be examined to assess likelihood of good bone health.

Dietary factors

Diet is a major modifiable factor in bone health, with many different nutrients playing a role in BMD, including protein, minerals, fat-soluble and water-soluble vitamins. Attainment of PBM is compromised in malnutrition and anorexia nervosa, with bone depending on dietary intake for its building blocks (Heaney, 2000, Rizzoli, 2014). The primary materials required for the synthesis of extracellular bone are calcium, phosphorous, and protein, with bone consisting of approximately 50% calcium phosphate, and 50% protein (Heaney, 2000).

Calcium

Calcium is an important micronutrient found in high quantities in dairy products, fish with soft bones such as sardines and mackerel, fortified non-dairy foods such as soy, nut, and rice milks, fortified cereals, and some nuts, and in lesser amounts in leafy green vegetables. Calcium is needed for several critical metabolic roles (Mahan *et al.*, 2012):

- Influence of transport functions in cell membranes
- Conduction of ions across cellular organelle membranes
- Neurotransmitter release across synaptic junctions
- Hormone function
- Activation and release of intra- and extra-cellular enzymes
- Nerve impulse transmission
- Regulation of cardiac muscle contractions
- Skeletal muscle tone and contraction
- Smooth muscle contractility
- Blood clot formation
- Enzyme co-factor

Calcium balance is therefore critical to life, and the body maintains calcium homeostasis within a narrow range of 2.2 to 2.7 mmol/L (Goldstein, 1990). Levels of calcium become low when daily losses such as in sweat, shedding of skin, hair, nails, urine, and digestive secretions (Heaney, 2000) are not replaced through dietary sources. The skeleton acts as a reservoir, containing approximately 99% of the body's calcium, and by providing calcium to the body through osteoclastic action when serum levels become low (Marieb and Hoehn, 2013). The skeleton is not merely a store for calcium however: it is also important for building and maintaining bones and teeth – in fact, the need of the skeleton for calcium is significant compared with the small amount needed for these critical metabolic functions listed above (Mahan *et al.*, 2012).

It is well known that calcium is a key nutrient for good bone health : in a meta-analysis of 139 papers investigating the relationship between calcium and bone health, 52 of which were randomised controlled trials (RCTs), all but two of the RCTs showed that high intakes of calcium were positively associated with improved bone balance, higher attainment of bone mass during growth, reduced bone loss in the elderly, and lower fracture risk (Heaney, 2000). Of 86 observational studies, 64 reported a significant positive association between calcium intake and bone health (Heaney, 2000). Just two found a negative effect, one of which was explained by confounding factors not controlled for, and 19 observational studies found no effect (Heaney, 2000). A possible reason for the larger proportion of observational studies finding no effect of calcium is the difficulty of accurately quantifying calcium intake (Heaney, 1997). Overall, these findings emphasise the clear role of calcium in building and maintaining a healthy skeleton.

Calcium is primarily obtained through dietary intake of dairy products, except for those who have an allergy, intolerance, or aversion to dairy; as such the effects of calcium supplementation have been well researched. There is a clear role for calcium supplementation in the increase of bone mass: 17 RCTs showed calcium supplements significantly reduced fracture risk in post-menopausal women by 12%, with a further 23 RCTs showing a significant reduction in the rate of bone loss at the femoral hip and lumbar spine (Tang et al., 2007). This is supported by another meta-analysis showing a small, non-significant effect of calcium supplementation on the BMD of post-menopausal women, and a trend towards a lowered risk of vertebral fractures (Shea et al., 2002). However, another meta-analysis showed that calcium supplements had a negative effect on hip fracture risk (Bischoff-Ferrari et al., 2007). This meta-analysis looked at 8 prospective cohort studies, and five RCTs that did not include consideration of Vitamin D status or supplementation. Because calcium absorption is dependent on Vitamin D, studies that do not consider Vitamin D may not reach accurate conclusions. It is also possible that people who already had adequate dietary calcium intake were being supplemented: this has not been defined, and it is unlikely that supplementation would improve bone health unless serum calcium concentrations in participants were low. In terms of children, a meta-analysis of 19 RCTs investigating calcium intake in children found only a small effect in the upper limb (Winzenberg et al., 2006), which is unlikely to significantly

reduce fracture risk over a lifetime. Although overall calcium supplementation is shown to have a positive effect, it is important to consider the association found between supplementation and increased risk of myocardial infarction in people with coronary heart disease (Bolland *et al.*, 2008).

The RDI for calcium is 1300mg per day for adolescent girls, 1000mg per day for women aged 19-50, and 1300mg per day for women aged >51 (National Health and Medical Research Council, 2006). Calcium requirements are high for adolescent girls due to a greatly increased accrual of bone between the ages of 12 to 18 years, while an increase in women aged over 50 due to a decrease in intestinal absorption of calcium (Heaney and Recker, 1986, Heaney *et al.*, 1989, Morris *et al.*, 1991), and increased urinary calcium losses after menopause (Nordin *et al.*, 1999). In New Zealand, the median daily intake of calcium amongst women aged 15-71+ was 745mg, well short of the RDIs for all age groups.

Vitamin D

Vitamin D is a fat-soluble vitamin that is essential for good bone health. It is a hormonal complex that plays a key role in bone via calcium homeostasis, and stimulation of bone matrix growth and maturation (Lanham-New, 2008).

Vitamin D must undergo conversion into its biologically active form. It does this through a series of steps, starting from the skin, and involves the liver and kidneys. After the skin absorbs UVB rays, pro-vitamin D3 is converted to pre-vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol), which is taken into the liver. Here, it is hydroxylated by hepatic 25-hydroxylase, which converts it into 25-hydroxycholecalciferol (25-OH-D). This is transported to the kidneys, where it is hydroxylated again by renal 1 α -hydroxylase, transforming it into 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (calcitriol), which is the active metabolite form. This binds to the vitamin D binding protein and is transported through the blood and stored in the fat deposits of various tissues and organs, and is released when needed (Holick, 2003).

Vitamin D acts upon the upper small intestine by increasing the efficiency of calcium absorption (Marieb and Hoehn, 2013). Indeed, calcium absorption is considered to be impaired when there is insufficient vitamin D present, with the rate of intestinal calcium absorption optimised at a 25-OH-D level of 86 nmol/L, a level notably higher than the minimum 25-OH-D

level of 50 nmol/L (Heaney *et al.*, 2003). This has interesting implications for the currently accepted reference range for vitamin D.

Vitamin D also works directly on osteoblasts to stimulate new bone growth and suppress bone degradation through the activation of key bone matrix proteins and other local factors (Marieb and Hoehn, 2013), as well as enhancing the activity of osteoclasts, and potentially playing a role in the differentiation of osteocyte pre-cursors (Underwood and DeLuca, 1984).

There is little doubt that vitamin D is one of the more important nutrients for bone health: several meta-analyses show that Vitamin D supplementation significantly reduces the incidence of fractures at the lumbar spine, and a trend has been shown for reduced fractures elsewhere in the body (Papadimitropoulos *et al.*, 2002, Bergman *et al.*, 2010, Richy *et al.*, 2005), affirming the critical role of vitamin D in good bone health. It is probable that a deficiency of vitamin D increases risk for fractures and osteoporosis in later life.

The primary source is sunlight skin exposure, and diet is a minor secondary source (Chen *et al.*, 2007). Precursors of vitamin D (pre-vitamin D3) are synthesised in the skin in response to exposure to ultraviolet B (UVB) rays, which varies in response to several factors:

- Skin tone: melanin is the pigment in skin that is responsible for skin colour the more melanin a person has, the darker their skin. Melanin acts as a natural sunscreen by absorbing broadband UV rays, which affects the skin's ability to produce pre-vitamin D3 (Holick *et al.*, 1981). The darker a person's skin tone is, the more UVB exposure they require to synthesise the same amount of vitamin D as a lighter skinned person (Chen *et al.*, 2007).
- 2. Latitude, season, time of day: in winter, although the sun is closest to the earth, the angle at which the sun's rays hit the earth is more slanting. This slanting angle results in the rays passing through the ozone layer for a longer distance, resulting in more UVB rays being absorbed by the ozone layer. Furthermore, the more slanted the sun's rays are, the fewer photons per area unit reach the earth (Holick, 2004). Other factors that affect how slanted the angles of the sun's rays are time of day, and latitude (Holick, 2003, Webb *et al.*, 1988). Latitudes above 37° have as much as 80-100% fewer photons reaching the earth from November to February, resulting in

little to no vitamin D synthesis during these months, with increasing amounts of vitamin D synthesised in the skin closer to the equator (Chen *et al.*, 2007). Time of day also affects the slant of the sun's rays, with the rays being at a much more oblique angle in the early morning and late afternoon (Holick, 2004).

- 3. Length of sun exposure: Typically 5-15 minutes of skin exposure to sunlight between 10am and 3pm in summer, autumn and spring is sufficient for individuals with type II or III skin. The time for darker skin tones will be longer due to increased melanin pigment.
- 4. Cloud cover and air pollution: when fossil fuels, wood and other materials are burnt, small particles in the air scatters and absorbs UVB rays (Kimlin, 2008). In some areas, such as over Canterbury in New Zealand, there are holes in the ozone layer. As the ozone layer absorbs UVB rays, this could lead to increased exposure and thus increased production of previtamin-D3 (Kimlin, 2008).
- 5. Sunscreen and clothing: Sunscreen reduces the amount of pre-vitamin D3 produced in the skin by over 95% (Holick, 2003, Holick, 2004, Matsuoka *et al.*, 1988), while clothing styles that cover much of the skin, such as traditional Middle Eastern, blocks the sun's rays and prevents previtamin-D3 production.
- 6. Age: there is reduced ability of the skin to synthesise pre-vitamin D3 in response to sun exposure as age increases, due to a decline in the amount of 7-dehydrocholesterol present in the epidermis. As a result, a person who is 70 years of age, and who receives the same sunlight exposure as a 20 year old, will only make approximately 25% of that of the 20 year old (Holick, 2004, Mazahery and von Hurst, 2015).

In addition to sun exposure, dietary intake can have a small impact on vitamin D status; however there are few foods that are good sources of vitamin D. Foods rich in vitamin D include egg yolk, oily fish such as salmon, tuna, and mackerel, with lesser amounts found in dairy sources such as milk and cheese (Chen *et al.*, 2007, Holick, 2003).

In New Zealand, 68.1% of adults have good levels of vitamin D (≥50 nmol/L), with 27.1% below the recommended level of 50 nmol/L, and 4.9% are deficient (<25nmol/L), with levels being similar across all age groups, and between men and women (Ministry of Health, 2012b). Vitamin D status is affected by body size, with people who are overweight or obese being at risk of having lower serum 25-OH-D levels (Institute of Medicine, 2011). In New Zealand, obese individuals have a significantly lower annual mean level of Vitamin D than those of a normal weight (Ministry of Health, 2012b).

Protein

While there is little doubt that protein has an important role in the health of the skeleton, the optimal balance of protein in order to have maximum positive effects on bone with no detrimental effects has been much debated (Ginty, 2003, Rizzoli and Bonjour, 2004, Roughead, 2003, Joint WHO/FAO/UNU Expert Consultation, 2007). This has been complicated by the potential differing effects of vegetable and animal proteins, but what has become clear is that protein in isolation is not solely responsible for bone health.

There are several mechanisms by which protein influences bone. Protein is needed for the maintenance of the bone structure (Darling *et al.*, 2009), and creates an anabolic drive which stimulates insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) (Millward and Rivers, 1989). IGF-1 helps increase osteoblast activity and thus increase bone mass: it is also possible that IGF-1 helps with the mineralisation of bone (Rizzoli *et al.*, 2007). IGF-1's specific activities that contribute to bone health are to increase renal resorption of phosphate and calcitriol synthesis, and to indirectly control both intestinal calcium absorption and phosphate and calcium concentrations in the extracellular fluid (Caverzasio *et al.*, 1990).

A high protein intake is associated with an increased acid load as a result of sulphur-containing amino acid oxidation (Remer and Manz, 1995). Lower pH values can impact the ratio of osteoblastic to osteoclastic activity, and give an increase in urinary calcium excretion (Arnett and Dempster, 1986, Lemann *et al.*, 1967). This happens because the kidneys work to neutralise the acid load to restore pH homeostasis - however, kidney function declines with advancing age, and may not be able to neutralise the acid as efficiently, resulting in a need for buffering in the bone which may result in increased bone turnover (Kerstetter, 2009).

The above findings raise the question "is this endogenous acid production from a high protein diet of sufficient magnitude to affect bone?" (Kerstetter, 2009). The body has three major chemical buffering systems that maintain homeostasis (bicarbonate, phosphate, and protein buffer systems), and two physiological buffering systems (lungs and kidneys) (Marieb and Hoehn, 2013). The lungs and kidneys are the most powerful buffering systems, with the lungs removing CO₂ from the body and restoring O₂, and the kidneys which eliminate all other types of acid, and keep blood pH stable by regulating alkaline substances and restoring chemical buffers as they are depleted. The kidneys are extremely efficient at maintaining pH within a narrow range of 7.35-7.45, as evidenced by increased urinary acid excretion over a 24 hour period in response to ingesting more dietary protein (Kerstetter et al., 2006). Post-prandial pH would need to be <7.2 for stimulation of osteoclastic action, which is not probable (Bonjour, 2005). The increased urinary calcium output that is observed with increased protein intake was originally thought to be due to increased bone turnover (Heaney and Recker, 1982, Kerstetter and Allen, 1990) is in fact likely due to the increased intestinal absorption of calcium that occurs with higher protein intakes: the amino acids arginine and lysine have a strong effect on absorption (Wasserman et al., 1956). Furthermore, an intake of protein of 0.7 g/kg of body weight vs 2.1g/kg of body weight results in reduced intestinal absorption of calcium along with a rise in serum PTH (Kerstetter et al., 1997, Kerstetter et al., 1998).

Higher intakes of dietary protein is clearly linked with better bone health, however whether this translates to a lower long-term fracture risk is yet to be elucidated (Darling *et al.*, 2009, Genaro *et al.*, 2015, Sahni *et al.*, 2014, Zhu and Prince, 2015). What has been established is that higher dietary protein loads are not associated with an increased risk of fracture or decreased bone health (Beasley *et al.*, 2010, Hu *et al.*, 2014, Jia *et al.*, 2015, Kerstetter *et al.*, 2015).

The acceptable macronutrient distribution range (AMDR) for protein intake is 15-25% of an individual's total energy intake (National Health and Medical Research Council, 2006). The average protein intake of New Zealand adult females aged 15 years and over is 16.5%, which is adequate but at the lower end of the scale (University of Otago and Ministry of Health, 2011). Bread products are the most common dietary source of protein (11%), followed by milk and poultry (9% each), and beef and veal (8%) (University of Otago and Ministry of Health, 2011).

Vitamin C

Vitamin C is a potent antioxidant which is typically found in abundance in vegetables and citrus fruit. There is a well-established role for vitamin C in bone health: it is crucial for the development, function, and maintenance of healthy bone. Specifically, it modulates the production of collagen, a key component of bone matrix, and is involved with bone-related gene transcription. In addition, oxidative stress contributes to bone loss, with poor vitamin C intake positively associated with osteoporosis risk (Bai *et al.*, 2005, Ha *et al.*, 2004, Koh *et al.*, 2006, Lee *et al.*, 2005, Wittrant *et al.*, 2008, Garrett *et al.*, 1990).

There is a direct relationship between vitamin C and collagen formation. Vitamin C is a cofactor for prolyl and lysyl hydroxylases (Silverman, 1992, Bernstein *et al.*, 2003, Ettinger *et al.*, 1992, Bertoldi Franco, 2014), which is needed for the maturation, cross-linking, and maintenance of collagen. This role is demonstrated with *in vitro* experiments, in which collagen fibroblasts were grown in culture. When pure vitamin C was infused into the culture, production of the collagen fibres increased significantly. Furthermore, when vitamin C is added to osteoblast-like cells in culture, firstly deposition of collagen for the extracellular matrix is instigated (Heaney *et al.*, 2003, Silverman, 1992), then secondly, initiation of genes specifically associated with the osteoblast phenotype occurs (Heaney *et al.*, 2003, Underwood and DeLuca, 1984, McCarty, 2008, Lanham-New, 2008). Reinforcing this is the appearance of impaired collagen synthesis in animal cells that are deficient in vitamin C (Heaton, 1969, Tucker, 2009).

There has been some suggestion that vitamin C may also play a role in the mineralisation of bone (Felson *et al.*, 1993). It is likely that vitamin C has an indirect role in bone mineralisation: as osteoid trabeculae are in the process of being formed, there are already some deposits of bone salts (Morton *et al.*, 2001, Hall and Greendale, 1998), which suggests that matrix production, and mineralisation of that matrix, occur simultaneously. This suggestion is reinforced by the reduced mineralisation in the bones of animals that are fed a vitamin C-deficient diet as compared to those with vitamin C-replete diets (Floyd, 2015). The reduced calcification of deficient animals is likely due to a reduced amount of matrix available to be mineralised, and also would explain the reduced ability of individuals affected by scurvy to mineralise their bones.

Vitamin C not only regulates osteoblasts, but also osteoclast activity by both stimulating and inhibiting osteoclast action. Differentiation of osteoclast precursors by receptor activator of

nuclear factor-Kappa B ligand (RANKL) is inhibited by vitamin C, and the formation of bone resorption troughs *in vitro* is also depressed (Tucker *et al.*, 1995). Further to this, cell death of late-stage osteoclasts is brought on by the addition of vitamin C (Kalantar-Zadeh *et al.*, 2010). On the other hand, the addition of vitamin C to osteoclast precursors grown in culture significantly increased the occurrence and number of osteoclast precursors, particularly when added in the first four days of the growth stage (Rude *et al.*, 2009). Consistent with these findings, treatment of primary mouse bone marrow cultures with vitamin C resulted in a significant increase in the number, size, and nucleation of osteoclasts (Kalantar-Zadeh *et al.*, 2010). This seemingly conflicting role for vitamin C could perhaps be explained by the basic role it plays in the differentiation of mesenchymal cells, which in turn support osteoclast differentiation.

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) increase with age, placing the body under greater oxidative stress. ROS have a profound influence on the synthesis and survival of osteoblasts, osteoclasts, and osteocytes (Manolagas, 2010). Specifically, ROS products, especially the superoxide anion, activate osteoclast activity directly by replicating RANK signalling thereby stimulating differentiation of osteoclasts, or indirectly by initiating the coupling of osteoblasts and osteoclasts giving rise to osteoclast differentiation via RANKL expression, thus increasing bone turnover (Garrett *et al.*, 1990, Kim *et al.*, 2015, Manolagas, 2010, Wauquier *et al.*, 2009).

Markers of antioxidant defences in women with osteoporosis are notably low, and together with the above findings this suggests a pivotal role for vitamin C in the treatment and prevention of osteoporosis (Maggio *et al.*, 2003). Administration of vitamin C significantly attenuated bone loss and ROS activity, improved bone fragility, and increased osteoblast survival in vivo (Morikawa *et al.*, 2013, Nojiri *et al.*, 2011, Sanbe *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, BMD in humans increases in response to vitamin C intake at clinically relevant sites (Chuin *et al.*, 2009, Maggio *et al.*, 2003, Sugiura *et al.*, 2011). In terms of doses, one case-controlled pilot study gave their control group 1000mg daily doses of vitamin C along with 600mg of vitamin E (Chuin *et al.*, 2009), which is significantly higher than the RDI set by the Ministry of Health of 45mg per day (National Health and Medical Research Council, 2006), and found positive effects of treatment on bone health. In addition to this, there are epidemiological studies that show a consistent relationship between vitamin C deficiency, and osteoporosis and fracture risk.

Vitamin C also has a direct role in the regulation of gene transcription in bone – specifically, the genes involved in osteoblast maturation and function (Katz and Weinerman, 2010).

In New Zealand, women aged 15 years and over have an average vitamin C intake of 106mg per day, well above the RDI set by the Ministry of Health (University of Otago and Ministry of Health, 2011). The most common source of vitamin C in the New Zealand diet is vegetables (28%), followed by fruit (22%), non-alcoholic beverages (15%), and potatoes, kumara, and taro (13%).

Vitamin K

There are two types of vitamin K: vitamin K1 (phylloquinone), and vitamin K2. Dietary vitamin K1 primarily comes from green leafy vegetables and some vegetable oils, while dietary vitamin K2 is predominantly found in soy (Mahan *et al.*, 2012).

Vitamin K functions in bone as a co-factor for several proteins, via the post-translational carboxylation of a number of proteins found in bone, including osteocalcin (Binkley and Suttie, 1995, Vermeer *et al.*, 1995, Weber, 1997). Other proteins dependent on Vitamin K are growth-arrest specific gene 6, transforming growth factor B-induced protein igh3, periostin, GLA-rich protein, and osteocalcin (Loeser *et al.*, 1997, Ohno *et al.*, 2005, Viegas *et al.*, 2009, Fortunati *et al.*, 2010), suggesting multiple roles for Vitamin K in bone health. Serum concentrations of under-carboxylated osteocalcin can be measured, along with serum vitamin K, and low levels of these are linked to lower measures of bone density and increased risk of fracture (Szulc *et al.*, 1993, Szulc *et al.*, 1994, Jie *et al.*, 1996, Kohlmeier *et al.*, 1997, Vergnaud *et al.*, 1997).

Another way in which vitamin K affects bone metabolism is through its influence on urinary calcium excretion: individuals on long-term anti-coagulant medication had a significant increase in urinary calcium loss, while increased intake of vitamin K reduced urinary calcium losses (Jie *et al.*, 1993). It is not currently clear as to what extent such losses may affect bone density however. Vitamin K also has a role in the inhibition of bone resorbing mediators prostaglandin E2 (Koshihara *et al.*, 1993) and interleukin 6 (Reddi *et al.*, 1995).

While these factors alone may not have a significant effect on bone, taken together it presents an active role for vitamin K in maintaining good bone health (Kanai *et al.*, 1997), and reduction of fractures (Hart *et al.*, 1985, Hodges *et al.*, 1993). Furthermore, vitamin K supplementation is positively associated with improved bone density (Akjba *et al.*, 1991).

Phosphate

Phosphate salts are required for the mineralisation of bone, and are needed in a ratio of approximately 1:1 with calcium for this to occur. Serum phosphate levels are carefully controlled by PTH, vitamin D, and fibroblast growth factor 23: if the ratio of phosphate to calcium increases, the concentration of calcium in the blood becomes diluted, which in turn stimulates PTH and thus osteoclast activity (Mahan *et al.*, 2012). It is likely that if this altered ratio becomes habitual, bone loss and increased risk of low bone mass may follow.

Phosphorous is in almost all foods, but particularly so in processed foods (Kalantar-Zadeh *et al.*, 2010). A particularly common source of dietary phosphorous is in soft drinks. On a background of adequate calcium intake, occasional soft drink consumption will not be likely to cause a problem – however, when milk is substituted for soft drinks, the phosphate to calcium ratio could become unbalanced, which would compound the primary effect of lower calcium intake from the replacement of milk.

Magnesium

Approximately half of the magnesium in the body is located in the bone, as part of the surface of the hydroxyapatite deposits (Heaton, 1969). It has many roles in the body, both bonespecific and non-bone specific. The bone-specific roles for magnesium are calcium metabolism through the transport of calcium, as the aforementioned hydroxyapatite constituent.

Magnesium deficiency is associated with osteoporosis (Mutlu *et al.*, 2007); however it is possible that a diet deficient in magnesium is also deficient in other key nutrients needed for good bone health (Mahan *et al.*, 2012). In rats, magnesium depletion from inadequate dietary intake leads to loss of bone mass through increased bone resorption and decreased bone growth: this is contributed to by changes in PTH and vitamin D, as well as increasing RANKL and decreasing osteoprotegerin (Rude *et al.*, 2009).

Supplementation with magnesium in post-menopausal women with osteoporosis increases bone density (Stendig-Lindberg *et al.*, 1993), and there is a positive relationship between BMD and magnesium status (Tucker, 2009, Tucker *et al.*, 1995).

The RDI for magnesium set by the MoH for women is 310 mg/day for 19-30 years, and 320 mg/day for 31 years and older (National Health and Medical Research Council, 2006). Dietary magnesium is relatively abundant, and primarily comes from leafy green vegetables, legumes, peas, nuts, and some shellfish (Mahan *et al.*, 2012).

Zinc has an important role in bone health: in many conditions that are associated with low levels of zinc, decreased bone growth and mineralisation is evident (Kannus *et al.*, 1999, Michaëlsson *et al.*, 2005). The main role of zinc in bone growth is its effect on DNA, collagen synthesis, and alkaline phosphatase activity. These all show a dose-dependent increase in the femoral diaphysis of rats in response to zinc administration (R, 2005). Furthermore, zinc deficiency in rats results in not only impaired development of vertebrae and ribcage (Deng *et al.*, 2000), but atypical ossification in the offspring of these rats (Torgerson *et al.*, 1996). In rhesus monkeys who are zinc-deprived, bone mineralisation is impaired compared to that of zinc-replete controls (Cummings *et al.*, 1995).

The RDI for zinc for adult women is 8 mg/day (National Health and Medical Research Council, 2006). Zinc is found in many different foods, with meat, fish, and poultry being a primary source. There is also a substantial amount of zinc in dairy and cereals (National Health and Medical Research Council, 2006). Interestingly, the bioavailability of zinc is affected by protein, which itself is a significant contributor to bone health: zinc binds to protein, and diets that are rich in animal-based protein sources enable much greater absorption of zinc than those that primarily are high in plant-based protein (Willett, 2013).

Boron

Boron is a trace element that is found mainly in plant foods – in particular, in vegetables, nuts, legumes, and non-citrus fruit (Mahan *et al.*, 2012). Its main role in the body is to regulate the metabolic enzyme activity, as well as a positive influence on the metabolism of the bone-related nutrients calcium, vitamin D, phosphorous, and magnesium (Devirian and Volpe, 2003). Boron is also utilised by osteoblasts to play a role in bone formation (Hakki *et al.*, 2010). There have been animal studies conducted that show supplementation with boron results in increased plasma concentrations of magnesium and calcium, as well as increased growth (Hunt, 1989, Nielsen *et al.*, 1988). Boron supplementation has also been shown to have a positive effect on growth when vitamin D status is low in chicks, by normalising growth plate maturation through the increased utilisation of nutrients (Hunt *et al.*, 1994). In peri- and postmenopausal women who are supplemented with boron, urinary excretion of calcium and magnesium is reduced while serum oestradiol is increased (Nielsen *et al.*, 1987), through the conversion of oestrogen to the more active 17-beta-oestrodiol (Nielsen, 2008). Absorption of calcium is also increased with boron supplementation (Beattie and Peace, 1993). Boron

Zinc

supplementation also has a positive effect on BMD in college age women (Meacham *et al.*, 1994). This indicates a role for boron in the attainment and maintenance of good bone health.

Copper

Copper is found in high amounts in lamb, pork, game meat, salmon, organ meat, and shellfish. Avocado, chocolate, soy milk, legumes, and dried fruit are also high in copper (Mahan et al., 2012). Copper plays an important role in the formation and mineralisation of bone, as it facilitates the action of the enzyme lysyl oxidase which facilitates the cross-linking of collagen and elastin fibrils (Palacios, 2006). The effects of copper status on bone have been evaluated in several studies, and there are conflicting findings. Post-menopausal women with low serum copper also had decreased BMD (Lowe et al., 2002, Mahdavi-Roshan et al., 2015, Chaudhri et al., 2009) -- this was conflicted by other studies however (Murphy et al., 1985, Mutlu et al., 2007, Sadeghi et al., 2014), who found no association between copper status and BMD. Heterogeneity is potentially an issue in these studies though, in terms of skeletal site of measurement and menopausal status of the participants. There is also scarce evidence for the role of copper supplements in bone health (Rondanelli et al., 2013), and the small amount of literature available is contradictory (EatonEvans et al., 1996, Nielsen et al., 2011, Strause et al., 1994). It isn't clear from the literature if copper is a nutrient that is worthy of further research specifically in terms of bone health, given the clear significance of other factors that regulate bone health.

Manganese

Manganese is a trace element that is found primarily in the bones, liver, kidneys, and pancreas. It has several roles in the body, which are to help form connective tissue, bone, sex hormones, and blood clotting factors, as well as helping to regulate calcium absorption, carbohydrate metabolism, and blood sugar homeostasis (Mahan *et al.*, 2012). There is a positive association between BMD and serum manganese, and also the number of fractures in post-menopausal women and serum manganese is negatively correlated (Palacios, 2006). The mechanism for this is likely to be due the regulatory effects of manganese on oestrogen. Additionally, patients receiving total parenteral nutrition suffered from bone loss that was thought to be due to manganese deficiency.

Physical activity

Physical activity is undertaken by the majority of people in many different ways, from incidental activity such as housework or walking to the bus stop, to organised sport,
recreational activities such as skiing, rowing, exercise such as running or aerobics classes, to work-related activity for those in active jobs such as blue collar workers, police force, or defence force. All forms of physical activity have a variety of beneficial effects, such as increased muscle mass, better cardiovascular health, and reduced risk of lifestyle diseases such as type 2 diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease to name just a few (Warburton *et al.*, 2006). Physical activity also has an important role in attaining and maintaining a good PBM, by promoting bone growth and reducing the risk of falls and subsequent fractures in older adults (Wolff *et al.*, 1999, Borer, 2005, Berard *et al.*, 1997).

When considering the possible effect of physical activity on BMD, it is critical to consider the type of activity: i.e. how much mechanical stress it places upon the skeleton. The reason for this is that when the bone is subjected to strain or force that is altered or greater than usual strain, an osteogenic signal is generated to the bone that gives a hypertrophic response (Lanyon, 1996, O'Connor et al., 1982, Rubin and Lanyon, 1984, Rubin and Lanyon, 1985). Further to this, an altered pattern of mechanical loading has a strong osteogenic effect after just a few rounds of unusual physical activity (that is, physical activity that is different from what is normally done by a given person) (Rubin and Lanyon, 1984). The exact nature of the signal has been identified, and the primary mechano-sensory cell in the bone is mostly likely to be the osteocyte (Bonewald and Johnson, 2008, Burger et al., 1995, Klein-Nulend et al., 2013, Schaffler et al., 2014). The signalling pathway involved is the low-density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein 5 (LRP5)-mediated Wnt/B-catenin pathway, which is activated by loading both in vitro (Case et al., 2008, Lau et al., 2006, Santos et al., 2010, Sunters et al., 2010) and in vivo (Robinson et al., 2006, Robling et al., 2008, Sawakami et al., 2006, Tu et al., 2012), and has been shown to increase the sensitivity of osteoblasts and osteocytes to mechanical stress (Robinson et al., 2006). The role of this pathway is further emphasised in an animal study that deleted a single b-catenin allele in osteocytes, resulting in the inability of the skeleton to increase bone mass in response to mechanical loading in vivo (Javaheri et al., 2014). The importance of the LRP5 receptor in bone remodelling has been demonstrated in knock-out mice: these mice had a significantly lower BMD as well as decreased strength as compared to the non-knock-out mice (Sawakami et al., 2006). Another role for LRP5 receptor signalling is its antagonistic effect on sclerostin. Sclerostin is a protein derivative of the SOST gene found primarily in osteocytes, and acts by strongly inhibiting bone formation. It is possible that by the osteocytes controlling how much sclerostin they contain, they can exert control over their mechanosensory action, which would affect Wnt/b-catenin signalling (Robling et al., 2008). Increased mechanical loading reduces the SOST expression of sclerostin, which indicates a possible local Wnt signal occurring in the osteocyte (Tu *et al.*, 2012). Additionally, the osteogenic effect of the Wnt/LRP5 pathway is site specific according to where the skeletal loading occurs (Lanyon, 1996, Moustafa *et al.*, 2012, Tommerup *et al.*, 1993).

Physical activity is critically important during childhood and adolescence, as this is the critical period in which PBM is attained. Longitudinal bone growth peaks one to two years before the pubertal growth spurt, while mineralisation peaks during the pubertal spurt (Fournier *et al.*, 1997). Thus, physical activity (and dietary measures) are crucially important during this time to achieve optimal bone growth (Behringer *et al.*, 2014).

Too much physical activity coupled with the aesthetic pressures of some sports such as gymnastics or ballet may be harmful and impair bone growth. Hypothalamic function can become disrupted when exercise is very prolonged and intense, which can result in a delay in the onset of menarche, and increases likelihood of amenorrhoea (Javed *et al.*, 2013, Gremion *et al.*, 2001). Both of these are strong risk factors for reduced bone mass (Warren and Perlroth, 2001, Chevalley *et al.*, 2009, Chevalley *et al.*, 2008): introduce to this the potential for insufficient energy intake if an individual is trying to reach a particular aesthetic ideal that is not realistic, then serious hormonal imbalances can ensue (Rizzoli, 2014).

The importance of physical activity beyond the age where PBM has been attained cannot be overlooked. There is a clear role for physical activity in the prevention of bone loss and osteoporosis in post-menopausal women (Tobias *et al.*, 2014, Talele *et al.*, 2014, Caputo and Costa, 2014). Load bearing physical activity not only stimulates an osteogenic signal as described earlier, but it will help strengthen skeletal muscle, which will in turn reduce the risk of falls and subsequent fractures. Additionally, given that lean muscle mass is a strong predictor for good bone mass in pre-menopausal women (Douchi *et al.*, 1997), it is clear that appropriate exercise is something that benefits bone throughout the lifecycle.

In terms of assessing physical activity in the context of bone health, there are many different methods available. Subjects can wear an accelerometer or pedometer, and there are a wide range of self-reporting tools. Many of these tools are designed with energy expenditure and metabolic equivalents in mind, with no emphasis on mechanical loading of bone. The bone-specific physical activity questionnaire (BPAQ) is one such tool that has been recently developed (Weeks and Beck, 2008). The BPAQ is a self-administered test that assesses current and past physical activity, and uses an algorithm which applies specific weightings to intensity, years of participation in, and frequency of both past, and current physical activity. Another

bone-specific tool is the bone-loading history questionnaire (BLHQ) which assesses the load of physical activity on the spine and hip of pre-menopausal women during certain stages of life (Dolan *et al.*, 2006). However, the BLHQ has limitations: unlike the BPAQ, the load measures of physical activity were not obtained from direct measures of force, and it is more timeconsuming to use. Also, when compared to clinical densitometry measures, neither the BLHQ as well as other more traditional questionnaires that assess physical activity were able to predict bone strength (Weeks and Beck, 2008).

Body composition

Body composition is the ratio of fat mass to muscle mass, and is a major contributing factor to bone health. While there is little doubt that total mass has an effect on bone, whether it is the effect of fat mass or lean mass that predicts BMD is disputed.

Body mass plays an important role in bone turnover: women with low body mass have a greater rate of bone loss during menopause than those with a higher body mass (Finkelstein *et al.*, 2013). Greater mass will provide greater mechanical loading on the skeleton – the osteocytes respond by sending a signal which either increases the activity of osteoblasts, or decreases the activity of osteoclasts (Seeman and Delmas, 2006).

The role of fat mass in BMD is likely to be both hormonal and mechanical. From a hormone perspective, the effect of fat on bone is related at least in part to the production of oestrogen, however it has also been suggested that serum oestrone levels are independent of BMD (Lindsay *et al.*, 1992, Reid *et al.*, 1992a). There has been a suggested role for leptin also, with consistent positive associations established between circulating leptin and BMD in pre- and post-menopausal women (Pasco *et al.*, 2001, Thomas *et al.*, 2001, Yamauchi *et al.*, 2001, Blain *et al.*, 2002, Kaufman *et al.*, 2002). The proposed mechanism for this is two-fold: firstly, that osteoblast formation from the stromal cells of the bone marrow is activated by leptin with an accompanying inhibition of adipocyte maturation, and secondly through the inhibition of osteoclast activity (Thomas *et al.*, 1999, Ogueh *et al.*, 2000, Reseland *et al.*, 2001, Holloway *et al.*, 2002). Both fat and lean mass will also place a mechanical load on bone that will contribute to BMD (MacInnis *et al.*, 2003, Finkelstein *et al.*, 2013). It is probable that a combination of all of the above factors contribute to BMD, but to differing degrees depending on individual characteristics such as age and level of physical activity.

Whether fat mass or lean mass affects bone is not agreed on, however the effect appears to depend on several variables:

- Skeletal site of measurement (regional vs. total body)
- Indices used
- Menopausal status

The skeletal site of measurement varies between studies, and whether the site of measurement is a load bearing site or not, or if it is a total body measure, may affect the strength of body composition associations. Total body bone density appears to be affected by both lean mass and fat mass; however this is likely to be dependent on menopausal status, with the most powerful association being between total lean mass and total body BMD in premenopausal women (Douchi et al., 1997). Additionally, there are strong correlations between lean mass and BMD at load bearing skeletal sites such as the femoral neck and lumbar spine, but not at non-load bearing sites (Harris et al., 1992), such as the distal radius, where fat mass appears to have a stronger effect, potentially through metabolic action (Glauber et al., 1995). This finding has been contradicted by other studies however, showing that fat mass significantly affected lumbar spine and femoral neck BMD in Chinese and Turkish women (Liu et al., 2011, Nur et al., 2013), although it is possible that race could explain these different findings. Probable reasons for the role of lean mass is that the more load-bearing exercise an individual does, then the greater their lean mass will be: given the established effects of loadbearing exercise on bone as discussed previously, it is likely that there will be a positive relationship between the two. Added to that the reduced risk of falls and subsequent fractures in individuals – particularly older adults – with greater lean mass, and a clear picture for the role of muscle in bone health emerges.

Differing indices of bone mass are used in different studies, producing conflicting results. BMC is corrected to allow for body size differences by using BMD, or bone mineral apparent density (BMAD) (Kerr *et al.*, 2007, Makovey *et al.*, 2005, Taaffe *et al.*, 2000), and BMD/height (Reid *et al.*, 1992b). BMAD is obtained by dividing BMC by an estimated bone volume, while BMD/height is a simpler version where the BMD is adjusted for height. When height is adjusted for, the association between bone and lean mass is weakened, and in some cases eliminated completely (Gnudi *et al.*, 2007, Harris and DawsonHughes, 1996, Khosla *et al.*, 1996, Reid *et al.*, 1992b). A possible reason for this is that height is typically strongly

correlated with lean mass, so adjusting for height may introduce a bias against the association between lean mass and bone (Khosla *et al.*, 1996). Adjusting for height may also result in a stronger positive effect of fat mass on bone, and reduce the effect of lean mass (Reid *et al.*, 1994, Reid *et al.*, 1992b, Khosla *et al.*, 1996). This illustrates how findings of body composition associations will depend upon which indices are used.

It is probable that menopausal status is a factor also: however, while there is a general consensus that fat mass is a significant predictor for BMD in post-menopausal women (Baumgartner *et al.*, 1996, Compston *et al.*, 1992, Douchi *et al.*, 1997, Kirchengast *et al.*, 2001, Liu *et al.*, 2011, Nur *et al.*, 2013, Reid *et al.*, 1994, Reid *et al.*, 1992a), and lean mass a significant predictor in pre-menopausal women (Aloia *et al.*, 1995, Bogl *et al.*, 2011, Douchi *et al.*, 1997, Ijuin *et al.*, 2002, Kerr *et al.*, 2007, Khosla *et al.*, 1996, Valdimarsson *et al.*, 1999), the effect of age is also disputed. There are claims that lean mass is the single best predictor for BMD in post-menopausal women (Chen *et al.*, 1997, Cho, 2005, Leena and Vidula, 2015, Makovey *et al.*, 2005), and reports that fat mass has a positive effect on BMD in women under 50 years, but not in those over 50 (Makovey *et al.*, 2005). It is likely that an individual's osteoporosis risk also determines the strength of association: lean mass may be more of a factor in post-menopausal women without osteoporosis, where both lean mass and fat mass are significant in those with osteoporosis (Gnudi *et al.*, 2007).

None of these factors can be considered in isolation when investigating the true effect of body composition on bone: they all inter-linked, and the one consistent factor is that the associations change depending on which combination of factors are analysed.

Hormonal factors

Bone remodelling is strongly affected by hormonal controls. The hormonal control of bone remodelling is primarily by parathyroid hormone (PTH), oestrogen, and vitamin D as discussed in the previous section. Calcitonin also contributes on a much lesser scale.

When blood calcium levels begin to drop, the parathyroid gland senses this, and secretes more PTH (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2000). There are specific calcium-sensing receptors on the parathyroid cell surfaces, which bind calcium. When only enough calcium is bound to indicate 0.025mmol/L of calcium present, the parathyroid cells are stimulated to release PTH - this

causes calcium to be released, thus increasing the amount of calcium bound to the receptors, which lowers the stimulus for PTH production (Taniegra, 2004).

PTH drives the increase of serum calcium by helping to increase intestinal calcium absorption through the conversion of vitamin D to its active metabolite, increasing calcium reabsorption and phosphate excretion in the kidneys, and by stimulating the breakdown of bone, allowing calcium to be released into circulation (Meng and Wagar, 2015). There are specific PTH receptors expressed on osteoblasts, and through this PTH indirectly influence osteoclasts to break down bone, releasing calcium (Taniegra, 2004). The binding of PTH to osteoblasts creates a paracrine effect from the osteoblasts to the osteoclasts: PTH stimulates the osteoblasts to release interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, tumour necrosis factor- α , and prostaglandin E, and other cytokines, which subsequently stimulate osteoclasts to resorb bone (Mahan *et al.*, 2012). As a result, when there are high amounts of PTH in response to low serum calcium, osteoclast activity is increased, however occasional low quantities of PTH has a favourable effect on bone anabolism (White, 2010). PTH also stimulates increased production of osteoclasts. PTH regulation relies on sufficient levels of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D: if an individual is deficient in vitamin D, PTH will not be as well supressed by normal blood calcium levels, which can result in increased bone loss (White, 2010, Carling *et al.*, 1998).

Oestrogen also has an important role in the maintenance of bone homeostasis, through the blocking of PTH-stimulated cytokines that stimulate osteoclastic action (Mahan *et al.*, 2012), which results in a reduction of the number of osteoclasts (Harada and Rodan, 2003a). Oestrogen also has a role in males, working through oestrogen receptor- α to close the epiphyses, and maintenance of post-pubertal bone mass (Harada and Rodan, 2003b). Because of the pivotal role that oestrogen plays, when women enter menopause, bone resorption rapidly increases due to the loss of oestrogen (Eriksen and Langdahl, 1997).

Calcitonin does not play such a significant role in bone turnover. Calcitonin is produced by the C cells of the parathyroid gland, and although the mechanism of its physiological role is yet to be elucidated, calcitonin has a role in regulating bone turnover as well as managing calcium homeostasis (Davey and Findlay, 2013). Calcitonin is used therapeutically to reduce bone resorption. The effectiveness is dose-dependent, and can reduce resorption by up to 50% (Akcay *et al.*, 2004, Gennari and Agnusdei, 1994, Karsdal *et al.*, 2008). There is a potential link between calcitonin treatment and cancer however, with rates of cancer varying between 0.7%

in studies with oral calcitonin, and 2.4% in those with nasal spray formulations (European Medicines Agency, 2012).

Genetics

Genetic differences have a substantial impact on bone: genes inherited from an individual's parents and how they are expressed accounts for approximately 70% of variance in BMD (Ralston and de Crombrugghe, 2006). The rate of an individual's bone growth is influenced by gene expression in much the same way as height is, and follows a path that is identifiable from pre-puberty. Other contributing factors for fracture risk are also highly heritable, such as bone turnover rate and skeletal geometry, with a family history of osteoporosis being a significant risk factor for fragility fractures and osteoporosis in later life (Ralston and de Crombrugghe, 2006).

In terms of fracture risk and heritability, there are conflicting findings about level of risk. In studies that found a high heritability of fracture (Torgerson *et al.*, 1996, Deng *et al.*, 2000, Cummings *et al.*, 1995, Andrew *et al.*, 2005), it appeared that the primary determinants were non-skeletal: i.e., muscle mass, cognitive function, neuro muscular control, and vision, which are all genetically determined to varying degrees (Ralston and de Crombrugghe, 2006, Andrew *et al.*, 2005). In contrast to these findings, a study looking at elderly twins did not find any genetic links to fracture risk (Kannus *et al.*, 1999). However, environmental factors such as dietary intake, muscle mass, vitamin D status play an increasingly important role in bone health as age progresses, while the role of genetics decreases, which explains these conflicting findings (Michaëlsson *et al.*, 2005).

Very severe osteoporosis, or unusually high bone density, can be products of rare genetic conditions that are inherited. This can commonly occur by a gene mutation resulting in the modification of the WNT signalling pathway. WNT signalling has a pivotal role in bone homeostasis: there are several WNT pathways, with the predominant pathway involved in bone homeostasis being the WNT/ β -catenin pathway, or canonical pathway (Cadigan and Peifer, 2009). When the WNT ligands bind to a receptor complex which includes lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP)5 or LRP6, the β -catenin 'destruction complex' is inactivated, so β -catenin accumulates in the cytoplasm before trans-locating to the nucleus. Here, along with transcription factors, it regulates target gene transcription (Baron and Kneissel, 2013). In addition to this pathway, the WNT-PTH crosstalk pathway and WNT-PCP (non-canonical)

pathways are involved (Liu *et al.*, 2007). Over ten years ago, mutations in four groups of people resulting in low or high bone mass were identified, with all mutations altering the canonical WNT pathway with subsequent significant results on bone mass (Baron and Kneissel, 2013). In two of the groups, the mutation occurred in the LRP5 gene that encodes for the WNT correceptor low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5. One had a loss-of-function effect, resulting in low bone mass (Gong *et al.*, 2001), and the other had a gain-of-function effect, resulting in high bone mass (Boyden *et al.*, 2002, Little *et al.*, 2002). In the other two groups, the mutation affected the SOST gene, which encodes for the protein sclerostin, which inhibits the WNT pathway by binding the LRP5 receptor (Poole *et al.*, 2005, van Bezooijen *et al.*, 2004). Both of these groups had unusually high bone mass due to a lack of production of sclerostin (Balemans *et al.*, 2002, Brunkow *et al.*, 2001). These mutations result in abnormally high or low bone mass, rather than bone mass that is lower or higher, but not abnormally so, from the norm.

2.4 Factors Affecting Bone Health of Pacific Island Women Living in New Zealand

There are three ethno-geographic subgroups that Pacific Islanders may belong to depending on what country they, or their ancestors are from (figure 2). Melanesian, Micronesian, or Polynesian. Melanesia (from the Greek word melas, "black", and nesos, "island") encompasses New Guinea, Solomon Islands, Vanuatu, New Caledonia, Fiji and the Bismarck Archipelago. Micronesia ("small islands") contains Kiribati, the Marshall Islands, Nauru, and the Caroline Islands, and spans westward covering the Northern Mariana Islands, Guan, and Palau. Polynesia ("many islands") encompasses countries in the eastern Pacific, starting with the Hawaiian Islands in the north, extending to New Zealand in the southwest, and Easter Island to the east. Other nations in Polynesia are Tuvalu, Wallis and Futuna, Tokelau, Samoa, Tonga, Niue, the Cook Islands, and French Polynesia.



Figure 2.3: Pacific Island geography

Berglee, R. The Pacific and Antartica *Regional Geography of the World: Globalization, People, and Places* (Vol. 1): Saylor Academy Open Textbooks.

Intake of key nutrients affecting bone health

Calcium

A total of 92.3% of Pacific Island women living in New Zealand have an inadequate calcium intake (University of Otago and Ministry of Health, 2011). As stated earlier, the median intake of calcium by New Zealand women aged 15-71+ years is 745mg, well short of the RDI. Pacific Island women's calcium intake is lower still, with a median intake of 604mg (565-643) (University of Otago and Ministry of Health, 2011). The most common dietary sources of calcium for all women are milk (27%), bread and non-alcoholic drinks (both 10%), cheese (8%), and vegetables and dairy products (both 6%). There is relatively little data available on the typical dietary intake of Pacific Island women living in New Zealand; however there is data describing the typical intake of Pacific Island children at the age of four, which may reflect the

wider family's diet. The three most frequently consumed foods were bread (1.32 times per day), plain milk (0.86 time per day), then apples or pears (0.83 times per day) - yoghurt was the 14th most common food consumed, and other dairy products the 21st most common (Rush *et al.*, 2008). Milk intake was found to be associated with higher mass and BMI (Rush *et al.*, 2008), so any positive effects on bone health may come not only from the calcium in milk but the increased weight that is shown to result from a higher intake. Food security is an established issue for Pacific Island families, however 95% report they still buy milk when limited by money (Rush *et al.*, 2007).

Vitamin D

Pacific Island adults living in New Zealand are 2.3 times more likely to be deficient in vitamin D than non-Pacific Island adults, with 10% of Pacific Island adults having a vitamin D deficiency (Ministry of Health, 2012b). The National Adult Nutrition survey showed that there was a non-significant trend towards an increased risk of vitamin D deficiency in lower latitudes (central and southern regions) (Ministry of Health, 2012b). Pacific Island people most commonly live in urban areas, with 67% living in Auckland, 13% in Wellington, 4% in Waikato, and 4% in the South Island (Statistics New Zealand, 2007). This indicates that vitamin D deficiency is unlikely to be due to geographical reasons. Skin colour and weight are the two most probable factors for lower vitamin D status, with Pacific Island people tending to have darker skin tone, and a high prevalence of overweight and obesity, which will likely account for the increased risk of deficiency.

Protein

The average protein intake amongst adult Pacific Island women living in New Zealand is 16.9%, which is comparable to that of non-Pacific Island women (16.5%) (University of Otago and Ministry of Health, 2011). The Pacific Island Families study shows the most common types of protein consumed by Pacific Island children is milk, followed by chicken (0.57 times per day), eggs, and yoghurt or dairy food (0.49 times per day each). Other meats, poultry and fish are consumed less often (0.44 times per day) (Rush *et al.*, 2008). Although an intake of 16.9% of protein is at the lower end of the AMDR recommended by the Ministry of Health, it should be sufficient for maintaining good bone health.

Vitamin C

Vitamin C intake amongst Pacific Island women is on average 99mg per day (University of Otago and Ministry of Health, 2011), which is unsurprising given the wide range of fruit and

vegetables, especially traditional Pacific Island vegetables such as kumara and taro, that vitamin C is found in. Given that this is well above the RDI set by the Ministry of Health, vitamin C is not likely to account for any possible issues with bone health in Pacific Island women in New Zealand.

Nutrient	Mean intake of	Mean intake for all	RDI
	Pacific Island women	women	
Calcium	653 mg	784 mg	1000 mg
Vitamin A	671 μg RE	787 μg RE	700 μg RE
Protein	81 g	73 g	15 – 25% total energy
PUFA	10.3 g	10 g	
Iron	10.8 mg	9.9 mg	18 mg
Vitamin C	99 mg	106 mg	45 mg
Thiamin	1.3 mg	1.1 mg	1.1 mg
Riboflavin	1.6 mg	1.7 mg	1.1 mg
Niacin	33.4 mg	29.1 mg	14 mg
Vitamin B6	1.7 mg	1.6 mg	1.3 mg
Vitamin B12	4.1 μg	3.3 µg	2.4 μg

Table 2.2: Key nutrient intake for bone health amongst Pacific Island women in New Zealand

National Health and Medical Research Council. (2006). *Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand Including Recommended Dietary Intakes*. Canberra: NHMRC

Physical activity prevalence of Pacific Island women living in New Zealand

It is important to consider the type of sport, given the importance of load bearing activity for bone health. Pacific Islanders are most likely to engage in sport for physical activity, specifically touch rugby, netball, volleyball, and rugby (Sport New Zealand, 2015). The most popular sport and recreation activities amongst Pacific Island people are listed in table 2.3

Activity	%
Walking	51.7
Jogging/Running	23.7
Equipment-based exercise	22.7
Swimming	20.4
Touch Rugby	17.7
Dance	17.4
Fishing	14.9
Netball	14
Volleyball	13.6
Rugby	13.5

Table 2.3: The 10 most popular sport and recreation activities for Pacific Islanders 2013-2014

Sport New Zealand. (2015). Sport and Active Recreation in the Lives of New Zealand Adults. 2013/14 Active New Zealand Survey Results. Wellington: Sport New Zealand.

There has been an increase in participation in sport amongst Pacific Islanders, with a 10% increase in sport and recreation over a seven day period between 2007/08 and 2013/14 (Sport New Zealand, 2015).

Body composition of Pacific Island women living in New Zealand

As previously discussed in this review, body composition is a complex but crucial predictor of BMD. The general consensus – although with some opposing views – is that lean muscle mass is the most significant predictor in pre-menopausal women, with fat mass the most significant in post-menopausal (Douchi *et al.*, 1997, Harris *et al.*, 1992, Glauber *et al.*, 1995, Liu *et al.*, 2011, Nur *et al.*, 2013). Total mass is also important, as greater mass results in a greater mechanical load on the skeleton.

In New Zealand, Pacific Island women are twice as likely to be obese compared to non-Pacific. When classified according to international BMI cut-off points, 13.7% fall within the normal range ($18.5 - 24.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$), 26.5% in the overweight range ($25-30 \text{ kg/m}^2$), and 59.5% in the obese range ($\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$) (Ministry of Health, 2014). However, while BMI may give a rough classification of size, it doesn't indicate actual body composition, as it uses total weight without considering to what extent that weight is contributed to by fat, or muscle. Due to muscle weighing considerably more than fat, a person with high muscle mass could easily fall into the overweight or obese categories – yet not have typical risk factors associated with

being overweight or obese. It is well known that Pacific Islanders typically have significantly greater muscle mass than European and Asian Indian groups (Rush *et al.*, 2009), and for this reason, BMI is not an appropriate predictor for bone density or mass.

BMI gives an indication of body fatness, by showing an indicator of weight adjusted for by height, and indeed BMI has been shown to be correlated with body fat. However, BMI doesn't distinguish between weight contributed to by muscle mass and weight from fat mass. Given the high proportion of muscle mass of Pacific Islanders, with a Pacific Islander with the same body fat% as a European typically having a higher BMI, the BMI is rendered less meaningful as a true measure of size (Rush et al., 1997). BMI can be useful for providing an approximate estimation of general size of a population however. According to the international BMI cut-off points used by the Ministry of Health (table 2.4), almost two thirds of Pacific Island adults are considered to be obese. The Ministry of Health reports that Pacific Island adults have a higher BMI on average than European or Asian adults (Ministry of Health, 2015), however differences in muscle mass between ethnicities has not been considered. It is not helpful to compare different ethnic groups in this way, as there are many mitigating factors that makes different ethnicities unique, such as genetic influences, socio-economic status, and environmental factors. By comparing ethnicities, it suggests a need for one ethnic group, i.e. Pacific Islanders, to strive to be more like another, instead of simply looking within that group and examining how cultural, social, and environmental elements specific to that group can be approached.

Classification	BMI Score (kg/m ²)
Underweight	<18.5
Normal range	18.5-24.99
Overweight	25-29.99
Obese	≥30

Table 2.4: International BMI Cut-Off Points

World Health Organisation. (2015). BMI Classification. Retrieved 18/5/2015 from http://apps.who.int/bmi/index.jsp?introPage=intro_3.html

From this, it may be possible to extrapolate that muscle mass is a significant predictor of bone density and mass.

2.5 Bone Quality of Pacific Island Women Living in New Zealand and Australia

While anecdotally it is suggested that Pacific Island women have good bone density and mass, there is little data examining this. The general assumption of greater bone density could in part be attributed to the average body size of Pacific Island women: as discussed earlier in this

review total weight, as well as lean mass, has been shown to be significant determinants of bone density. Additionally, the fact that Pacific Island people have one of the lowest rates of non-traumatic hip fracture in the world, with the rate being approximately a quarter that of European women, also strongly indicates good bone density and mass (Cundy *et al.*, 1995). Further to this, pre- and post-menopausal Pacific Island women have a significantly higher BMC of the distal radius and ulna than European women (Reid *et al.*, 1986), however it is not clear if height and weight have been adjusted for, which may go some way towards explaining the difference. When BMI is adjusted for when examining the difference in bone mass in adults, significant differences still remain (Cundy *et al.*, 1995). Similarly to adults, Pacific Island children aged 3-7 years have a significantly greater bone density and mass compared to their age- and gender-matched European counterparts - however, this difference can be explained by greater height and weight, as when these factors are adjusted for, the differences in bone measures disappear (Grant *et al.*, 2005).

Studies involving Pacific Islanders were identified by searching the following databases: Web of Science, Scopus, PubMed, and Google Scholar. Keywords used were "BMD", "bone mineral density", "bone", "Pacific Island", "Pacific". Six results were returned that related to bone mass and/or density in Pacific Islanders, and are summarised in table 2.5.

Author Design Purpose Population Methods Main Fin Main Fin Reid et. Observational To evaluate Women aged 18- The BMC of the distal radius and ulna in the 13 MC vomes Polynesis Reid et. Observational To evaluate Women aged 18- The BMC of the distal radius and ulna in the 13 MC vomes Polynesian Dispectan 123 European 123 European Maori and other Polynesian women were approximate measured using a polynesia (p-60.000) Vomen in New 2 al soft option ectority Maori and other Polynesian women were approximate measured using a polynesia (p-60.000) Author Device Dispected ment thereas, glucocorticoid or hormone polynesia (p-60.000) Author Dispected ment thereas, glucocorticoid or hormone polynesia (p-60.000) Stass spins (dispected ment, spin e ad four 1. The H. Author Dispected measo of a stass spind density was measured at four 1. The H. The H. Stass spins (dispected ment, spin e ad four 1. The H. Author Dispected mease and density was measured at four 1. Howed a lighter al lighton. Japanese, 74 was adjusted for. Jabanese lighton.						
Reid et. Observational To evaluate Women aged 18- bit 1986 The BMC of the distal radius and uina in the provinesian and European 1. BMC of the distal radius and uina in the provinesian and European 1. BMC of the distal radius and uina in the provinesian women were approxin 1. BMC of the distal radius and uina in the provinesian women were approxin 1. BMC of provinesian Pint Pint Pint Pint Pint Pint Pint Pint	Author	Design	Purpose	Population	Methods	Main Findings
Daviset. Observational To compare the women aged 25- Bone mass and density was measured at four 1. The Hi availan, 1394 I. The Hi availan, 137 I. The Hi statest havailan, 1395 I. The Hi statest havailan, 137 I. The Hi statest havailan havailan, 1395 I. The Hi statest hava havailan havailan havailan, 1395 I. The Hi statest hava havailan havailan havailan, 1395 I. The Hi statest hava havailan havailan havailan havailan havailan havailan havailan havailan havailan havailan, 1395 I. The Hi statest hava havailan	Reid et. al., 1986	Observational	To evaluate forearm BMC of Polynesian and European women in New Zealand.	Women aged 18- 70 (50 Maori, 30 other Polynesian, 123 European).	The BMC of the distal radius and ulna in the non-dominant arm was measured using a Novo GT 35 osteodensitometer. Results of Maori and other Polynesian women were pooled due to no significant differences between the two. Exclusion criteria were major illness, glucocorticoid or hormone replacement therapy, and bilateral oophorectomy.	 BMC was significantly higher in Polynesian women than European (p<0.0001). The mean values were approximately 20% higher in Polynesians. Bone density significantly declined with age in both races (p<0.0001).
Cundy et.ObservationalTo assess thePre-menopausalThe BMD of the lumbar spine and three1. The Pcal., 1995effect ofwomen (n=200)femoral sites was measured using DXA, andsignificanal., 1995adjusting forof Chinese,compared across all four groups.other thiadjusting forof Chinese,compared across all four groups.other thibody size onIndian,interracial boneEuropean, and(p<0.000differences.Polynesianethnicities (50 in2. ANCO	Davis et. al., 1994	Observational	To compare the bone mass of Hawaiian, Filipino, Japanese, and white women living in Ohau, Hawaii.	Women aged 25- 34 years (66 Hawaiian, 137 white, 144 Japanese, 74 Filipino).	Bone mass and density was measured at four sites: spine, calcaneus, and proximal and distal radius. Bone measures were compared between the four ethnicities, and body size was adjusted for.	 The Hawaiian women had the greatest BMD, and Japanese the lowest at the spine and calcaneus. Overall the Hawaiian women and the greatest BMC at all sites. Most ethnic differences disappeared after adjusting for body size.
each category). differenc	Cundy et. al., 1995	Observational	To assess the effect of adjusting for body size on interracial bone differences.	Pre-menopausal women (<i>n</i> =200) of Chinese, Indian, European, and Polynesian ethnicities (50 in each category).	The BMD of the lumbar spine and three femoral sites was measured using DXA, and compared across all four groups.	 The Polynesian women had significantly greater BMD than the other three groups both before and after adjusting for body size (<i>p</i><0.0001). ANCOVA showed 10-40% of the difference in BMD may be explained

Author	Design	Purpose	Population	Methods	Main Findings
					by greater obesity in the Polynesian group, and the balance represents true interracial difference.
Norton et. al., 1995	Observational	To determine the incidence of hip fractures among those aged 60 years or older in the Auckland region.	All older people (≥60 years) hospitalised with a femoral neck fracture in Auckland between July 1991 and February 1994.	Participants were identified through ward registers and demographic data obtained. Fracture incidence was calculated using the number of people who had sustained femoral fractures as the numerator, and the 1991 census population estimate as the denominator. Individuals with fractures resulting from major trauma or who lived outside of the Auckland region were excluded.	 Fracture incidence rates between Pacific Island men and women were very similar. Pacific Island women had approximately a quarter of the fracture rates of European women. Hip fracture rates amongst Maori and Pacific Islanders are some of the lowest internationally.
Grant et.al., 2000	Observational	To determine if there are differences in bone size and bone mineral in pre-pubertal Pacific Island and European children.	41 Pacific Island children aged 3- 7, with 38 age- and gender- matched European children.	Body composition, bone size, and BMC were measured by DXA of the total body and non- dominant forearm.	 Pacific Island children had significantly more BMC in the total body (12%), ultradistal radius (16%) and the 33% radius (8%). BMD was higher at the ultradistal radius only (11%). When adjusting for body weight, and in particular lean mass, there were no differences in bone measures, so it is suggested the differences in bone are due to greater weight and height of Pacific children.

Author	Design	Purpose	Population	Methods	Main Findings
Rush et.	Cross-sectional	To investigate	933 healthy	Body composition was measured using BMI,	1. There are marked ethnic
al., 2009		the relationships	adults: 454 male	whole body composition was measured using	differences in fat distribution,
		between body	and 479 female,	DXA, and between-group differences were	muscularity, bone mass, and leg
		fatness and BMI,	aged 17-80	tested using a one-way ANOVA. ANCOVA was	length.
		fat distribution,	years.	used to adjust body composition for	
		muscularity,		comparison between ethnic groups.	
		bone mineral			
		mass, leg length,			
		and age-related			
		changes in body			
		composition			
		between			
		European, Pacific			
		Island, Maori,			
		and Asian Indian			
		adults.			

2.6 Summary

Bone health is contributed to by many different factors, with no one factor acting in isolation. Predominant factors are physical activity, body composition (total mass, lean mass, and fat mass all play roles), dietary factors (notably calcium, vitamin D, protein, and vitamin C), and genetics. The significance of these factors can vary according the menopausal status, ethnicity, and measures used (i.e. total body vs regional bone density). Although there is relatively little data examining the bone health of Pacific Island women, it is anecdotally accepted, and supported by the existing research, that Pacific Island women typically have excellent bone health. It is of scientific interest to investigate the possible reasons and main predictors of this, and find whether given the rise in many lifestyle-related diseases if this is one aspect of health that stands firm.

Chapter 3

Methods

3.1 Research Design

The Women's EXPLORE ("Examining Predictors Linking Obesity Related Elements" is a crosssectional study investigating the implications for metabolic disease of different body composition profiles of post-menarcheal and pre-menopausal New Zealand European, Pacific Island, and Maori women. It also examines dietary and physical activity patterns as predictors for body composition profiles. The three different profiles explored are:

- Normal fat group: those with a BMI in the normal range (18.5-24.9 kg/m²) and normal body fat (<30%)
- Hidden fat group: those with a BMI in the normal range, and a high body fat (\geq 30%)
- Apparent fat group: those with a high BMI ($\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) and a high body fat ($\geq 30\%$)

The current study is an observational investigation of predictors for BMD in Pacific Island women living in New Zealand. This analysis includes BMD data from DXA scans of the Pacific Island sub-group of the women's EXPLORE study, as well as physical activity data from a recent physical activity questionnaire, and anthropometric data from the BodPod. The BMD data, using standard BMD in grams per cm², is the dependent variable used in this research, with physical activity, body fat percentage, lean mass, total mass, and dietary calcium, protein, and vitamin C intake as the independent variables.

The EXPLORE study was not originally designed with bone analysis in mind, with DXA measurements to be used in the wider study to identify regional fat deposition. Nevertheless given that total body BMD and BMC data are available, the present study was born. Limitations resulting from this are detailed in the discussion section.

3.2 Ethical Approval

Ethical approval was gained for this study from the Massey University Human Ethics Committee (MUHEC): Southern A, Application 13/13. Additionally, written informed consent was gained from all participants prior to participating in the Women's EXPLORE Study.

3.3 EXPLORE Participants

The study participants are women aged 16-45 years, and were recruited in Auckland, New Zealand. Participants were recruited through local community and sports groups, universities, church groups, Kapa Haka groups, gala days such as PolyFest and Pasifika Festival, orientation days at educational institutes, sports games, local businesses, newspaper advertisements, magazine articles, and radio coverage. A total of 798 women were recruited for the EXPLORE study, 91 of whom were Pacific Islanders. Participants were included if they were aged between 16 and 45 years, were post-menarcheal or pre-menopausal (defined by continual regular menstruation for one complete past year), and identified as either Pacific Island ethnicity (with at least one parent identifying as Pacific Islander also). Participants were excluded in the presence of pregnancy & lactation, chronic illness (coronary heart disease, diabetes, cancer, gut disorders resulting in malabsorption, endocrine disorders, thyroid disease, kidney disease, liver disorders, and blood-borne illnesses such as hepatitis), low BMI (<18.5 kg/m²), and dairy allergy.

3.4 Measurements

For the present study, the following measures were obtained: body composition (total mass, fat-free mass (FFM), body-fat %), physical activity, and dietary intake from a validated food frequency questionnaire (FFQ). Vitamin D was not included in this analysis.

3.5 Phases of Data Collection

Data collection was carried out in three phases: initial screening for eligibility, testing, and the at-home phase.

Phase 1: Screening

Participants were screened using a questionnaire and body composition analysis to assess for eligibility for inclusion into the study.

Phase 2: Testing

Participants visited Massey University's Human Nutrition Research Unit, where total body composition, BMD and content, and dietary intake were measured.

Phase 3: At home

Participants completed an RPAQ questionnaire one week after testing then either returned it to the Human Nutrition Research Unit by post, having been provided with a pre-paid addressed envelope, or completed the questionnaire online through Survey Monkey (www.surveymonkey.com).

3.6 Anthropometric Measurements

Phase 1: Screening

Participants were first provided with detailed information on the EXPLORE study, and were then given a consent form and screening questionnaire to assess suitability. If the inclusion criteria were met and the exclusion criteria not breached, height was recorded using a calibrated stadiometer, and weight, BMI and body fat percentage were obtained using a portable bioelectrical impedance analyser (BIA) (InBody 230, Biospace, Cerritos, CA). Participants were then divided into one of three body composition profile groups: NN (normal BMI, normal body fat %), NH (normal BMI, high body fat %), or HH (high BMI, high body fat %). Participants with a low BMI (<18.5 kg/m²) were excluded. All eligible participants were invited to the second stage of testing.

Phase 2: Testing

Testing was carried out prior to 10am, and was timed to coincide with the first two weeks of each participant's menstrual cycle for the purposes of the wider EXPLORE study. Participants were asked to arrive fasted, with only having taken sips of water since 10pm the previous night. Upon arrival at the Human Nutrition Research Unit, the participants' name and date of birth was checked. The testing protocol was then explained, and a consent form was completed. A pre-testing questionnaire was filled out which gathered information on menstrual status, employment, smoking status, and alcohol consumption. Participants were asked if they had had anything to eat or drink since 10pm the previous night. If they answered yes, testing was re-scheduled for a different day.

Although height was recorded during the screening phase, it was recorded again as the first part of the testing phase, and it is this height that was used in the final data analysis. Participants were asked to remove their shoes and socks. Hair was checked to ensure it wasn't adding height, feet were positioned together with heels pressed against the stadiometer, and the participants jaw was lifted with both hands so the orbitale and ear canal were horizontally aligned. The participant was asked to inhale, and the measurement was recorded after

bringing the headboard down to the top of the skull. Three height measures were taken, then averaged and recorded to the nearest 0.1 cm

The waist and hip circumference was measured using a flexible steel tape measure (Lufkin W600PM, Apex Tool Group, NC, USA) using the cross-hand technique. For the waist circumference, the measure was obtained from the narrowest point between the iliac crest and lower costal border. The measure was recorded at the end of a normal exhalation. Hip circumference was measured at the widest point of the buttocks. Three measures were taken, with the average measurement recorded.

The participants' body composition was then measured using the BodPod system. This uses air-displacement plthysmography to measure body density by determining body volume and body weight, which are then used to calculate body fat percent. The BodPod was volume-calibrated using a 50 litre cylinder, and weight-calibrated using two 10 kg weights. Participants were asked to wear a tight fitting swimsuit or exercise clothing in which no air could be trapped. They also were asked to wear a swim cap, and empty their bladder. All jewellery was removed. Participants were then weighed using the BodPod scales, and the weight was entered into the BodPod computer. The participants' lung volume was then measured by expelling air from the lungs. The participant then needed to sit quietly for 50 seconds while the body volume procedure completed, with two measures being taken. Once this process was complete, the BodPod computer measured body density, and body fat percentage was then estimated using the Siri equation (Siri, 1961):

Body Fat = (495 / Body Density) - 450

Usually, only DXA measurements would be used in a study such as this, however a validation study shows that overall while the specific DXA and BodPod machines used in this study are in agreement with each other, individuals with very high or low body fat % are not as accurately measured by the DXA as the BodPod (von Hurst *et al.*, 2015). Given that the study population consisted of many participants with very high body weight, it was decided that BodPod measures would be used

The lean mass variable was calculated by subtracting fat mass (g) obtained from the BodPod and BMC (g) obtained from DXA from total mass obtained from BodPod:

Fat-free, bone-free lean mass = total mass from BodPod – (BMC from DXA + fat mass from BodPod)

This provided a measure of fat-free, bone-free lean mass, thus avoiding collinearity when looking for relationships between FFM, which includes bone, and BMD. For the purposes of this study, fat-free, bone-free lean mass is forthwith referred to as lean mass only (LMO).

3.7 Bone and Measurements

Total body BMD and content were measured using the DXA (Hologic Discovery A). The participants' date of birth, height, weight, gender and ethnicity were then entered into the DXA database, using the weight from the BodPod and height measured earlier. All participants were entered under the Caucasian database, regardless of whether they were Maori, Pacific Island or NZ European, as the only available database options were "white", "black", and "Hispanic". Participants were asked to change into a hospital gown to remove bias caused by artefacts in clothing, which may result in a falsely raised bone density. The participants then lay supine on the scan table, and they were checked to ensure that the centre line of the scan table aligned with the centre line of the participant to allow accurate cut locations when analysing the scan at a later date. Their head was positioned directly below the horizontal line that runs across the top of the scan table, and the entire body was checked to ensure the participant was within the scan lines on the table, with their arms slightly abducted from the trunk and palms resting downwards. In the case of participants who did not fit on the table, two scans were taken: one for the left side, and one for the right side. Participants were instructed to remain completely still throughout the scan, and if there was any body movement, the scan was aborted and re-started.

3.8 Physical Activity Measurements

In the third phase of testing, participants were asked to complete a regular physical activity questionnaire (RPAQ), shown in Appendix A. The data in this was then used by the research team to complete current bone-specific physical activity questionnaires (cBPAQ) (Appendix B) on behalf of each participant, which uses an algorithm to assess loading on the skeleton from physical activity (Appendix C).

3.9 Dietary Analysis

Participants completed an online validated 220-item FFQ (Appendix D) (Houston, 2014). Instructions were provided to the participants at the start of the FFQ, along with two example questions, which the participants worked through with a member of the EXPLORE research team, as per the standard operating procedure (SOP) (Appendix E). A research assistant checked and entered the participant ID number into the online form, and was available for questions throughout the process. When reporting their food intake, participants were asked to only consider the previous month. Dietary data was collected from July 2013 to March 2015, which minimised any possible discrepancy between seasonal food availability and dietary intake.

3.10 Data Handling

A total of 91 Pacific Island women were included in the final analysis. Of these, eight participants had no DXA data due to DXA machine malfunction, and so excluded from the analysis. Dietary data was analysed using FoodWorks 7 (NZ FOODfiles 2010), then the Goldberg equation using a physical activity level (PAL) of 1.55 was applied to identify under- and over-reporting. A total of 18 participants over-reported their dietary intake, and eight under-reported their intake. All 26 under- and over-reporters were excluded from analyses involving nutrients. The PAL was chosen due to overall very sedentary physical activity reported in the RPAQ. The over- and under-reporter were excluded from analyses looking at associations between dietary intake and BMD, but included in all other analyses.

3.11 Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were completed using SPSS (v.20, IBM Corporation, New York, USA). All variables were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. Non-normal data was tested for homogeneity using the Levene's test. If the data was shown to have a significant variance between groups using the Levene's test, it was log-transformed, and tested for normality again. Normally distributed data was reported as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD), and non-normally distributed data was reported as the median [25th, 75th percentiles]. Significance was set at *P*=<0.05. Correlations were calculated using the Pearson's test for normal data and Spearman's Rho for non-normal data. A hierarchical block-wise multiple regression analysis was used to assess the ability of the independent variables to predict BMD (g/cm²), with the independent variable with the strongest correlation entered

into the first block, and the variable with the weaker correlation in the second block. Only independent variables that showed a significant correlation with BMD were used in the regression analysis.

Chapter 4

Results

4.1 Study Participants

The present study is concerned with exploring total body mass, fat mass, muscle mass, physical activity, calcium, protein, and Vitamin C intake as predictors of BMD. A total of 175 Pacific Island women were recruited for the Women's EXPLORE Study, 5 did not meet screening criteria, 25 declined testing, and 54 did not respond to invitations for testing (figure 4.1). A total of 91 women took part in the testing phase. Of these, 8 were unable to undergo a DEXA scan due to equipment malfunction, 24 did not return a RPAQ for assessment of physical activity, and 28 either under or over-reported their dietary intake in the FFQ (11 under-reported, 16 over-reported as determined by the Goldberg equation, shown in Appendix F). A total of 43 participants accurately completed all steps of the testing phase that are investigated in the present study. Where data was missing that was an independent variable (i.e. dietary data or physical activity data), they were still included in any analyses that did not involve the missing variable.

Figure 4.1: Participant recruitment



4.2 Participant Demographics

For phase two of testing, 91 pre-menopausal Pacific Island women presented at the Massey University Nutrition Research Unit, where 83 women underwent a DEXA scan. The characteristics of the 83 participants who completed all testing procedures and included in the final analysis are shown in table 4.1. Table 4.1: Summary of study population characteristics

Parameters	Participants (n=83)
Age, years	28 (21, 37)*
Height (cm)	$167.4 \pm 5.8^{+}$
Weight (kg)	$90.4 \pm 19^{+}$
BMI, kg/m ²	$32.4 \pm 6.8^{\dagger}$
Waist Circumference (cm)	$92.3 \pm 14.6^{\dagger}$
Hip Circumference (cm)	$115.9 \pm 12.7^{+}$
Waist – Hip Ratio	.79 ± .07 [†]
Body fat %	$38.4 \pm 7.6^{+}$
Fat-free, bone-free lean mass (kg)	$52.4 \pm 6.9^{+}$
Total Body BMD (g/cm ²)	$1.1 \pm 0.08^{+}$

⁺Mean ± SD, * Median (25th percentile, 75th percentile).

4.3 Bone Mineral Measures

In the present study, bone health is represented by a BMD (g/cm^2). All bone mineral measures are displayed in table 4.2

Bone Measurements	Participants (<i>n</i> =83)
TB-BMD (g/cm ²)	1.1 ± 0.08
TB-BMC (g)	2420 ± 300

Values are reported as mean ± standard deviation

Abbreviations: TB-BMD - total body bone mineral density; TB-BMC - total body bone mineral content

4.4 Body Composition Measures

As mentioned in the methods, the BodPod was used for body composition analysis due to a validation study showing that individuals with very high or low body fat % are not as accurately measured on the DXA as on the BodPod (von Hurst *et al.*, 2015). The participants had an average body weight of 90.4 ± 19 kg, which indicated that the BodPod would be best used for body composition measures. A comparison of the DXA and BodPod body composition findings is shown in table 4.3.

Parameter	Participants (n=	83)		
	DXA	BodPod	R*	P value
Total mass (kg)	91.5 ± 19.5	90.4 ± 19	.97	<.05
Body fat (kg)	33.1 ± 11.1	36.2 ± 14.5	.98	<.001
Body fat %	35.4 ± 5.2	38.4 ± 7.6	.85	<.001
Fat free mass (kg)	58.4 ± 9.6	54.8 ± 7.1	.92	<.001
Fat free bone free mass (kg)	55.9 ± 9.4	52.4 ± 6.9	.92	<.001

Table 4.3: Comparison between DXA and BodPod for body composition measures

*Pearson's correlation coefficient

4.5 Physical Activity Measures

There were 67 RPAQs returned. These were transcribed into the BPAQ online interface (www.fithdysign.com/BPAQ/) to obtain the cBPAQ score for each participant. The cBPAQ scores were not normally distributed, with the curve skewed to the left (figure 4.2). The median score was 1.7 (0.4, 5.2). This score represents a scale, rather than a quantitative measure: the BPAQ focusses specifically on physical activity that is load bearing and has the capacity to affect load bearing, and as such this score has been shown to correlate with BMD (Weeks and Beck, 2008)).



Figure 4.2: *cBPAQ score distribution with normality curve* (Kolmogorov-Smirnov normality test: *p*<.0001; Shapiro-Wilk normality test: *p*<.0001)

4.6 Dietary Analysis

A dietary analysis was obtained from the FFQs, and the Goldberg equation for under- and over-reporting was applied as described previously in the methods. Nutrient intake is shown in table 4.4, with an emphasis on bone-specific nutrients. A total of 90 participants returned FFQ data. Of these, 8 were identified as under-reporting energy intake based on their ratio of energy intake to basal metabolic rate being below the cut-off value of 1.49 (which is based on a lightly active PAL of 1.55), and 18 over-reported. This is shown in figure 4.3. The median daily energy intake was 2589 calories (1962, 3219). When determining the PAL cut off to be used in the equation, a conservative level of 1.55 was used based on the overall very low level of physical activity reported as shown in the previous section (figure 4.2). A complete list of energy intake along with calculations is shown in Appendix F.

Study population intake (per day)	New Zealand-wide intake (adult Pacific Island women) ¹	Recommended intake ²
9334 (7210, 11821)*	8318	BMR x PAL
$43 \pm 8.2^{+}$	47	45-65% of total energy
$35 \pm 7^{+}$	35.2	20-35% of total energy
18 ± 3.8 ⁺	16.2	15-25% of total energy
108.5	81	0.8-1g per kg of mass
$1016 \pm 442 \text{ mg}^{\dagger}$	653 mg	14-18 yrs: 1300 mg/day 19-50 yrs: 1000 mg/day
125 (94, 216) mg*	99 mg	14-18 yrs: 40 mg/day 19-50 yrs: 45 mg/day
$1697 \pm 602^{++}$	No data available	1000 mg/day (RDI)
$405 \pm 146^{+}$	No data available	320 mg/day (RDI)
$13.6 \pm 4.7^{+}$	11.5	8 mg/day (RDI)
1.57 (1.1, 1.8)*	No data available	1.2 mg/day (EAR)
3702 (3163, 4893)*	2764	2800 mg/day (AI)
	Study population intake (per day) $9334 (7210, 1821)^*$ $43 \pm 8.2^+$ $35 \pm 7^+$ $35 \pm 7^+$ $18 \pm 3.8^+$ 108.5 $1016 \pm 442 \text{ mg}^+$ $125 (94, 216) \text{ mg}^*$ $1697 \pm 602^+$ $405 \pm 146^+$ $1.57 (1.1, 1.8)^*$ $3702 (3163, 4893)^*$	Study population intake (per day)New Zealand-wide intake (adult Pacific Island women)1 $9334 (7210,$ $1821)*$ 8318 $11821)*$ 47 $43 \pm 8.2^{\dagger}$ 47 $35 \pm 7^{\dagger}$ 35.2 $18 \pm 3.8^{\dagger}$ 16.2 108.5 81 $1016 \pm 442 \text{ mg}^{\dagger}$ 653 mg $125 (94, 216) \text{ mg}^{\ast}$ 99 mg $1697 \pm 602^{\dagger}$ $No \ data \ available$ $13.6 \pm 4.7^{\dagger}$ 11.5 $1.57 (1.1, 1.8)*$ $No \ data \ available$ $3702 (3163,$ $4893)*$ 2764

Table 4.4: Intake of key nutrients

^{\dagger} Mean ± SD, * Median (25th percentile, 75th percentile).

1. University of Otago, & Ministry of Health. (2011). *A focus on Nutrition: Key findings of the 2008/09 New Zealand Adult Nutrition Survey*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.

2. National Health and Medical Research Council. (2006). *Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand Including Recommended Dietary Intakes*. Canberra: NHMRC



Figure 4.3. *Reporting of energy intake calculated using the Goldberg Equation* Under reported=9.7%; over-reported=22%; correctly reported=68.2%.

Three key nutrients were chosen for use in the present study: calcium, protein, and vitamin C. The RDI of each of these nutrients was met, with participants reporting an average of 1075 ± 60 mg of calcium per day, a median daily intake of 131 (95, 222) mg of vitamin C, and a protein intake of 17.6% of their total energy intake.

4.7 Associations between BMD and Predictor Variables

Correlation co-efficients were calculated to look for significant associations between the BMD and the factors measured in the present study that are well established as key predictors for BMD, which are:

- 1. Total mass
- 2. Lean mass
- 3. Body fat (kg)
- 4. Physical activity as measured by a cBPAQ score
- 5. Calcium intake
- 6. Protein intake
- 7. Vitamin C intake

Spearman's Rho was used for data that was not normally distributed (cBPAQ), and Pearson's correlation co-efficient was used for the normally distributed data (all other factors listed above). Total mass and lean mass were the only two factors to show a significant correlation

with BMD: r=.49, *n*=83, *p*<0.001 and r=.61, *n*=83, *p*<0.001 respectively (two-tailed). The scatter plots are shown in figure 4.4.





Figure 4.4: Correlations between BMD (g/cm^2) and independent variables. (a) BMD z-score versus total mass (R^2 =0.06, n=83, p<.05). (b) BMD z-score versus body fat % (R^2 =-0.1, n=83, p>.05). (c) BMD z-score versus fat-free, bone-free lean mass (R^2 =0.12, n=83, p<.01). (d) BMD z-score versus cBAQ (R^2 =0.02, n=60, p>.05). (e) BMD z-score versus calcium intake (R^2 =0, n=58, p>.05). (f) BMD z-score versus protein intake (R^2 =0, n=58, p>.05). (g) BMD z-score versus vitamin C intake (R^2 =0.02, n=58, p>.05). Abbreviations: BMD=bone mineral density; cBPAQ=current bone-specific physical activity questionnaire.

There was one outlier that was identified in the vitamin C intake. The outlier for vitamin C may be explained by over reporting dietary intake (the participant didn't report a supplement). This was removed, and the correlation calculated again. There was no change in the result (figure 4.5). The results are tabulated in table 4.5.



Figure 4.5: Vitamin C intake with outlier removed (R²=0.02, n=58, p>.05)

Variables	r	n	p	
Total mass*	.26	83	<.05**	
Lean mass (kg)*	.37	83	<.01**	
Body fat (kg)*	.12	83	>.05	
cBPAQ [†]	.07	83	>.05	
Calcium*	04	59	>.05	
Protein*	.09	59	>.05	
Vitamin C*	01	59	>.05	

Table 4.5: Correlation of predictor variables with BMD

All tests were two-tailed. *Pearson's correlation; [†]Spearman's Rho correlation **Significant

A hierarchical multiple linear regression model was used to determine how much of the variance in BMD was explained by lean mass and total mass. These predictors were selected as they showed a significant correlation with the dependent variable.

Prior to conducting the analysis, the relevant assumptions were tested. A sample size of 81 was considered sufficient given that three independent variables were included in the analysis (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2001). The assumptions for testing regression hypotheses have been met: the dependent variable (BMD) is normally distributed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk normality tests (p>0.05); the dependent variable is interval data; all residuals are independent (Durbin-Watson statistic = 1.6); the distribution of the residuals is normal when tested using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk normality tests (p>0.05); the variance of the distribution of the BMD values shows homoscedasticity (figure 4.6); there is collinearity within the data: the tolerance value is greater than 0.1 (LMO = .14; total mass = .14), and the VIF value for each independent variable falls below 10 (LMO = 7.24; total mass = 7.26) (Field, 2009). It is suggested that a tolerance value below 0.2 indicates a potential problem with bias however (Menard, 1995), so this may indicate some bias given the above tolerance values: however, they are greater than the threshold of 0.1 or less that indicates a serious problem (Field, 2009). There was a correlation between LMO and total mass ($R^2 = .68$, n=83, p<.01), however as the collinearity statistics are within the accepted limits (Field, 2009), the assumption for no multicollinearity is deemed to have been met. This indicates that this model is generalisable to the population.

A two block hierarchical multiple regression analysis was conducted using BMD as the dependent variable. Lean mass was used in the first block, as it had the strongest correlation

with BMD, and total mass was entered in the second block. Table 4.6 summarises the regression analysis results.



Figure 4.6: Homoscedasticity of BMD distribution variance

	В	SE B	95% CI <i>B</i>	Standardised β	R	R ²	ΔR ²	р
Model 1					.366	.134*	12.5	.001
Intercept	.922	.051	.821, 1.02					
LMO	.003	.001	.001, .005	.366				
Model 2					.424	.159**	4.4	.000
Intercept	.872	.055	.764, 981					
LMO	.007	.002	.003, .012	.895				
Total mass	002	.001	004, .000	571				

Table 4.6: *Hierarchical multiple regression (n=81)*

Hierarchical block-wise enter technique. *F(1,82) = 12.5; **F(2,82) = 8.77Abbreviations: LMO: lean mass only (fat-free mass g – BMC g)

The multiple regression analysis shows that lean mass significantly contributes to the model: F (1, 82) = 12.5, p< .01, and accounts for 13.4% of the variation in BMD. Introduction of the total mass variable explains a further 2.5% of the variation, with the change in R² being significant: F (2, 82) = 8.77, p<.001. Lean mass was the most important predictor for BMD, with the ability to uniquely explain 13.4% of the variance. Together, lean mass and total mass explain 15.9% of the variability in BMD.

Chapter 5

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to explore associations of key nutrients, physical activity, total mass, LMO, and body fat percentage with BMD in order to identify key predictors of bone health in Pacific Island women living in Auckland, New Zealand.

Maintaining good health is a vitally important factor in remaining independent in later years, and mobility is crucial for this. Bone loss leading to osteoporotic fractures severely impacts an older adult's ability to remain independent, and thus their quality of life: as such, osteoporosis is a serious health condition with potentially significant impact. It is estimated that 50% of women will incur an osteoporotic fracture during their lifetime, with the most common fractures being hip, spine, and forearm (Kanis et al., 2001). The most catastrophic of these are hip fractures, which result in significant loss of mobility (Taylor *et al.*, 2004, Pasco *et al.*, 2005) with an estimated 50% of sufferers requiring long term care (Osteoporosis Australia, 2001). Compounding this is an increased likelihood of early death, with 25% of people who have sustained a hip fracture dying within 12 months of the injury occurring (Kanis et al., 2003). The risk of osteoporosis can be managed with lifestyle choices from childhood, and while genetic factors play an important role, lifestyle choices can make the difference between healthy bones in old age and osteoporosis. Data looking at the contribution of different factors that affect bone health in Pacific Island women is relatively scarce. The aim of this study was to explore the associations between key predictors of bone health with bone density in New Zealand-based Pacific Island women. The objectives of this study were to firstly measure BMD, then analyse the body composition, physical activity, and key bone-specific nutrient intake of participants, then to investigate the relationships between these factors and BMD.

5.1 Summary of Outcomes

The main outcome of this study was that LMO and total mass were the only significant predictors of BMD of Pacific Island women. There was no association between dietary calcium, protein, and vitamin C, physical activity, or body fat %.
5.2 Participant Characteristics

Healthy, non-pregnant pre-menopausal women aged between 16 and 45 were recruited for this study. A total of 91 women were recruited, with a median age of 28 years (21, 37). They were of Pacific Island ethnicity.

5.3 Bone Mineral Measures

For this study, total-body BMD (g/cm^2) was used as a representation of bone health. Z-scores are often used in studies examining the bone health of pre-menopausal women. Z-scores are a measure that compares like with like: in this case, the bone density of age- and gendermatched individuals. It gives an indication of a particular score's relationship to the mean of that age-, race- and gender-matched group, with a score of 0 being the same as the mean group score. Z-scores can be positive or negative, with the value indicating the number of SDs the score falls either above or below the mean. When diagnosing osteoporosis in postmenopausal women, T-scores of the lumbar spine, femoral hip, or total hip, are used with reference to the World Health Organisation (WHO)-defined cut-off points (table 2.1). However, it is not recommend that T-scores be used in people who are under the age of 50: rather, Zscores should be used (The Writing Group for the ISCD Position Development Conference, 2004). Additionally, the T-score classification is only applicable in measurements of the spine, hip, and forearm - not total body as is used in this study. Primary osteoporosis in postmenopausal women is defined according the T-score cut-off points set by the WHO (NIH Osteoporosis and Related Bone Diseases National Resource Centre, 2012). There is currently no agreed definition of osteoporosis in pre-menopausal women, however the International Society for Clinical Densitometry recommends that a Z-score of less than -2.0 defines having bone density that is "below the expected range for age" (Leib, 2004). A Z-score of -2 or less is likely to occur in 2.5% of pre-menopausal women (Lewiecki, 2005). A low PBM as defined by a Z-score of -2 or less is an established risk-factor for osteoporosis in later life (Matkovic et al., 1990, Gordon et al., 1991, Lloyd et al., 1992, Matkovic et al., 1994). For diagnosis of osteoporosis in pre-menopausal women, a non-traumatic fracture, and/or densitromic measures can be used, however routine screening of bone density in healthy pre-menopausal women is not recommended, as there is a scarcity of prospective studies examining fracture risk in relation to BMD by DXA (Cohen and Shane, 2013). However, due to the fact there is not a "Pacific Island" database available, using the Z-score as a variable in this study would not be a truly accurate representation of the bone health of the study group, thus it was decided that BMD would better serve the purposes of identifying the strongest predictors of bone health.

In the present study, subjects were age-matched and gender-matched. However, due to lack of data on the BMD of Pacific Islanders, the only ethnic groups available were Caucasian, Hispanic, and African. It was decided that the Caucasian category would be used as the reference population. This presented an opportunity to see how Pacific Island women fare compared to Caucasian women in lieu of other data being available at the present time. Regardless of what bone mineral indices are measured (i.e. BMC, BMD, or Z-score), the distribution of scores was approximately normal. In the Caucasian reference database, approximately 70% have a BMD Z-Score that falls within 1 SD of the age-matched, gendermatched, and ethnicity-matched mean, with 95% falling within 2 SDs. A further 15% have a BMD that is greater than 1 SD below the mean, and 2.5% more than 2 SD below the mean (Kanis *et al.*, 1997). This is summarised and compared to the study group in table 5.1. Although these reference points are established using T-Scores, Z-scores in pre-menopausal women are typically either identical or extremely similar (Lewiecki, 2005).

Table 5.1: Percentage of European and Pacific Island Women in different Z-Score categories

Reference Points	Reference Group (Caucasian) ¹	Study Group (Pacific Island)
Within 1 SDs of the	70%	59%
mean		
Within 2 SDs of the	95%	89%
mean		
Greater than 1 SDs	15%	17.6%
below the mean		
Greater than 2 SDs	2.5%	1.1%
below the mean		
Greater than 2.5 SDs	0.6%	0%
below the mean		

Abbreviations: SDs=standard deviations

1. Kanis, J., Delmas, P., Burckhardt, P., Cooper, C., & Torgerson, D. (1997). Guidelines for diagnosis and management of osteoporosis. *Osteoporosis International*, 7(4), 390-406.

This shows that compared to the standard Caucasian reference database, fewer Pacific Island women had low bone mas: however, this would benefit from a more in depth analysis of the raw data, which would provide insight into the statistical significance of this.

The participants in the present study can be compared to findings in an earlier study, in which the BMC of 96 Pacific Island women with a mean age of 42 ± 14 years was measured (table 5.2). This shows that the present study group has a lower BMC than the group from the other study.

The BMI of the other study group was normally distributed however, while the BMI of the present study wasn't, so there are some differences in body composition between the two groups which may explain the difference in BMC.

Variables	Present Study	Rush et. al ¹
Age (years)	28 (21, 37)*	$42 \pm 14^{+}$
BMI (kg/m²)	31.4 (26.9, 36.9)*	$33.1 \pm 6.3^{+}$
BMC (kg)	2.424 ± 0.296	$2.665 \pm 0.403^{+}$

Table 5.2: Comparison of findings between present study and study by Rush et. al.

*Median (25th, 75th percentiles); [†]Mean ± SD

1. Rush, E. C., Freitas, I., & Plank, L. D. (2009). Body size, body composition and fat distribution: comparative analysis of European, Maori, Pacific Island and Asian Indian adults. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *102*(04), 632-641.

For this study, total body BMD was calculated. Regional sites, most commonly lumbar spine and femoral hip, are often used - particularly when assessing the bone health of postmenopausal women. These are clinically relevant sites as the hip and spine are where the majority of fragility fractures are sustained, and additionally such fractures can have the greatest impact on mobility, independence, and mortality. Many methods of assessing bone density, including total body, are not volumetric (mass divided by a volume), but rather areal. There is potential for this missing volume value to cause different bone sizes to be a confounding factor, and it has been suggested that this could be reduced by dividing the areal BMD by the height (Reid *et al.*, 1992b). However, this adjustment was not applied to the present study.

In terms of site-specific versus total body scans, total body scans afford the opportunity to gain other important data relating to body composition. The aim of this study was to identify predictors of BMD in pre-menopausal Pacific Island women, which is not a group typically associated with risk of osteoporosis or fragility fractures. As such, is not necessary to conduct site-specific bone scans. Furthermore, given the strong correlations established between total body and site-specific scans (Franck and Munz, 2000, Hammami *et al.*, 2001, Hangartner *et al.*, 2000, Lu *et al.*, 1994, Nysom *et al.*, 1998), total body BMD is an appropriate approach for the present study.

5.4 Body Composition Measures

As discussed in the literature review, it is probable that body composition plays an important role in bone health, with evidence for lean mass and fat mass, as well as total mass.

The mean weight was 90.4kg \pm 19, and median BMI 32.4 kg/m² \pm 6.8. The overall range of BMI scores are comparable to New Zealand-wide BMI scores of Pacific Island women, and are shown in table 5.3.

Table 5.3: Comparison of BMI scores between study group and NZ-wide Pacific Island women

BMI Range (kg/m ²)	Study group (%)	New Zealand-wide (%) ¹
18.5-24.9	13.2	13.7
25-29.9	28.6	26.5
≥30	58.2	59.5

1. Ministry of Health. (2014). *Annual Update of Key Results 2013/14: New Zealand Health Survey*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.

As described in the results, the BodPod has a high level of agreement with the DXA except for when an individual has a very high or very low body fat %. The mean body fat % was $38.4\% \pm 7.6$. While there is currently no consensus as to what constitutes an appropriate threshold for defining a high body fat % (Oliveros *et al.*, 2014), in 1995 the WHO published a report in which it defined obesity in women as $\geq 35\%$ body fat (World Health Organization, 1995). However since then, the American Society of Bariatric Physicians (ASBP), who are an American Medical Association specialty board, published guidelines of $\geq 30\%$ for women, which is used in most studies examining adiposity (Okorodudu *et al.*, 2010). Based on this, the average body fat % of $38.4\% \pm 7.6$ found in the study population can reasonably considered to be high, therefore justifying the use of the BodPod for body composition measures.

There was a positive correlation between total weight and BMD, however the relationship was not as strong as expected. Other observational studies generally show a much stronger relationship between total weight and bone density (Finkelstein *et al.*, 2013, Felson *et al.*, 1993, Edelstein and Barrettconnor, 1993). There was a much stronger relationship between lean mass and BMD z-score however. This is consistent with other studies, in which there is a general consensus that lean mass is a significant predictor of total-body BMD in pre-menopausal women (Douchi *et al.*, 1997, Ijuin *et al.*, 2002).

It is well known that Pacific Island people are typically very muscular as compared to most other races. One study looking at the differences in body size and composition showed that Pacific Island women were significantly (P<.0001) more muscular than European, Maori, and Asian women, with a mean FFM of 46.4kg and appendicular skeletal muscle mass (ASMM) of 18.3kg (Rush *et al.*, 2009). The mean FFM of the current study group is 54.8 ± 7.1 kg, even

higher than that of the other study. This is interesting, as the reported physical activity was skewed to the left (see figure 4.2 in previous chapter), and high muscle mass that is implied from a high FFM is typically associated with greater physical activity. It is possible that this apparent discrepancy is due to a combination of genetic traits and the fact that everyday activity would have greater intensity for somebody who is carrying a high body weight. It could also be a limitation of how physical activity was assessed in this study: as mentioned earlier the cBPAQ focuses specifically on loading, and incidental activity, as well as history, could have a significant bearing on FFM.

A limitation of how the present study was analysed was that ASMM may have been a more appropriate variable to use than the LMO variable. ASMM is calculated by subtracting the total limb mass, minus the sum of wet bone mass (BMC divided by 0.55) and limb fat, a model which is thought appropriate as it is assumed that the weight of dermal tissue is negligible compared to the skeletal muscle (Heymsfield *et al.*, 1990). This is a practical method that could have been utilised for the present study with relative ease as the necessary data for the calculations are available on the DXA scans of each participant, and as such would have been a more appropriate choice.

5.5 Physical Activity Measures

Physical activity is an important factor when considering bone health, as it not only increases lean and total mass which has a beneficial effect on bone, it places the bones under mechanical force which has a direct osteogenic affect through the WNT/b-Catenin signalling pathway.

Participants were asked to complete an RPAQ, and a total of 67 RPAQs were returned. The RPAQ assesses physical activity in four domains over the previous month: leisure, work, commuting, and home. There has been a validity study amongst participants from 10 European countries, which show that the RPAQ can be confidently used in large-scale epidemiological studies (Golubic *et al.*, 2014). A systematic review shows the RPAQ has acceptable reliability with an intra-class correlation coefficient of 0.76, but just moderate validity at best (Helmerhorst *et al.*, 2012). Overall, the RPAQ is a valid way of assessing adult's self-reported physical activity (Besson *et al.*, 2010). However, for the purposes of this study, it was determined that the BPAQ would be more appropriate. This is a recently developed questionnaire that assesses physical activity that creates mechanical loading on bone that

results in an osteogenic effect. The RPAQ, while a valid and reliable way of assessing overall physical activity, doesn't specifically account for mechanical loading on bone.

Overall, the cBPAQ score for the majority of participants was extremely low, indicating little load-bearing physical activity. This is weakly reflected in the Sport and Recreation New Zealand (SPARC) Physical Activity and Sport survey from 2003 (SPARC, 2003), which shows that Pacific Island adults are less active than non-Pacific. However, it does show that 58% of Pacific Island women are considered to be active, which seems to be significantly more than the cohort in the present study. There are several possible reasons for the low physical activity reported by the women in this study: busyness due to family and/or church commitments; lack of culturally-specific resources and support; and lack of awareness of the importance of physical activity.

Being the primary caregiver of children in a family is arguably one of the most time-consuming roles a person can do. The participants in this study were all of child-bearing age: that is, postmenarcheal and pre-menopausal. Pacific Islanders typically have larger than average families: Pacific Island women have the highest birth rate of all ethnicities, with 11.4 completed pregnancies per 100 women of a reproductive age, as compared to the total for all ethnicities together of 7 completed pregnancies per 100 women (Ministry of Health, 2012a). Furthermore, there is an average of 4.4 people in a Pacific Island household, as compared to 2.7 for all of New Zealand (Tukuitonga, 2012b), which is due not just to higher birth rates but increased likelihood of extended family living in the same household (Commission, 2004). The median birth age for Pacific Island women is 27.7 years (Ministry of Health, 2012a, Tukuitonga, 2012a), which is almost identical to the median age of the study population of 28 years. In Pacific Island families, the traditional role of the mother is often to stay home to care for the children (Griffen, 2006). The amount of time required to care for large families can greatly impact the amount of free time the mother may have for sport and recreational activities, which in turn can result in low reporting of physical activity. However, the incidental activity that results from caring for children cannot be discounted. Such activity is not accounted for in the BPAQ, yet it likely contributes a significant amount of activity. Family size, completed pregnancies, and the number of people living in the household were not investigated as part of the present study, which is a limitation: this would have allowed better assessment of incidental physical activity related to family care activities.

Church involvement is another factor that can require a lot of time and commitment, which could further reduce time available for physical activity. In the Pacific Islands, church plays a central role, around which families and community life is built, with the church minister a powerful and respected person. In New Zealand, as much as 97% of Pacific Island groups have an association with a Christian religion (Statistics New Zealand, 2007), and 76% of Pacific Islanders regularly attending church (Dewes *et al.*, 2013). With church and family commitments, it is possible that there would be little time left for engaging in sport and recreational activity. However, it has been suggested that Pacific Island children who attend church are more physically active than Pacific Island non-attendees, as evidenced by rates of sedentary behaviours, such as watching TV or playing video games (Dewes *et al.*, 2013). Whether this translates to adults is unclear.

Awareness of the importance of physical activity may also be a factor, along with perceived associated cost. Physical activity is well promoted in New Zealand, but usually in conjunction with specific goals such as reducing diabetes risk and weight loss. It is possible that people may not think the exercise recommendations necessarily apply to them. Additionally, the potential perceived cost of exercise may be a barrier, such as the cost of gym memberships or team fees for sports.

An important limitation to consider of the use of the BPAQ in this study was that only the current bone-specific physical activity (cBPAQ) was able to be used, as historical data was not available from the RPAQ questionnaires. Bone mass attained in childhood and adolescence is one of the most crucial determinants of bone mass throughout the lifespan. Had historical data been obtained, the past bone-specific physical activity questionnaire (pBPAQ) score and total bone-specific physical activity questionnaire (tBPAQ) score could have been utilised in the present analysis, which would provide a much more robust picture of the determinants of bone health in Pacific Island women. This is further affirmed in a study of the correlations between pBPAQ and cBPAQ scores, and densitometry measures of bone, which showed that the cBPAQ predicts bone health at the hip, spine, and total body for healthy young men but not women, but the pBPAQ predicts bone strength at the heel for healthy young women (Weeks and Beck, 2008). Additionally, there was only a moderate association between the current and past scores of the BPAQ (r=0.33, p=.04), which suggests that low physical activity in adulthood does not necessarily mean low physical activity in childhood and adolescence – which as mentioned in the literature review is a key determinant of life-long bone health.

Indeed, it is feasible that this limitation could explain the left-skewed distribution of physical activity and subsequent lack of correlation with BMD Z-score: a pBPAQ may well have revealed greater physical activity in childhood and adolescence which would help explain the generally excellent BMD of Pacific Island women in this study. Backing this up is data from the SPARC Physical Activity and Sport Survey 2003, which shows a trend of decreasing physical activity with increasing age during childhood (table 5.4). This also shows that physical activity briefly increases between the ages of 18 and 20, before sharply dropping again between 25 and 34. This may reflect childbearing years, and more time committed to being spent at home caring for families.

Age Groups	Inactive %	Active %
5-8 yrs	52	48
9-12 yrs	45	55
13-15 yrs	44	56
16-17 yrs	48	52
18-24 yrs	25	75
25-34 yrs	49	51
35-49 yrs	38	62

Table 5.4: Changing levels of physical activity with age in Pacific Islanders

SPARC. (2003). SPARC Facts: Results of the New Zealand Sport and Physical Activity Surveys (1997-2001). Wellington: SPARC.

Another limitation is that by comparing the cBPAQ scores with a New Zealand-wide report on physical activity, like is not being compared with like. As mentioned previously, the BPAQ does focus specifically on loading activity, and doesn't take into consideration the duration of exercise – just the frequency. It also doesn't consider incidental exercise, which is a well-established way to reach the recommended 30 minutes a day of activity: indeed, it is entirely possible that this population may be reaching or exceeding 30 minutes a day of activity, but this is not quantified in the BPAQ.

5.6 Dietary Measures

Dietary intake makes up another piece of the puzzle of good bone health, with a wide range of nutrients having an effect on bone health. For this study, it was determined that calcium, protein, and vitamin C were the three nutrients of greatest importance to include in the analysis. Dietary calcium is typically thought to be one of the most important factors in the attainment of good bone health (Shea *et al.*, 2002, Tang *et al.*, 2007, Winzenberg *et al.*, 2006). Protein is another critical nutrient in bone health – although the nature of its role has been

contentious, is emerging as a positive factor (Bonjour, 2005, Rizzoli *et al.*, 2007, Sahni *et al.*, 2014). This is backed up by other research and sources: adequate dietary protein helps obtain and preserve lean muscle mass (Cooper *et al.*, 1996, Rizzoli and Bonjour, 2004), and is a significant determinant in the level of PBM achieved by pre-menopausal white women (Cooper *et al.*, 1996). Although the present study was conducted amongst Pacific Island women, the proposed mechanism by which protein promotes bone mass could likely still be applied (i.e. attainment and preservation of lean mass). Lastly, vitamin C was included due to its important role in collagen synthesis, which makes up a large proportion of the bone matrix. It is also likely that oxidative stress contributes to increasing fragility of the bone matrix, which dietary vitamin C may help combat (Wauquier *et al.*, 2009, Sugiura *et al.*, 2011).

Participants completed a validated FFQ to assess their intake of calcium, protein, and vitamin C, with a total of 91 returned. An FFQ is a cost-effective and efficient tool for assessing dietary intake in large populations. Previously, food records were commonly used to gather dietary data, with the participants recording their food and fluid intake for a set period of time: however both the participant burden and data handling overhead associated with this is significant (Willett, 2013). As such, a validated FFQ is a cost- and time-effective solution for a study such as this (Willett, 2013, R, 2005).

Validity of dietary data relies upon it meeting the basic premise that energy in should equate to energy out. One of the exclusion criteria of this study was that the participants were not losing weight, thus this premise can be applied to the present cohort. To check for over- and under-reporting prior to data analysis, the Goldberg equation was applied to the dietary data. The PAL used to calculate the cut-off points that determined under and over reporting was 1.55: this was decided upon due to the physical activity data showing overall low physical activity for the participants. This resulted in 25 of the 91 FFQs were eliminated due to either under- or over-reporting of data. Possible reasons for over- and under-reporting are social desirability bias, or lack of concentration/comparison with others. FFQs have been shown to be susceptible to social desirability bias (Smith *et al.*, 1991, Miller *et al.*, 2008), which may explain the nine under-reporters. However there were many more over-reporters (18). When a person is confronted with a long list of food items within a particular food category, actual intake tends to be over-estimated (Willett, 2013). However, while the raw FFQ data for the present study had an adjustment factor applied to it, it was only for the fruit and vegetable sections, as this has what has been shown to be most frequently over-reported in other

studies (Cade *et al.*, 2002). Another possible reason for the over-reporting in this particular group was that participants completed the FFQs on computers that were in the same room, and despite being instructed to complete the FFQ individually as set out in the standard operation procedure (SOP), due to many of the participants being recruited from Church groups, they knew each other well, and there was a lot of discussion and joking which was challenging to prevent. It is probable that the discussion and joking that was taking place provided sufficient distraction from the task at hand to result in the over-reporting of dietary intake. In future, this might be overcome by having computers in separate rooms, or having the participants complete the FFQ one at a time.

With the validated FFQ used for this study (Houston, 2014), raw FFQ data was multiplied by an adjustment factor for the fruit and vegetable sections, which then allowed the dietary data to be analysed as raw and adjusted data. When compared to a weighed four day food record, the FFQ had good relative validity, with minimal difference to the findings following fruit and vegetable adjustment (Houston, 2014).

Overall, participants reported adequate intakes of calcium, protein and vitamin C, which is discrepant with the most recent 2008/09 New Zealand Adult Nutrition Survey results (table 5.5). However, the reported intake meets the recommended intake set by the Ministry of Health (National Health and Medical Research Council, 2006).

Nutrient	Study population intake (per day)	New Zealand-wide intake (adult Pacific Island women) ¹	Recommended intake ²
Calcium	1075 ± 60 mg	653 mg	14-18 yrs: 1300 mg/day
			19-50 yrs: 1000 mg/day
Protein	17.6% of energy	16.9% of energy	15-25% of energy
Protein	1.2 g/kg of mass	Not available	0.8-1 g/kg of mass
(g/kg)			
Vitamin C	131 (95, 222) mg	99 mg	14-18 yrs: 40 mg/day
			19-50 yrs: 45 mg/day

1. University of Otago, & Ministry of Health. (2011). *A focus on Nutrition: Key findings of the 2008/09 New Zealand Adult Nutrition Survey*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.

2. National Health and Medical Research Council. (2006). *Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand Including Recommended Dietary Intakes*. Canberra: NHMRC

A key nutrient that should ideally have been included in this study is vitamin D. Vitamin D enhances the absorption of calcium and another important nutrient in bone health,

phosphorous (National Health and Medical Research Council, 2006). Vitamin D is obtained from sunlight exposure and dietary sources. It is not known how much vitamin D is obtained from sunlight exposure; however it is undoubtedly the most important source (Glerup et al., 2000, Holick, 1996, Rasmussen et al., 2000). Indeed, it is probable that in certain situations, all of the required vitamin D can be provided by sun exposure alone. However, as noted in the literature review, there are many factors that determine the amount of cutaneous vitamin D synthesis that occurs in response to sunlight. Dark skin, latitude, time of year, dress, and time spent outdoors are all important. Where cutaneous production may be lower than usual, such as during winter, dietary sources become more important. Given these factors, assessing true exposure to vitamin D production in a study such as this (i.e. observational) is a challenging prospect. This is supported by a review of the literature that examines the validity of sunlight exposure questionnaires, which shows that such measures provide inexact estimates of vitamin D status (McCarty, 2008). A potential solution is to assess vitamin D status through a blood test; however this method is also susceptible to weaknesses. Serum 25-OH-D is a volatile measure that is prone to change: just two sunny days may make a significant difference. Participants would need to be all tested on the same day, and several tests over the space of a year – for example, one test each season, to obtain an average would also be needed for an accurate result. Unfortunately, such rigorous testing was not possible under the scope of this study. Although there is dietary vitamin D data available, it was determined that due to the negligible input this has into overall vitamin D status, it was not a suitable for use as part of the present study. With that said, there is evidence showing high rates of Vitamin D deficiency in dark-skinned Australian migrant groups (Grover and Morley, 2001), in which case dietary vitamin D may be considered an important aspect to consider. In New Zealand, rates of vitamin D deficiency among Pacific Island adults are 10%, and they are 2.3 times as likely to be vitamin D deficient as non-Pacific Island adults (Ministry of Health, 2012b). Not including vitamin D status or sunlight exposure is a weakness of this study, and in future research, vitamin D should be included in order to provide a more robust analysis of the contributing factors to bone health.

There were no associations between dietary calcium, protein, or vitamin C, and Z-score. This is at odds with other research, which consistently shows a strong relationship between these nutrients and BMD in both pre- and post-menopausal women of varying ethnicities, and in looking at both total body and site-specific BMD. Taking into consideration that there is such a large unexplained proportion in the variation of BMD, this reinforces the role of genetics in determining BMD (Ralston and de Crombrugghe, 2006). This is further reinforced when considering that the 2008/09 New Zealand Adult Nutrition Survey indicates that Pacific Island women are having well below the daily recommended intake of calcium (Ministry of Health, 2014), yet all previous studies investigating bone in Pacific Islanders report general excellent bone health with the lowest rates of osteoporosis in the world (Rush *et al.*, 2009, Reid *et al.*, 1986, Norton *et al.*, 1995, Davis *et al.*, 1994, Cundy *et al.*, 1995).

Chapter 6

Conclusion

6.1 Summary

A wide-ranging review of the literature around factors contributing to bone health was conducted, along with a review of existing research on the bone health of Pacific Island women. It was found that diet, physical activity, and body composition all play complex and interlinking roles in determining BMD. These factors must all be considered together as they have the ability to not only affect bone directly, but indirectly through effects on each other, such as the effect of diet and physical activity on fat mass. Additionally, how much one particular factor affects bone can also vary depending on the skeletal site of measurement (site-specific vs. total body), which indices are used (BMC, BMD, Z-score, T-score, height adjusted or not), menopausal status, and race.

To date, there has been six studies investigating bone content or density of Pacific Islanders, which consistently show high BMD or BMC compared to other races. For the present study, BMD was assessed using a total body scan, body composition was analysed in the DXA and BodPod, and dietary intake was taken from a validated FFQ. The participants in this study had high body mass, body fat, and LMO, with low rates of physical activity, and adequate intake of calcium, protein, and vitamin C. LMO and total mass has a significant positive associated with BMD, with LMO having the ability to uniquely explain 13.4% of the variance in BMD, and total mass explaining 2.5%. This leaves 84.1% of the variance unexplained, but it is likely due largely to genetic influences.

6.2 General Study Limitations

Although specific limitations relating to the gathering of body composition data, physical activity measures, and dietary intake have been detailed in the discussion, there was some general limitations around recruitment and participation.

This was a somewhat challenging group to recruit, and we found it was necessary to go through a person of authority in a church group. However due to social structures, there were times when it became apparent some participants were taking part out a sense of duty, which may have compromised the quality of self-reported data that was obtained. Due to the large scope of the wider study, it was also necessary for participants to travel to the Nutrition Research Unit and Massey University's Albany campus, located on Auckland's North Shore. This is a considerable distance from South Auckland, where the majority of Pacific Island people live, and were thus recruited from. Many of the potential participants cited distance and travel time as barriers for taking part. In future, research utilising portable equipment may encourage greater participant recruitment and retention.

6.3 Future Applications and Research

There is currently a large focus around reduction of obesity rates. Awareness of the importance of LMO in determining BMD in pre-menopausal Pacific Island women could be useful when designing weight loss interventions or healthy lifestyle programs: a focus around good sources of protein, with a protein intake at the higher end of the AMDR, and increasing physical activity would help maintain muscle mass through any weight-loss efforts.

Accurate assessment of physical activity and dietary intake using more robust methods of assessment to establish if there truly is no association between these and BMD would be beneficial to undertake as a future research project. Future research could also examine patterns of physical activity and diet throughout childhood and adolescence leading to when PBM is achieved in order to assess their contribution to bone growth in Pacific Islanders, and to look at BMD in post-menopausal Pacific Island women to ascertain if high bone mass persists beyond the menopause.

References

- Akcay, M. N., Akcay, G. & Bilen, H. 2004. The effects of calcitonin on bone resorption in hyperthyroidism: A placebo-controlled clinical study. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism*, 22, 90-93.
- Akjba, T., Kurihara, S. & Tachibana, K. 1991. Vitamin k increased bone mass in hemo-dialysis patients with low-turnover bone disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 608, 42P.
- Aloia, J. F., Vaswani, A., Ma, R. M. & Flaster, E. 1995. To what extent is bone mass determined by fat-free or fat mass. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 61, 1110-1114.
- Anderson, J. J. B., Garner, S. C. & Klemmer, P. J. (eds.) 2012. *Diet, nutrients, and bone health,* Florida, USA: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Andrew, T., Antioniades, L., Scurrah, K. J., Macgregor, A. J. & Spector, T. D. 2005. Risk of wrist fracture in women is heritable and is influenced by genes that are largely independent of those influencing bmd. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 20, 67-74.
- Arnett, T. R. & Dempster, D. W. 1986. Effect of ph on bone-resorption by rat osteoclasts in vitro. *Endocrinology*, 119, 119-124.
- Bai, X. C., Lu, D., Liu, A. L., Zhang, Z. M., Li, X. M., Zou, Z. P., Zeng, W. S., Cheng, B. L. & Luo, S. Q. 2005. Reactive oxygen species stimulates receptor activator of nf-kappa b ligand expression in osteoblast. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280, 17497-17506.
- Balemans, W., Patel, N., Ebeling, M., Van Hul, E., Wuyts, W., Lacza, C., Dioszegi, M., Dikkers, F. G., Hildering, P., Willems, P. J., Verheij, J., Lindpaintner, K., Vickery, B., Foernzler, D. & Van Hul, W. 2002. Identification of a 52 kb deletion downstream of the sost gene in patients with van buchem disease. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 39, 91-97.
- Baron, R. & Kneissel, M. 2013. Wnt signaling in bone homeostasis and disease: From human mutations to treatments. *Nature Medicine*, 19, 179-192.

- Baumgartner, R. N., Stauber, P. M., Koehler, K. M., Romero, L. & Garry, P. J. 1996. Associations of fat and muscle masses with bone mineral in elderly men and women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 63, 365-372.
- Beasley, J. M., Ichikawa, L. E., Ange, B. A., Spangler, L., Lacroix, A. Z., Ott, S. M. & Scholes, D. 2010. Is protein intake associated with bone mineral density in young women? *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 91, 1311-1316.
- Beattie, J. H. & Peace, H. S. 1993. The influence of a low-boron diet and boron supplementation on bone, major mineral and sex steorid-metabolism in postmenopausal women. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 69, 871-884.
- Behringer, M., Gruetzner, S., Mccourt, M. & Mester, J. 2014. Effects of weightbearing activities on bone mineral content and density in children and adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 29, 467-478.
- Berard, A., Bravo, G. & Gauthier, P. 1997. Meta-analysis of the effectiveness of physical activity for the prevention of bone loss in postmenopausal women. *Osteoporosis International*, 7, 331-337.
- Bergman, G. J. D., Fan, T., Mcfetridge, J. T. & Sen, S. S. 2010. Efficacy of vitamin d(3) supplementation in preventing fractures in elderly women: A meta-analysis. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 26, 1193-1201.
- Bernstein, C. N., Leslie, W. D. & Leboff, M. S. 2003. Aga technical review on osteoporosis in gastrointestinal diseases. *Gastroenterology*, 124, 795-841.
- Bertoldi Franco, C. 2014. Osteoporosis in gastrointestinal diseases. *Translational Gastrointestinal Cancer*, 4, 57-68.
- Besson, H., Brage, S., Jakes, R. W., Ekelund, U. & Wareham, N. J. 2010. Estimating physical activity energy expenditure, sedentary time, and physical activity intensity by self-report in adults. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 91, 106-114.

- Binkley, N. C. & Suttie, J. W. 1995. Vitamin-k nutrition and osteoporosis. *Journal of Nutrition*, 125, 1812-1821.
- Bischoff-Ferrari, H. A., Dawson-Hughes, B., Baron, J. A., Burckhardt, P., Li, R., Spiegelman, D., Specker, B., Orav, J. E., Wong, J. B., Staehelin, H. B., O'reilly, E., Kiel, D. P. & Willett, W. C. 2007. Calcium intake and hip fracture risk in men and women: A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies and randomized controlled trials. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 86, 1780-1790.
- Blain, H., Vuillemin, A., Guillemin, F., Durant, R., Hanesse, B., De Talance, N., Doucet, B. & Jeandel, C. 2002. Serum leptin level is a predictor of bone mineral density in postmenopausal women. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 87, 1030-1035.
- Bogl, L. H., Latvala, A., Kaprio, J., Sovijarvi, O., Rissanen, A. & Pietilainen, K. H. 2011. An investigation into the relationship between soft tissue body composition and bone mineral density in a young adult twin sample. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 26, 79-87.
- Bolland, M. J., Barber, P. A., Doughty, R. N., Mason, B., Horne, A., Ames, R., Gamble, G. D., Grey, A. & Reid, I. R. 2008. Vascular events in healthy older women receiving calcium supplementation: Randomised controlled trial. *British Medical Journal*, 336, 262-266.
- Bonewald, L. F. & Johnson, M. L. 2008. Osteocytes, mechanosensing and wnt signaling. *Bone*, 42, 606-615.
- Bonjour, J. P. 2005. Dietary protein: An essential nutrient for bone health. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition,* 24, 526S-536S.
- Borer, K. T. 2005. Physical activity in the prevention and amelioration of osteoporosis in women interaction of mechanical, hormonal and dietary factors. *Sports Medicine*, 35, 779-830.
- Boyden, L. M., Mao, J. H., Belsky, J., Mitzner, L., Farhi, A., Mitnick, M. A., Wu, D. Q., Insogna, K. & Lifton, R. P. 2002. High bone density due to a mutation in ldl-receptor-related protein 5. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 346, 1513-1521.

- Brunkow, M. E., Gardner, J. C., Van Ness, J., Paeper, B. W., Kovacevich, B. R., Proll, S., Skonier, J. E., Zhao, L., Sabo, P. J., Fu, Y. H., Alisch, R. S., Gillett, L., Colbert, T., Tacconi, P., Galas, D., Hamersma, H., Beighton, P. & Mulligan, J. T. 2001. Bone dysplasia sclerosteosis results from loss of the sost gene product, a novel cystine knot-containing protein. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 68, 577-589.
- Burger, E. H. & Klein-Nulend, J. 1999. Mechanotransduction in bone role of the lacuno-canalicular network. *Faseb Journal*, 13, S101-S112.
- Burger, E. H., Kleinnulend, J., Vanderplas, A. & Nijweide, P. J. 1995. Function of osteocytes in bone their role in mechanotransduction. *Journal of Nutrition*, 125, S2020-S2023.
- Cade, J., Thompson, R., Burley, V. & Warm, D. 2002. Development, validation and utilisation of food-frequency questionnaires–a review. *Public Health Nutrition,* 5, 567-587.
- Cadigan, K. M. & Peifer, M. 2009. Wnt signaling from development to disease: Insights from model systems. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 1.
- Caputo, E. L. & Costa, M. Z. 2014. Influence of physical activity on quality of life in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. *Revista Brasileira De Reumatologia*, 54, 467-473.
- Carling, T., Ridefelt, P., Hellman, P., Juhlin, C., Lundgren, E., Akerstrom, G. & Rastad, J. 1998. Vitamin d receptor gene polymorphism and parathyroid calcium sensor protein (cas/gp330) expression in primary hyperparathyroidism. *World Journal of Surgery*, 22, 700-707.
- Case, N., Ma, M., Sen, B., Xie, Z., Gross, T. S. & Rubin, J. 2008. Beta-catenin levels influence rapid mechanical responses in osteoblasts. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283, 29196-29205.
- Caverzasio, J., Montessuit, C. & Bonjour, J. P. 1990. Stimulatory effect of insulin-like growth factor-1 on renal pi transport and plasma 1,25dihydroxyvitamin-d3. *Endocrinology*, 127, 453-459.

- Chambers, T. J. & Fuller, K. 1985. Bone-cells predispose bone surfaces to resorption by exposure of mineral to osteoclastic contact. *Journal of Cell Science*, 76, 155-165.
- Chaudhri, M. A., Kemmler, W., Harsch, I. & Watling, R. J. 2009. Plasma copper and bone mineral density in osteopenia: An indicator of bone mineral density in osteopenic females. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 129, 94-98.
- Chen, T. C., Chimeh, F., Lu, Z., Mathieu, J., Person, K. S., Zhang, A., Kohn, N., Martinello, S., Berkowitz, R. & Holick, M. F. 2007. Factors that influence the cutaneous synthesis and dietary sources of vitamin d. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 460, 213-217.
- Chen, Z., Lohman, T. G., Stini, W. A., Ritenbaugh, C. & Aickin, M. 1997. Fat or lean tissue mass: Which one is the major determinant of bone mineral mass in healthy postmenopausal women? *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 12, 144-151.
- Chevalley, T., Bonjour, J.-P., Ferrari, S. & Rizzoli, R. 2008. Influence of age at menarche on forearm bone microstructure in healthy young women. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 93, 2594-2601.
- Chevalley, T., Bonjour, J.-P., Ferrari, S. & Rizzoli, R. 2009. Deleterious effect of late menarche on distal tibia microstructure in healthy 20-year-old and premenopausal middle-aged women. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 24, 144-152.
- Cho, S. H. 2005. The relationship between bone mineral density and body composition variables measured by dexa in postmenopausal women. *Korean Journal of Family Medicine*, 26, 32-40.
- Chuin, A., Labonte, M., Tessier, D., Khalil, A., Bobeuf, F., Doyon, C. Y., Rieth, N. & Dionne, I. J. 2009. Effect of antioxidants combined to resistance training on bmd in elderly women: A pilot study. *Osteoporosis International*, 20, 1253-1258.

- Cohen, A. & Shane, E. 2013. Evaluation and management of the premenopausal woman with low bmd. *Current Osteoporosis Reports*, 11, 276-85.
- Commission, F. 2004. New Zealand families today, a briefing for the families commission. *Retrieved October*, 10, 2004.
- Compston, J. E., Bhambhani, M., Laskey, M. A., Murphy, S. & Khaw, K. T. 1992. Body-composition and bone mass in postmenopausal women. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 37, 426-431.
- Cooper, C., Atkinson, E. J., Hensrud, D. D., Wahner, H. W., Ofallon, W. M., Riggs, B. L. & Melton, L. J. 1996. Dietary protein intake and bone mass in women. *Calcified Tissue International*, 58, 320-325.
- Cooper, C., Atkinson, E. J., Ofallon, W. M. & Melton, L. J. 1992. Incidence of clinically diagnosed vertebral fractures - a population-based study in rochester, minnesota, 1985-1989. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 7, 221-227.
- Cummings, S. R. & Melton, L. J. 2002. Epidemiology and outcomes of osteoporotic fractures. *Lancet*, 359, 1761-1767.
- Cummings, S. R., Nevitt, M. C., Browner, W. S., Stone, K., Fox, K. M., Ensrud, K. E., Cauley, J. C., Black, D. & Vogt, T. M. 1995. Risk-factors for hip fracture in white women. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 332, 767-773.
- Cundy, T., Cornish, J., Evans, M. C., Gamble, G., Stapleton, J. & Reid, I. R. 1995. Sources of interracial variation in bone-mineral density. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 10, 368-373.
- Currey, J. D. 1969. The mechanical consequences of variation in the mineral content of bone. *Journal of biomechanics*, 2, 1-11.
- Darling, A. L., Millward, D. J., Torgerson, D. J., Hewitt, C. E. & Lanham-New, S. A. 2009. Dietary protein and bone health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 90, 1674-1692.

- Davey, R. A. & Findlay, D. M. 2013. Calcitonin: Physiology or fantasy? *Journal* of Bone and Mineral Research, 28, 973-979.
- Davis, J. W., Novotny, R., Ross, P. D. & Wasnich, R. D. 1994. The peak bone mass of hawaiian, filipino, japanese, and white women living in hawaii. *Calcified Tissue International*, 55, 249-252.
- Deng, H. W., Chen, W. M., Recker, S., Stegman, M. R., Li, J. L., Davies, K. M., Zhou, Y., Deng, H. Y., Heaney, R. & Recker, R. R. 2000. Genetic determination of colles' fracture and differential bone mass in women with and without colles' fracture. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 15, 1243-1252.
- Devirian, T. A. & Volpe, S. L. 2003. The physiological effects of dietary boron. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 43, 219-231.
- Dewes, O., Scragg, R. & Raina Elley, C. 2013. The association between church attendance and obesity-related lifestyle behaviours among New Zealand adolescents from different pacific island ethnic groups.
- Dolan, S. H., Williams, D. P., Ainsworth, B. E. & Shaw, J. M. 2006. Development and reproducibility of the bone loading history questionnaire. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 38, 1121-1131.
- Douchi, T., Oki, T., Nakamura, S., Ijuin, H., Yamamoto, S. & Nagata, Y. 1997. The effect of body composition on bone density in pre- and postmenopausal women. *Maturitas*, 27, 55-60.
- Eatonevans, J., Mcilrath, E. M., Jackson, W. E., Mccartney, H. & Strain, J. J. 1996. Copper supplementation and the maintenance of bone mineral density in middle-aged women. *Journal of Trace Elements in Experimental Medicine*, 9, 87-94.
- Edelstein, S. L. & Barrettconnor, E. 1993. Relation between body-size and bone-mineral density in elderly men and women. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 138, 160-169.
- Eriksen, E. F. & Langdahl, B. L. 1997. The pathogenesis of osteoporosis. *Hormone Research*, 48, 78-82.

- Ettinger, B., Black, D. M., Nevitt, M. C., Rundle, A. C., Cauley, J. A., Cummings, S. R. & Genant, H. K. 1992. Contribution of vertebral deformities to chronic back pain and disability. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 7, 449-456.
- European Medicines Agency. 2012. *Calcitonin* [Online]. London: European Medicines Agency. Available: http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/index.jsp?curl=pages/medicines/h uman/referrals/Calcitonin/human_referral_000319.jsp&mid=WC0b0 1ac0580024e99 [Accessed 21/5/2015.
- Felson, D. T., Zhang, Y., Hannan, M. T. & Anderson, J. J. 1993. Effects of weight and body mass index on bone mineral density in men and women: The framingham study. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 8, 567-573.

Field, A. P. 2009. *Discovering statistics using spss,* London, England, SAGE.

- Finkelstein, J. S., Brockwell, S. E., Mehta, V., Greendale, G. A., Sowers, M. R., Ettinger, B., Lo, J. C., Johnston, J. M., Cauley, J. A. & Danielson, M. E. 2013. Bone mineral density changes during the menopause transition in a multiethnic cohort of women. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*.
- Floyd, R. T. 2015. *Manual of structural kinesiology*, New York, NY, McGraw-Hill Education.
- Fortunati, D., Reppe, S., Fjeldheim, A.-K., Nielsen, M., Gautvik, V. T. & Gautvik, K. M. 2010. Periostin is a collagen associated bone matrix protein regulated by parathyroid hormone. *Matrix Biology*, 29, 594-601.
- Fournier, P.-E., Rizzoli, R., Slosman, D.-O., Theintz, G. & Bonjour, J.-P. 1997. Asynchrony between the rates of standing height gain and bone mass accumulation during puberty. *Osteoporosis International*, **7**, 525-532.
- Franck, H. & Munz, M. 2000. Total body and regional bone mineral densitometry (bmd) and soft tissue measurements: Correlations of bmd parameter to lumbar spine and hip. *Calcified Tissue International*, 67, 111-115.

- Franz-Odendaal, T. A., Hall, B. K. & Witten, P. E. 2006. Buried alive: How osteoblasts become osteocytes. *Developmental Dynamics*, 235, 176-190.
- Fyhrie, D. P. & Christiansen, B. A. 2015. Bone material properties and skeletal fragility. *Calcified Tissue International*, 1-16.
- Garrett, I. R., Boyce, B. F., Oreffo, R. O. C., Bonewald, L., Poser, J. & Mundy, G. R. 1990. Oxygen-derived free-radicals stimulate osteoclastic boneresorption in rodent bone invitro and invivo. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 85, 632-639.
- Genaro, P. D. S., Pinheiro, M. D. M., Szejnfeld, V. L. & Martini, L. A. 2015. Dietary protein intake in elderly women: Association with muscle and bone mass. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice*, 30, 283-289.
- Gennari, C. & Agnusdei, D. 1994. Bone turnover and bone loss response to antiresorptive therapy. *Italian Journal of Mineral & Electrolyte Metabolism*, 8, 219-223.
- Ginty, F. 2003. Dietary protein and bone health. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society,* 62, 867-876.
- Glauber, H. S., Vollmer, W. M., Nevitt, M. C., Ensrud, K. E. & Orwoll, E. S. 1995. Body weight versus body fat distribution, adiposity, and frame size as predictors of bone density. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 80, 1118-1123.
- Glerup, H., Mikkelsen, K., Poulsen, L., Hass, E., Overbeck, S., Thomsen, J., Charles, P. & Eriksen, E. F. 2000. Commonly recommended daily intake of vitamin d is not sufficient if sunlight exposure is limited. *Journal of internal medicine*, 247, 260-268.
- Gnudi, S., Sitta, E. & Fiumi, N. 2007. Relationship between body composition and bone mineral density in women with and without osteoporosis: Relative contribution of lean and fat mass. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism*, 25, 326-332.

Goldstein, D. A. 1990. *Clinical methods: The history, physical, and laboratory examinations,* Boston, Butterworths.

- Golubic, R., May, A. M., Benjaminsen Borch, K., Overvad, K., Charles, M.-A., Diaz, M. J. T., Amiano, P., Palli, D., Valanou, E., Vigl, M., Franks, P. W., Wareham, N., Ekelund, U. & Brage, S. 2014. Validity of electronically administered recent physical activity questionnaire (rpaq) in ten european countries. *PloS one*, 9, e92829-e92829.
- Gong, Y. Q., Slee, R. B., Fukai, N., Rawadi, G., Roman-Roman, S., Reginato, A. M., Wang, H. W., Cundy, T., Glorieux, F. H., Lev, D., Zacharin, M., Oexle, K., Marcelino, J., Suwairi, W., Heeger, S., Sabatakos, G., Apte, S., Adkins, W. N., Allgrove, J., Arslan-Kirchner, M., Batch, J. A., Beighton, P., Black, G. C. M., Boles, R. G., Boon, L. M., Borrone, C., Brunner, H. G., Carle, G. F., Dallapiccola, B., De Paepe, A., Floege, B., Halfhide, M. L., Hall, B., Hennekam, R. C., Hirose, T., Jans, A., Juppner, H., Kim, C. A., Keppler-Noreuil, K., Kohlschuetter, A., Lacombe, D., Lambert, M., Lemyre, E., Letteboer, T., Peltonen, L., Ramesar, R. S., Romanengo, M., Somer, H., Steichen-Gersdorf, E., Steinmann, B., Sullivan, B., Superti-Furga, A., Swoboda, W., Van Den Boogaard, M. J., Van Hul, W., Vikkula, M., Votruba, M., Zabel, B., Garcia, T., Baron, R., Olsen, B. R., Warman, M. L. & Osteoporosis Pseudoglioma, S. 2001. Ldl receptor-related protein 5 (Irp5) affects bone accrual and eye development. *Cell*, 107, 513-523.
- Gordon, C. L., Halton, J. M., Atkinson, S. A. & Webber, C. E. 1991. The contributions of growth and puberty to peak bone mass. *Growth Development and Aging*, 55, 257-262.
- Grant, A. M., Gordon, F. K., Ferguson, E. L., Williams, S. M., Henry, T. E., Toafa, V. M., Guthrie, B. E. & Goulding, A. 2005. Do young New Zealand pacific island and european children differ in bone size or bone mineral? *Calcified Tissue International*, 76, 397-403.
- Gremion, G., Rizzoli, R., Slosman, D., Theintz, G. & Bonjour, J. P. 2001. Oligoamenorrheic long-distance runners may lose more bone in spine than in femur. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 33, 15-21.
- Griffen, V. 2006. Gender relations in pacific cultures and their impact on the growth and development of children. *Paper to Children's Rights and Culture in the Pacific, October 30.* Available:

http://www.unicef.org/eapro/Gender_Relations_in_Pacific_cultures.p df.

- Grover, S. R. & Morley, R. 2001. Vitamin d deficiency in veiled or darkskinned pregnant women. *The Medical Journal of Australia*, 175, 251-252.
- Ha, H., Kwak, H. B., Lee, S. W., Jin, H. M., Kim, H. M., Kim, H. H. & Lee, Z. H. 2004. Reactive oxygen species mediate rank signaling in osteoclasts. *Experimental Cell Research*, 301, 119-127.
- Hadji, P., Kauka, A., Ziller, M., Birkholz, K., Baier, M., Muth, M. & Bauer, M.
 2014. Effects of zoledronic acid on bone mineral density in premenopausal women receiving neoadjuvant or adjuvant therapies for hr+ breast cancer: The probone ii study. *Osteoporosis International*, 25, 1369-1378.
- Hakki, S. S., Bozkurt, B. S. & Hakki, E. E. 2010. Boron regulates mineralized tissue-associated proteins in osteoblasts (mc3t3-e1). *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology*, 24, 243-250.
- Hall, S. L. & Greendale, G. A. 1998. The relation of dietary vitamin c intake to bone mineral density: Results from the pepi study. *Calcified Tissue International*, 63, 183-189.
- Hammami, M., Koo, K. W. M., Koo, W. W. K., Thomas, R. T. & Rakhman, D. 2001. Regional bone mass measurement from whole-body dual energy x-ray absorptiometry scan. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry*, 4, 131-136.
- Hangartner, T. N., Skugor, M., Landoll, J. D. & Matkovic, V. 2000. Comparison of absorptiometric evaluations from total-body and local-region skeletal scans. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry*, **3**, 215-225.
- Harada, S.-I. & Rodan, G. A. 2003a. Control of osteoblast function and regulation of bone mass. *Nature*, 423, 349-355.
- Harada, S. & Rodan, G. A. 2003b. Control of osteoblast function and regulation of bone mass. *Nature*, 423, 349-355.

- Harris, S., Dallal, G. E. & Dawson-Hughes, B. 1992. Influence of body weight on rates of change in bone density of the spine, hip, and radius in postmenopausal women. *Calcified Tissue International*, 50, 19-23.
- Harris, S. S. & Dawsonhughes, B. 1996. Weight, body composition, and bone density in postmenopausal women. *Calcified Tissue International*, 59, 428-432.
- Hart, J. P., Shearer, M. J., Klenerman, L., Catterall, A., Reeve, J., Sambrook, P. N., Dodds, R. A., Bitensky, L. & Chayen, J. 1985. Electrochemical detection of depressed circulating levels of vitamin-k1 in osteoporosis. *Journal* of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 60, 1268-1269.
- Heaney, R. P. 1997. Nutrient effects: Discrepancy between data from controlled trials and observational studies. *Bone,* 21, 469-471.
- Heaney, R. P. 2000. Calcium, dairy products and osteoporosis. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition,* 19, 83S-99S.
- Heaney, R. P., Dowell, M. S., Hale, C. A. & Bendich, A. 2003. Calcium absorption varies within the reference range for serum 25hydroxyvitamin d. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 22, 142-146.
- Heaney, R. P. & Recker, R. R. 1982. Effects of nitrogen, phosphorus, and caffeine on calcium balance in women. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine*, 99, 46-55.
- Heaney, R. P. & Recker, R. R. 1986. Distribution of calcium-absorption in middle-aged women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 43, 299-305.
- Heaney, R. P., Recker, R. R., Stegman, M. R. & Moy, A. J. 1989. Calciumabsorption in women - relationships to calcium intakes, estrogen status, and age. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 4, 469-475.
- Heaton, F. W. 1969. Kidney and magnesium homeostasis. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 162, 775-&.

- Helmerhorst, H. J. F., Brage, S., Warren, J., Besson, H. & Ekelund, U. 2012. A systematic review of reliability and objective criterion-related validity of physical activity questionnaires. *The international journal of behavioral nutrition and physical activity*, 9, 103-103.
- Heymsfield, S. B., Smith, R., Aulet, M., Bensen, B., Lichtman, S., Wang, J. & Pierson, R. N. 1990. Appendicular skeletal muscle mass: Measurement by dual-photon absorptiometry. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 52, 214-218.
- Hodges, S., Akesson, K., Vergnaud, P., Obrant, K. & Delmas, P. 1993.Circulating levels of vitamins k1 and k2 decreased in elderly women with hip fracture. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 8, 1241-1245.
- Holick, M. F. 1996. Vitamin d and bone health. *Journal of Nutrition*, 126, S1159-S1164.
- Holick, M. F. 2003. Vitamin d: A millenium perspective. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 88, 296-307.
- Holick, M. F. 2004. Sunlight and vitamin d for bone health and prevention of autoimmune diseases, cancers, and cardiovascular disease. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 80, 1678S-88S.
- Holick, M. F., Maclaughlin, J. A. & Doppelt, S. H. 1981. Regulation of cutaneous previtamin-d3 photosynthesis in man skin pigment is not an essential regulator. *Science*, 211, 590-593.
- Holloway, W. R., Collier, F. M., Aitken, C. J., Myers, D. E., Hodge, J. M., Malakellis, M., Gough, T. J., Collier, G. R. & Nicholson, G. C. 2002. Leptin inhibits osteoclast generation. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 17, 200-209.
- Houston, Z. L. 2014. Development and validation of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire to assess dietary intake of adult women living in new zealalnd: A thesis presented in partial fufilment of the requirements of the degree of master of science in nutrition and dietetics., Massey University, Albany.

- Hu, T., Rianon, N. J., Nettleton, J. A., Hyder, J. A., He, J., Steffen, L. M., Jacobs, D. R., Jr., Criqui, M. H. & Bazzano, L. A. 2014. Protein intake and lumbar bone density: The multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis (mesa). *British Journal of Nutrition*, 112, 1384-1392.
- Huiskes, R., Ruimerman, R., Van Lenthe, G. H. & Janssen, J. D. 2000. Effects of mechanical forces on maintenance and adaptation of form in trabecular bone. *Nature*, 405, 704-706.
- Hunt, C. D. 1989. Dietary boron modified the effects of magnesium and molybdenum on mineral metabolism in the cholecalciferol-deficient chick. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 22, 201-220.
- Hunt, C. D., Herbel, J. L. & Idso, J. P. 1994. Dietary boron modifies the effects of vitamin-d-3 nutrition on indexes of energy substrate utilization and mineral metabolism in the chick. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 9, 171-182.
- Ijuin, M., Douchi, T., Matsuo, T., Yamamoto, S., Uto, H. & Nagata, Y. 2002. Difference in the effects of body composition on bone mineral density between pre- and postmenopausal women. *Maturitas*, 43, 239-244.
- Institute of Medicine. 2011. *Dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin d*. Washington DC: The National Academies Press.
- Janott, J., Hallner, D., Pfeiffer, A., Abendroth, K., Banzer, D., Felsenberg, D., Franke, J., Kruskemper, G. M., Matthis, H., Raspe, H., Reisinger, W., Schatz, H., Scheidtnave, C. & Ziegler, R. 1996. Risk factors of osteoporosis: Results of evos in germany. *Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology*, 123-123.
- Javaheri, B., Stern, A. R., Lara, N., Dallas, M., Zhao, H., Liu, Y., Bonewald, L. F. & Johnson, M. L. 2014. Deletion of a single beta-catenin allele in osteocytes abolishes the bone anabolic response to loading. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 29, 705-715.
- Javed, A., Tebben, P. J., Fischer, P. R. & Lteif, A. N. 2013. Female athlete triad and its components: Toward improved screening and management. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 88, 996-1009.

- Jia, T., Byberg, L., Lindholm, B., Larsson, T. E., Lind, L., Michaelsson, K. & Carrero, J. J. 2015. Dietary acid load, kidney function, osteoporosis, and risk of fractures in elderly men and women. *Osteoporosis International*, 26, 563-570.
- Jie, K. S. G., Bots, M. L., Vermeer, C., Witteman, J. C. M. & Grobbee, D. E. 1996. Vitamin k status and bone mass in women with and without aortic atherosclerosis: A population-based study. *Calcified Tissue International*, 59, 352-356.
- Jie, K. S. G., Gijsbers, B., Knapen, M. H. J., Hamulyak, K., Frank, H. L. & Vermeer, C. 1993. Effects of vitamin-k and oral anticoagulants on urinary calcium excretion. *British Journal of Haematology*, 83, 100-104.
- Joint Who/Fao/Unu Expert Consultation 2007. Protein and amino acid requirements in human nutrition introduction. *Protein and Amino Acid Requirements in Human Nutrition: Report of a Joint Who/Fao/Unu Expert Consultation,* 935, 1-7.
- Kalantar-Zadeh, K., Gutekunst, L., Mehrotra, R., Kovesdy, C. P., Bross, R., Shinaberger, C. S., Noori, N., Hirschberg, R., Benner, D. & Nissenson, A. R. 2010. Understanding sources of dietary phosphorus in the treatment of patients with chronic kidney disease. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 5, 519-530.
- Kanai, T., Takagi, T., Masuhiro, K., Nakamura, M., Iwata, M. & Saji, F. 1997. Serum vitamin k level and bone mineral density in post-menopausal women. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 56, 25-30.
- Kanis, J., Delmas, P., Burckhardt, P., Cooper, C. & Torgerson, D. 1997. Guidelines for diagnosis and management of osteoporosis. *Osteoporosis International*, 7, 390-406.
- Kanis, J. A., Oden, A., Johnell, O., De Laet, C., Jonsson, B. & Oglesby, A. K. 2003. The components of excess mortality after hip fracture. *Bone*, 32, 468-473.

- Kanis, J. A., Oden, A., Johnell, O., Jonsson, B., De Laet, C. & Dawson, A. 2001. The burden of osteoporotic fractures: A method for setting intervention thresholds. *Osteoporosis International*, 12, 417-427.
- Kannus, P., Palvanen, M., Kaprio, J., Parkkari, J. & Koskenvuo, M. 1999.
 Genetic factors and osteoporotic fractures in elderly people: Prospective 25 year follow up of a nationwide cohort of elderly finnish twins. *British Medical Journal*, 319, 1334-1337.
- Karsdal, M. A., Byrjalsen, I., Leeming, D. J., Delmas, P. D. & Christiansen, C. 2008. The effects of oral calcitonin on bone collagen maturation: Implications for bone turnover and quality. *Osteoporosis International*, 19, 1355-1361.
- Katz, S. & Weinerman, S. 2010. Osteoporosis and gastrointestinal disease. *Gastroenterol Hepatol (NY),* 6, 506-17.
- Kaufman, B. A., Warren, M. P., Dominguez, J. E., Wang, J., Heymsfield, S. B. & Pierson, R. N. 2002. Bone density and amenorrhea in ballet dancers are related to a decreased resting metabolic rate and lower leptin levels. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 87, 2777-2783.
- Kerr, D. A., Papalia, S., Morton, A., Dick, I., Dhaliwal, S. & Prince, R. L. 2007. Bone mass in young women is dependent on lean body mass. *Journal* of Clinical Densitometry, 10, 319-326.
- Kerstetter, J. E. 2009. Dietary protein and bone: A new approach to an old question. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 90, 1451-1452.
- Kerstetter, J. E. & Allen, L. H. 1990. Dietary-protein increases urinary calcium. *Journal of Nutrition*, 120, 134-136.
- Kerstetter, J. E., Bihuniak, J. D., Brindisi, J., Sullivan, R. R., Mangano, K. M., Larocque, S., Kotler, B. M., Simpson, C. A., Cusano, A. M., Gaffney-Stomberg, E., Kleppinger, A., Reynolds, J., Dziura, J., Kenny, A. M. & Insogna, K. L. 2015. The effect of a whey protein supplement on bone mass in older caucasian adults. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*, 100, 2214-22.

- Kerstetter, J. E., Caseria, D. M., Mitnick, M. E., Ellison, A. F., Gay, L. F., Liskov, T. a. P., Carpenter, T. O. & Insogna, K. L. 1997. Increased circulating concentrations of parathyroid hormone in healthy, young women consuming a protein-restricted diet. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 66, 1188-1196.
- Kerstetter, J. E., O'brien, K. O. & Insogna, K. L. 1998. Dietary protein affects intestinal calcium absorption. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 68, 859-865.
- Kerstetter, J. E., Wall, D. E., O'brien, K. O., Caseria, D. M. & Insogna, K. L. 2006. Meat and soy protein affect calcium homeostasis in healthy women. *Journal of Nutrition*, 136, 1890-1895.
- Khosla, S., Atkinson, E. J., Riggs, B. L. & Melton, L. J. 1996. Relationship between body composition and bone mass in women. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 11, 857-863.
- Kim, Y. A., Kim, K. M., Lim, S., Choi, S. H., Moon, J. H., Kim, J. H., Kim, S. W., Jang, H. C. & Shin, C. S. 2015. Favorable effect of dietary vitamin c on bone mineral density in postmenopausal women (knhanes iv, 2009): Discrepancies regarding skeletal sites, age, and vitamin d status. *Osteoporosis International*, 26, 2329-2337.
- Kimlin, M. G. 2008. Geographic location and vitamin d synthesis. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 29, 453-461.
- Kirchengast, S., Peterson, B., Hauser, G. & Knogler, W. 2001. Body composition characteristics are associated with the bone density of the proximal femur end in middle- and old-aged women and men. *Maturitas*, 39, 133-145.
- Klein-Nulend, J., Bakker, A. D., Bacabac, R. G., Vatsa, A. & Weinbaum, S. 2013. Mechanosensation and transduction in osteocytes. *Bone*, 54, 182-190.
- Koh, J. M., Lee, Y. S., Kim, Y. S., Kim, D. J., Kim, H. H., Park, J. Y., Lee, K. U. & Kim, G. S. 2006. Homocysteine enhances bone resorption by stimulation of osteoclast formation and activity through increased intracellular ros generation. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 21, 1003-1011.

- Kohlmeier, M., Saupe, J., Shearer, M. J., Schaefer, K. & Asmus, G. 1997. Bone health of adult hemodialysis patients is related to vitamin k status. *Kidney International*, 51, 1218-1221.
- Koshihara, Y., Hoshi, K. & Shiraki, M. 1993. Vitamin k 2 (menatetrenone) inhibits prostaglandin synthesis in cultured human osteoblast-like periosteal cells by inhibiting prostaglandin h synthase activity. *Biochemical pharmacology*, 46, 1355-1362.
- Lanham-New, S. A. 2008. Importance of calcium, vitamin d and vitamin k for osteoporosis prevention and treatment. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 67, 163-176.
- Lanyon, L. E. 1996. Using functional loading to influence bone mass and architecture: Objectives, mechanisms, and relationship with estrogen of the mechanically adaptive process in bone. *Bone*, 18, S37-S43.
- Lau, K. H. W., Kapur, S., Kesavan, C. & Baylink, D. J. 2006. Up-regulation of the wnt, estrogen receptor, insulin-like growth factor-i, and bone morphogenetic protein pathways in c57bl/6j osteoblasts as opposed to c3h/hej osteoblasts in part contributes to the differential anabolic response to fluid shear. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281, 9576-9588.
- Lee, N. K., Choi, Y. G., Baik, J. Y., Han, S. Y., Jeong, D. W., Bae, Y. S., Kim, N. & Lee, S. Y. 2005. A crucial role for reactive oxygen species in rankl-induced osteoclast differentiation. *Blood*, 106, 852-859.
- Leena, R. & Vidula, N. 2015. Relationship between body composition and bone mineral density in women from mumbai city. *Online International Interdisciplinary Research Journal*, 5, 175-183.
- Leib, E. 2004. Diagnosis of osteoporosis in men, premenopausal women, and children. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry*, **7**, 17-26.
- Lemann, J., Litzow, J. R. & Lennon, E. J. 1967. Studies of mechanism by which chronic metabolic acidosis augments urinary calcium excretion in man. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 46, 1318-&.

- Lewiecki, E. M. 2005. Premenopausal bone health assessment. *Current rheumatology reports*, 7, 46-52.
- Lindsay, R., Cosman, F., Herrington, B. S. & Himmelstein, S. 1992. Bone mass and body composition in normal women. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 7, 55-63.
- Little, R. D., Carulli, J. P., Del Mastro, R. G., Dupuis, J., Osborne, M., Folz, C., Manning, S. P., Swain, P. M., Zhao, S. C., Eustace, B., Lappe, M. M., Spitzer, L., Zweier, S., Braunschweiger, K., Benchekroun, Y., Hu, X. T., Adair, R., Chee, L., Fitzgerald, M. G., Tulig, C., Caruso, A., Tzellas, N., Bawa, A., Franklin, B., Mcguire, S., Nogues, X., Gong, G., Allen, K. M., Anisowicz, A., Morales, A. J., Lomedico, P. T., Recker, S. M., Van Eerdewegh, P., Recker, R. R. & Johnson, M. L. 2002. A mutation in the Idl receptor-related protein 5 gene results in the autosomal dominant high-bone-mass trait. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 70, 11-19.
- Liu, S., Li, J., Sheng, Z., Wu, X. & Liao, E. 2011. Relationship between body composition and age, menopause and its effects on bone mineral density at segmental regions in central southern chinese postmenopausal elderly women with and without osteoporosis. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 53, E192-E197.
- Liu, Y., Bhat, R. A., Seestaller-Wehr, L. M., Fukayama, S., Mangine, A., Moran, R. A., Komm, B. S., Bodine, P. V. N. & Billiard, J. 2007. The orphan receptor tyrosine kinase ror2 promotes osteoblast differentiation and enhances ex vivo bone formation. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 21, 376-387.
- Lloyd, T., Rollings, N., Andon, M. B., Demers, L. M., Eggli, D. F., Kieselhorst, K., Kulin, H., Landis, J. R., Martel, J. K. & Et Al. 1992. Determinants of bone density in young women i. Relationships among pubertal development total body bone mass and total body bone density in premenarchal females. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 75, 383-387.
- Loeser, R. F., Varnum, B. C., Carlson, C. S., Goldring, M. B., Liu, E. T., Sadiev, S., Kute, T. E. & Wallin, R. 1997. Human chondrocyte expression of growth-arrest-specific gene 6 and the tyrosine kinase receptor axl -

potential role in autocrine signaling in cartilage. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 40, 1455-1465.

- Lowe, N. M., Fraser, W. D. & Jackson, M. J. 2002. Is there a potential therapeutic value of copper and zinc for osteoporosis? *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 61, 181-185.
- Lu, P. W., Briody, J. B., Ogle, G. D., Morley, K., Humphries, I. R. J., Allen, J., Howman-Giles, R., Sillence, D. & Cowell, C. T. 1994. Bone mineral density of total body, spine, and femoral neck in children and young adults: A cross-sectional and longitudinal study. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 9, 1451-1458.
- Macinnis, R. J., Cassar, C., Nowson, C. A., Paton, L. M., Flicker, L., Hopper, J. L., Larkins, R. G. & Wark, J. D. 2003. Determinants of bone density in 30to 65-year-old women: A co-twin study. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 18, 1650-1656.
- Maggio, D., Barabani, M., Pierandrei, M., Polidori, M. C., Catani, M., Mecocci, P., Senin, U., Pacifici, R. & Cherubini, A. 2003. Marked decrease in plasma antioxidants in aged osteoporotic women: Results of a cross-sectional study. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 88, 1523-1527.
- Mahan, L. K., Escott-Stump, S. & Raymond, J. L. 2012. *Krause's food and the nutrition care process*, St. Louis, Missouri, Elsevier Saunders.
- Mahdavi-Roshan, M., Ebrahimi, M. & Ebrahimi, A. 2015. Copper, magnesium, zinc and calcium status in osteopenic and osteoporotic postmenopausal women. *Clinical cases in mineral and bone metabolism : the official journal of the Italian Society of Osteoporosis, Mineral Metabolism, and Skeletal Diseases,* 12, 18-21.
- Makovey, J., Naganathan, V. & Sambrook, P. 2005. Gender differences in relationships between body composition components, their distribution and bone mineral density: A cross-sectional opposite sex twin study. *Osteoporosis International*, 16, 1495-1505.
- Manolagas, S. C. 2010. From estrogen-centric to aging and oxidative stress: A revised perspective of the pathogenesis of osteoporosis. *Endocrine Reviews*, 31, 266-300.

- Marieb, E. N. & Hoehn, K. 2013. *Human anatomy & physiology,* San Francisco, Pearson Education Inc.
- Matkovic, V., Fontana, D., Tominac, C., Goel, P. & Chesnut, C. H., Iii 1990. Factors that influence peak bone mass formation: A study of calcium balance and inheritance of bone mass in adolescent females. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 52, 878-888.
- Matkovic, V., Jelic, T., Wardlaw, G. M., Ilich, J. Z., Goel, P. K., Wright, J. K., Andon, M. B., Smith, K. T. & Heaney, R. P. 1994. Timing of peak bone mass in caucasian females and its implication of the prevention of osteoporosis: Inference from a cross-sectional model. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 93, 799-808.
- Matsuoka, L. Y., Wortsman, J., Hanifan, N. & Holick, M. F. 1988. Chronic sunscreen use decreases circulating concentrations of 25hydroxyvitamin-d - a preliminary study. *Archives of Dermatology*, 124, 1802-1804.
- Mauro, M. & Armstrong, D. 2007. Juvenile onset of crohn's disease: A risk factor for reduced lumbar bone mass in premenopausal women. *Bone*, 40, 1290-1293.
- Mazahery, H. & Von Hurst, P. R. 2015. Factors affecting 25-hydroxyvitamin d concentration in response to vitamin d supplementation. *Nutrients*, 7, 5111-42.
- Mccarty, C. A. 2008. Sunlight exposure assessment: Can we accurately assess vitamin d exposure from sunlight questionnaires? *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 87, 1097S-1101S.
- Meacham, S. L., Taper, L. J. & Volpe, S. L. 1994. Effects of boron supplementation on bone-mineral density and dietary, blood, and urinary calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, and boron in female athletes. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 102, 79-82.
- Melton, L. J., Looker, A. C., Shepherd, J. A., O'connor, M. K., Achenbach, S. J., Riggs, B. L. & Khosla, S. 2005. Osteoporosis assessment by whole body region vs. Site-specific dxa. *Osteoporosis International*, 16, 1558-1564.

Menard, S. 1995. *Applied logistic regression analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA.

- Meng, Q. H. & Wagar, E. A. 2015. Laboratory approaches for the diagnosis and assessment of hypercalcemia. *Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences*, 52, 107-119.
- Michaëlsson, K., Melhus, H., Ferm, H., Ahlbom, A. & Pedersen, N. L. 2005. Genetic liability to fractures in the elderly. *Archives of internal medicine*, 165, 1825-1830.
- Miller, T. M., Abdel-Maksoud, M. F., Crane, L. A., Marcus, A. C. & Byers, T. E. 2008. Effects of social approval bias on self-reported fruit and vegetable consumption: A randomized controlled trial. *Nutr J*, 7, 18588696.
- Millward, D. J. & Rivers, J. P. W. 1989. The need for indispensable aminoacids - the concept of the anabolic drive. *Diabetes-Metabolism Reviews*, 5, 191-211.
- Ministry of Health. 2003. *NZ food NZ children: Key results of the 2002 national children's nutrition survey*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health. 2012a. *Report on maternity, 2010*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health. 2012b. *Vitamin d status of New Zealand adults: Findings from the 2008/09 New Zealand adult nutrition survey*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health. 2014. *Annual update of key results 2013/14: New Zealand health survey*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Ministry of Health. 2015. *Understanding excess body weight: New Zealand health survey*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Morikawa, D., Nojiri, H., Saita, Y., Kobayashi, K., Watanabe, K., Ozawa, Y., Koike, M., Asou, Y., Takaku, T., Kaneko, K. & Shimizu, T. 2013. Cytoplasmic reactive oxygen species and sod1 regulate bone mass
during mechanical unloading. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research,* 28, 2368-2380.

- Morris, H. A., Need, A. G., Horowitz, M., Oloughlin, P. D. & Nordin, B. E. C. 1991. Calcium-absorption in normal and osteoporotic postmenopausal women. *Calcified Tissue International*, 49, 240-243.
- Morton, D. J., Barrett-Connor, E. L. & Schneider, D. L. 2001. Vitamin c supplement use and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 16, 135-140.
- Moustafa, A., Sugiyama, T., Prasad, J., Zaman, G., Gross, T. S., Lanyon, L. E. & Price, J. S. 2012. Mechanical loading-related changes in osteocyte sclerostin expression in mice are more closely associated with the subsequent osteogenic response than the peak strains engendered. *Osteoporosis International*, 23, 1225-1234.
- Muir, J. M., Ye, C., Bhandari, M., Adachi, J. D. & Thabane, L. 2013. The effect of regular physical activity on bone mineral density in post-menopausal women aged 75 and over: A retrospective analysis from the canadian multicentre osteoporosis study. *Bmc Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 14.
- Mullender, M. G. & Huiskes, R. 1995. Proposal for the regulatory mechanism of wolff's law. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 13, 503-512.
- Murphy, P., Wadiwala, I., Sharland, D. E. & Rai, G. S. 1985. Copper and zinc levels in healthy and sick elderly. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 33, 847-849.
- Mutlu, M., Argun, M., Kilic, E., Saraymen, R. & Yazar, S. 2007. Magnesium, zinc and copper status in osteoporotic, osteopenic and normal postmenopausal women. *Journal of International Medical Research*, 35, 692-695.
- Myers, E. R. & Wilson, S. E. 1997. Biomechanics of osteoporosis and vertebral fracture. *Spine*, 22, 25S-31S.
- National Health and Medical Research Council. 2006. *Nutrient reference* values for australia and New Zealand including recommended dietary

intakes. Canberra: NHMRC. Available: http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/_files_nhmrc/publications/attachments/n 35.pdf.

- Nielsen, F. H. 2008. Is boron nutritionally relevant? *Nutrition Reviews*, 66, 183-191.
- Nielsen, F. H., Hunt, C. D., Mullen, L. M. & Hunt, J. R. 1987. Effect of dietary boron on mineral, estrogen, and testosterone-metabolism in postmenopausal women. *Faseb Journal*, 1, 394-397.
- Nielsen, F. H., Lukaski, H. C., Johnson, L. K. & Roughead, Z. K. 2011. Reported zinc, but not copper, intakes influence whole-body bone density, mineral content and t score responses to zinc and copper supplementation in healthy postmenopausal women. *British Journal* of Nutrition, 106, 1872-1879.
- Nielsen, F. H., Shuler, T. R., Zimmerman, T. J. & Uthus, E. O. 1988. Magnesium and methionine deprivation affect the response of rats to boron deprivation. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 17, 91-107.
- Nih Osteoporosis and Related Bone Diseases National Resource Centre. 2012. Bone mass measurement: What the numbers mean [Online]. Washington: National Institutes of Health. Available: http://www.niams.nih.gov/health_info/bone/bone_health/bone_mas s_measure.asp#b [Accessed 15/5/2015.
- Noble, B. S., Stevens, H., Loveridge, N. & Reeve, J. 1997. Identification of apoptotic changes in osteocytes in normal and pathological human bone. *Bone*, 20, 273-282.
- Nojiri, H., Saita, Y., Morikawa, D., Kobayashi, K., Tsuda, C., Miyazaki, T., Saito, M., Marumo, K., Yonezawa, I., Kaneko, K., Shirasawa, T. & Shimizu, T. 2011. Cytoplasmic superoxide causes bone fragility owing to lowturnover osteoporosis and impaired collagen cross-linking. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 26, 2682-2694.
- Nordin, B. E. C., Need, A. G., Morris, H. A. & Horowitz, M. 1999. Biochemical variables in pre- and postmenopausal women: Reconciling the

calcium and estrogen hypotheses. *Osteoporosis International*, 9, 351-357.

- Norton, R., Butler, M., Currie, R., Leejoe, T., Campbell, A. J., Reid, I. R. & Gray, H. 1995. Hip fracture incidence among older people in auckland - a population-based study. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 108, 426-428.
- Nur, H., Toraman, N. F., Arica, Z., Sarier, N. & Samur, A. 2013. The relationship between body composition and bone mineral density in postmenopausal turkish women. *Rheumatology International*, 33, 607-612.
- Nysom, K., Molgaard, C. & Michaelsen, K. F. 1998. Bone mineral density in the lumbar spine as determined by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry comparison of whole-body scans and dedicated regional scans. *Acta Radiologica*, 39, 632-636.
- O'connor, J. A., Lanyon, L. E. & Macfie, H. 1982. The influence of strain rate on adpative remodeling. *Journal of biomechanics*, 15, 767-781.
- Ogueh, O., Sooranna, S., Nicolaides, K. & Johnson, M. 2000. The relationship between leptin concentration and bone metabolism in the human fetus. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 85, 1997-1999.
- Ohno, S., Tanaka, N., Ueki, M., Honda, K., Tanimoto, K., Yoneno, K., Ohno-Nakahara, M., Fujimoto, K., Kato, Y. & Tanne, K. 2005. Mechanical regulation of terminal chondrocyte differentiation via rgd-cap/beta ig-h3 induced by tgf-beta. *Connective Tissue Research*, 46, 227-234.
- Okorodudu, D., Jumean, M., Montori, V., Romero-Corral, A., Somers, V., Erwin, P. & Lopez-Jimenez, F. 2010. Diagnostic performance of body mass index to identify obesity as defined by body adiposity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Obesity*, 34, 791-799.
- Oliveros, E., Somers, V. K., Sochor, O., Goel, K. & Lopez-Jimenez, F. 2014. The concept of normal weight obesity. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, 56, 426-433.

- Osteoporosis Australia. 2001. *The burden of brittle bones: Costing* osteoporosis in australia. Canberra, ACT: Osteoporosis Australia.
- Palacios, C. 2006. The role of nutrients in bone health, from a to z. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition,* 46, 621-628.
- Papadimitropoulos, E., Wells, G., Shea, B., Gillespie, W., Weaver, B., Zytaruk, N., Cranney, A., Adachi, J., Tugwell, P., Josse, R., Greenwood, C., Guyatt, G., Osteoporosis Methodol, G. & Osteoporosis Res Advisory, G. 2002. Meta-analysis of the efficacy of vitamin d treatment in preventing osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. *Endocrine Reviews*, 23, 560-569.
- Pasco, J. A., Henry, M. J., Kotowicz, M. A., Collier, G. R., Ball, M. J., Ugoni, A. M. & Nicholson, G. C. 2001. Serum leptin levels are associated with bone mass in nonobese women. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 86, 1884-1887.
- Pasco, J. A., Sanders, K. M., Hoekstra, F. M., Henry, M. J., Nicholson, G. C. & Kotowicz, M. A. 2005. The human cost of fracture. *Osteoporosis International*, 16, 2046-2052.
- Peris, P., Guanabens, N., De Osaba, M. J. M., Monegal, A., Alvarez, L., Pons, F., Ros, I., Cerda, D. & Munoz-Gomez, J. 2002. Clinical characteristics and etiologic factors of premenopausal osteoporosis in a group of spanish women. *Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 32, 64-70.
- Poole, K. E. S., Van Bezooijen, R. L., Loveridge, N., Hamersma, H., Papapoulos, S. E., Lowik, C. W. & Reeve, J. 2005. Sclerostin is a delayed secreted product of osteocytes that inhibits bone formation. *Faseb Journal*, 19, 1842-+.
- R, G. 2005. *Principles of nutritional assessment,* New York, Oxford University Press.
- Ralston, S. H. & De Crombrugghe, B. 2006. Genetic regulation of bone mass and susceptibility to osteoporosis. *Genes & development,* 20, 2492-2506.

- Rasmussen, L. B., Hansen, G. L., Hansen, E., Koch, B., Mosekilde, L., Molgaard, C., Sorensen, O. H. & Ovesen, L. 2000. Vitamin d: Should the supply in the danish population be increased? *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 51, 209-215.
- Reddi, A., Gay, R., Gay, S. & Miller, E. J. 1977. Transitions in collagen types during matrix-induced cartilage, bone, and bone marrow formation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 74, 5589-5592.
- Reddi, K., Henderson, B., Meghji, S., Wilson, M., Poole, S., Hopper, C., Harris, M. & Hodges, S. 1995. Interleukin 6 production by lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human fibroblasts is potently inhibited by naphthoquinone (vitamin k) compounds. *Cytokine*, 7, 287-290.
- Reid, I., Evans, M. & Ames, R. 1994. Volumetric bone density of the lumbar spine is related to fat mass but not lean mass in normal postmenopausal women. *Osteoporosis International,* **4**, 362-367.
- Reid, I. R., Ames, R., Evans, M. C., Sharpe, S., France, G. G. J. T., Lim, T. M. T. & Cundy, T. F. 1992a. Determinants of total body and regional bone mineral density in normal postmenopausal women-a key role for fat mass. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 75, 45-51.
- Reid, I. R., Mackie, M. & Ibbertson, H. K. 1986. Bone-mineral content in polynesian and white New Zealand women. *British Medical Journal*, 292, 1547-1548.
- Reid, I. R., Plank, L. D. & Evans, M. C. 1992b. Fat mass is an important determinant of whole body bone density in premenopausal women but not in men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 75, 779-782.
- Remer, T. & Manz, F. 1995. Potential renal acid load of foods and its influence on urine ph. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 95, 791-797.
- Reseland, J. E., Syversen, U., Bakke, I., Qvigstad, G., Eide, L. G., Hjertner, O., Gordeladze, J. O. & Drevon, C. A. 2001. Leptin is expressed in and secreted from primary cultures of human osteoblasts and promotes

bone mineralisation. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 16, 1426-1433.

- Richy, F., Schacht, E., Bruyere, O., Ethgen, O., Gourlay, M. & Reginster, J. Y.
 2005. Vitamin d analogs versus native vitamin d in preventing bone loss and osteoporosis-related fractures: A comparative meta-analysis. *Calcified Tissue International*, 76, 176-186.
- Rizzoli, R. 2014. Nutritional aspects of bone health. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism,* 28, 795-808.
- Rizzoli, R., Bonjour, J.-P. & Chevalley, T. Dietary protein intakes and bone growth. International Congress Series, 2007. Elsevier, 50-59.
- Rizzoli, R. & Bonjour, J. P. 2004. Dietary protein and bone health editorial. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 19, 527-531.
- Robinson, J. A., Chatterjee-Kishore, M., Yaworsky, P. J., Cullen, D. M., Zhao, W., Li, C., Kharode, Y., Sauter, L., Babij, P., Brown, E. L., Hill, A. A., Akhter, M. P., Johnson, M. L., Recker, R. R., Komm, B. S. & Bex, F. J. 2006.
 Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is a normal physiological response to mechanical loading in bone. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281, 31720-31728.
- Robling, A. G., Niziolek, P. J., Baldridge, L. A., Condon, K. W., Allen, M. R., Alam, I., Mantila, S. M., Gluhak-Heinrich, J., Bellido, T. M., Harris, S. E. & Turner, C. H. 2008. Mechanical stimulation of bone in vivo reduces osteocyte expression of sost/sclerostin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283, 5866-5875.
- Rondanelli, M., Opizzi, A., Perna, S. & Faliva, M. A. 2013. Update on nutrients involved in maintaining healthy bone. *Endocrinologia y nutricion : organo de la Sociedad Espanola de Endocrinologia y Nutricion*, 60, 197-210.
- Roughead, Z. K. F. 2003. Is the interaction between dietary protein and calcium destructive or constructive for bone?: Summary. *Journal of Nutrition*, 133, 866S-869S.

- Rubin, C. T. & Lanyon, L. E. 1984. Regulation of bone-formation by applied dynamic loads. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery-American Volume*, 66A, 397-402.
- Rubin, C. T. & Lanyon, L. E. 1985. Regulation of bone mass by mechanical strain magnitude. *Calcified Tissue International*, 37, 411-417.
- Rude, R. K., Singer, F. R. & Gruber, H. E. 2009. Skeletal and hormonal effects of magnesium deficiency. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 28, 131-141.
- Rush, E., Paterson, J. & Obolonkin, V. 2008. Food frequency information-relationships to body composition and apparent growth in 4-year-old children in the pacific island family study. *The New Zealand medical journal*, 121, 63-71.
- Rush, E., Puniani, N., Snowling, N. & Paterson, J. 2007. Food security, selection, and healthy eating in a pacific community in auckland new zealand. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 16, 448-454.
- Rush, E. C., Freitas, I. & Plank, L. D. 2009. Body size, body composition and fat distribution: Comparative analysis of european, maori, pacific island and asian indian adults. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 102, 632-641.
- Rush, E. C., Plank, L. D., Laulu, M. S. & Robinson, S. M. 1997. Prediction of percentage body fat from anthropometric measurements: Comparison of New Zealand european and polynesian young women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 66, 2-7.
- Sadeghi, N., Oveisi, M. R., Jannat, B., Hajimahmoodi, M., Behzad, M., Behfar, A., Sadeghi, F. & Saadatmand, S. 2014. The relationship between bone health and plasma zinc, copper lead and cadmium concentration in osteoporotic women. *Journal of Environmental Health Science and Engineering*, 12.
- Sahni, S., Broe, K. E., Tucker, K. L., Mclean, R. R., Kiel, D. P., Cupples, L. A. & Hannan, M. T. 2014. Association of total protein intake with bone mineral density and bone loss in men and women from the framingham offspring study. *Public Health Nutrition*, 17, 2570-2576.

- Sanbe, T., Tomofuji, T., Ekuni, D., Azuma, T., Tamaki, N. & Yamamoto, T. 2007. Oral administration of vitamin c prevents alveolar bone resorption induced by high dietary cholesterol in rats. *Journal of Periodontology*, 78, 2165-2170.
- Santos, A., Bakker, A. D., Zandieh-Doulabi, B., De Blieck-Hogervorst, J. M. A. & Klein-Nulend, J. 2010. Early activation of the beta-catenin pathway in osteocytes is mediated by nitric oxide, phosphatidyl inositol-3 kinase/akt, and focal adhesion kinase. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 391, 364-369.
- Sawakami, K., Robling, A. G., Ai, M., Pitner, N. D., Liu, D., Warden, S. J., Li, J. L., Maye, P., Rowe, D. W., Duncan, R. L., Warman, M. L. & Turner, C. H. 2006. The wnt co-receptor lrp5 is essential for skeletal mechanotransduction but not for the anabolic bone response to parathyroid hormone treatment. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281, 23698-23711.
- Schaffler, M. B., Cheung, W.-Y., Majeska, R. & Kennedy, O. 2014. Osteocytes: Master orchestrators of bone. *Calcified Tissue International*, 94, 5-24.
- Seeman, E. & Delmas, P. D. 2006. Bone quality—the material and structural basis of bone strength and fragility. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 354, 2250-2261.
- Shea, B., Wells, G., Cranney, A., Zytaruk, N., Robinson, V., Griffith, L., Ortiz, Z., Peterson, J., Adachi, J., Tugwell, P., Guyatt, G., Osteoporosis Methodol, G. & Osteoporosis Res Advisory, G. 2002. Meta-analysis of calcium supplementation for the prevention of postmenopausal osteoporosis. *Endocrine Reviews*, 23, 552-559.
- Silverman, S. 1992. The clinical consequences of vertebral compression fracture. *Bone*, 13, S27-S31.
- Skerry, T. M., Bitensky, L., Chayen, J. & Lanyon, L. E. 1989. Early strainrelated changes in enzyme-activity in osteocytes following bone loading invivo. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, **4**, 783-788.

- Smith, A. F., Jobe, J. B. & Mingay, D. J. 1991. Retrieval from memory of dietary information. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, **5**, 269-296.
- Sparc. 2003. Sparc facts: Results of the New Zealand sport and physical activity surveys (1997-2001). Wellington: SPARC.
- Sport New Zealand. 2015. Sport and active recreation in the lives of New Zealand adults. 2013/14 active New Zealand survey results. Wellington: Sport New Zealand.
- Statistics New Zealand. 2007. *Pacific peoples. 2006 census of population and dwellings.* Wellington: Statistics New Zealand.
- Stendig-Lindberg, G., Tepper, R. & Leichter, I. 1993. Trabecular bone density in a two year controlled trial of peroral magnesium in osteoporosis. *Magnesium Research*, 6, 155-163.
- Strause, L., Saltman, P., Smith, K. T., Bracker, M. & Andon, M. B. 1994. Spinal bone loss in postmenopausal women supplemented with calcium and trace minerals. *Journal of Nutrition*, 124, 1060-1064.
- Sugiura, M., Nakamura, M., Ogawa, K., Ikoma, Y., Ando, F., Shimokata, H. & Yano, M. 2011. Dietary patterns of antioxidant vitamin and carotenoid intake associated with bone mineral density: Findings from postmenopausal japanese female subjects. *Osteoporosis International*, 22, 143-152.
- Sunters, A., Armstrong, V. J., Zaman, G., Kypta, R. M., Kawano, Y., Lanyon, L. E. & Price, J. S. 2010. Mechano-transduction in osteoblastic cells involves strain-regulated estrogen receptor alpha-mediated control of insulinlike growth factor (igf) i receptor sensitivity to ambient igf, leading to phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/akt-dependent wnt/lrp5 receptorindependent activation of beta-catenin signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285, 8743-8758.
- Swaminathan, K., Flynn, R., Garton, M., Paterson, C. & Leese, G. 2009. Search for secondary osteoporosis: Are z scores useful predictors? *Postgraduate medical journal*, 85, 38-39.

- Szulc, P., Arlot, M., Chapuy, M. C., Duboeuf, F., Meunier, P. J. & Delmas, P. D. 1994. Serum undercarboxylated osteocalcin correlates with hip bone bone-mineral density in elderly women. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 9, 1591-1595.
- Szulc, P., Chapuy, M. C., Meunier, P. J. & Delmas, P. D. 1993. Serum undercarboxylated osteocalcin is a marker of the risk of hip fracture in elderly women. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 91, 1769-1774.
- Taaffe, D. R., Villa, M. L., Holloway, L. & Marcus, R. 2000. Bone mineral density in older non-hispanic caucasian and mexican-american women: Relationship to lean and fat mass. *Annals of Human Biology*, 27, 331-344.
- Tabachnick, B. G. & Fidell, L. S. 2001. *Using multivariate statistics,* Boston, MA, Allyn and Bacon.
- Talele, M. K., Tripathi, D. R. & Amod, S. 2014. Role of physical activity in addition to calcium and vitamin d supplementation in the prevention of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women: An indian scenario. *Al Ameen Journal of Medical Sciences*, 7, 188-194.
- Tang, B. M. P., Eslick, G. D., Nowson, C., Smith, C. & Bensoussan, A. 2007. Use of calcium or calcium in combination with vitamin d supplementation to prevent fractures and bone loss in people aged 50 years and older: A meta-analysis. *Lancet*, 370, 657-666.
- Taniegra, E. D. 2004. Hyperparathyroidism. *American Family Physician*, 69, 333-339.
- Taylor, B. C., Schreiner, P. J., Stone, K. L., Fink, H. A., Cummings, S. R., Nevitt, M. C., Bowman, P. J. & Ensrud, K. E. 2004. Long-term prediction of incident hip fracture risk in elderly white women: Study of osteoporotic fractures. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 52, 1479-1486.
- The Writing Group for the Iscd Position Development Conference 2004. Diagnosis of osteoporosis in men, premenopausal women, and children. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry*, 7, 17-26.

- Thomas, T., Burguera, B., Melton, L. J., Atkinson, E. J., O'fallon, W. M., Riggs, B.
 L. & Khosla, S. 2001. Role of serum leptin, insulin, and estrogen levels as potential mediators of the relationship between fat mass and bone mineral density in men versus women. *Bone*, 29, 114-120.
- Thomas, T., Gori, F., Khosla, S., Jensen, M. D., Burguera, B. & Riggs, B. L. 1999. Leptin acts on human marrow stromal cells to enhance differentiation to osteoblasts and to inhibit differentiation to adipocytes 1. *Endocrinology*, 140, 1630-1638.
- Tobias, J. H., Gould, V., Brunton, L., Deere, K., Rittweger, J., Lipperts, M. & Grimm, B. 2014. Physical activity and bone: May the force be with you. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, **5**, 20-20.
- Tommerup, L. J., Raab, D. M., Crenshaw, T. D. & Smith, E. L. 1993. Does weight-bearing exercise affect non-weight-bearing bone. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 8, 1053-1058.
- Torgerson, D. J., Campbell, M. K., Thomas, R. E. & Reid, D. M. 1996. Prediction of perimenopausal fractures by bone mineral density and other risk factors. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 11, 293-297.
- Tu, X., Rhee, Y., Condon, K. W., Bivi, N., Allen, M. R., Dwyer, D., Stolina, M., Turner, C. H., Robling, A. G., Plotkin, L. I. & Bellido, T. 2012. Sost downregulation and local wnt signaling are required for the osteogenic response to mechanical loading. *Bone*, 50, 209-217.
- Tucker, K., Kiel, D. P., Hannan, M. T. & Felson, D. T. 1995. Magnesium intake is associated with bone-mineral density (bmd) in elderly women. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 10, S466-S466.
- Tucker, K. L. 2009. Osteoporosis prevention and nutrition. *Current Osteoporosis Reports,* 7, 111-117.
- Tukuitonga, C. 2012a. *Pacific island health births, deaths and health attitudes* [Online]. Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. Available: http://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/pacific-island-health/page-1.

- Tukuitonga, C. 2012b. *Pacific island health causes of poor health* [Online]. Te Ara - the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. Available: http://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/pacific-island-health/page-4.
- Underwood, J. L. & Deluca, H. F. 1984. Vitamin d is not directly necessary for bone growth and mineralization. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 246, E493-E498.
- University of Otago & Ministry of Health. 2011. *A focus on nutrition: Key findings of the 2008/09 New Zealand adult nutrition survey*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Valdimarsson, Ö., Kristinsson, J., Stefansson, S., Valdimarsson, S. & Sigurdsson, G. 1999. Lean mass and physical activity as predictors of bone mineral density in 16 – 20 - year old women. *Journal of internal medicine*, 245, 489-496.
- Van Bezooijen, R. L., Roelen, B. a. J., Visser, A., Van Der Wee-Pals, L., De Wilt, E., Karperien, M., Hamersma, H., Papapoulos, S. E., Ten Dijke, P. & Lowik, C. 2004. Sclerostin is an osteocyte-expressed negative regulator of bone formation, but not a classical bmp antagonist. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 199, 805-814.
- Vergnaud, P., Garnero, P., Meunier, P. J., Breart, G., Kamihagi, K. & Delmas, P. D. 1997. Undercarboxylated osteocalcin measured with a specific immunoassay predicts hip fracture in elderly women: The epidos study. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 82, 719-724.
- Vermeer, C., Jie, K. S. G. & Knapen, M. H. J. 1995. Role of vitamin-k in bone metabolism. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 15, 1-22.
- Viegas, C. S. B., Cavaco, S., Neves, P. L., Ferreira, A., Joao, A., Williamson, M. K., Price, P. A., Cancela, M. L. & Simes, D. C. 2009. Gla-rich protein is a novel vitamin k-dependent protein present in serum that accumulates at sites of pathological calcifications. *American Journal of Pathology*, 175, 2288-2298.
- Von Hurst, P. R., Walsh, D. C., Conlon, C. A., Ingram, M., Kruger, R. & Stonehouse, W. 2015. Validity and reliability of bioelectrical

impedance analysis to estimate body fat percentage against air displacement plethysmography and dual - energy x - ray absorptiometry. *Nutrition & Dietetics*.

- Warburton, D. E., Nicol, C. W. & Bredin, S. S. 2006. Health benefits of physical activity: The evidence. *Canadian medical association journal*, 174, 801-809.
- Warren, M. P. & Perlroth, N. E. 2001. The effects of intense exercise on the female reproductive system. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 170, 3-11.
- Wasserman, R. H., Comar, C. L. & Nold, M. M. 1956. The influence of amino acids and other organic compounds on the gastrointestinal absorption of calcium-45 and strontium-89 in the rat. *Journal of Nutrition*, 59, 371-383.
- Wauquier, F., Leotoing, L., Coxam, V., Guicheux, J. & Wittrant, Y. 2009. Oxidative stress in bone remodelling and disease. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 15, 468-477.
- Webb, A. R., Kline, L. & Holick, M. F. 1988. Influence of season and latitude on the cutaneous synthesis of vitamin d3 - exposure to winter sunlight in boston and edmonton will not promote vitamin-d3 synthesis in human skin. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 67, 373-378.
- Weber, P. 1997. Management of osteoporosis: Is there a role for vitamin k? International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 67, 350-356.
- Weeks, B. K. & Beck, B. R. 2008. The bpaq: A bone-specific physical activity assessment instrument. *Osteoporosis International*, 19, 1567-1577.
- White, B. A. 2010. *Berne and levy physiology,* Philadelphia, PA, Mosby Elsevier.
- Willett, W. 2013. Nutritional epidemiology, Oxford University Press.
- Winzenberg, T., Shaw, K., Fryer, J. & Jones, G. 2006. Effects of calcium supplementation on bone density in healthy children: Meta-analysis

of randomised controlled trials. *British Medical Journal*, 333, 775-778F.

- Wittrant, Y., Gorin, Y., Woodruff, K., Horn, D., Abboud, H. E., Mohan, S. & Abboud-Werner, S. L. 2008. High d(+)glucose concentration inhibits rankl-induced osteoclastogenesis. *Bone*, 42, 1122-1130.
- Wolff, I., Van Croonenborg, J. J., Kemper, H. C. G., Kostense, P. J. & Twisk, J. W.
 R. 1999. The effect of exercise training programs on bone mass: A
 meta-analysis of published controlled trials in pre- and
 postmenopausal women. *Osteoporosis International*, 9, 1-12.
- World Health Organization 1995. Physical status: The use of and interpretation of anthropometry, report of a who expert committee.
- Yamaguchi, T., Chattopadhyay, N. & Brown, E. M. 2000. G protein-coupled extracellular ca(2+) (ca(o)(2+))-sensing receptor (car): Roles in cell signaling and control of diverse cellular functions. *Advances in Pharmacology, Vol 47,* 47, 209-253.
- Yamauchi, M., Sugimoto, T., Yamaguchi, T., Nakaoka, D., Kanzawa, M., Yano, S., Ozuru, R., Sugishita, T. & Chihara, K. 2001. Plasma leptin concentrations are associated with bone mineral density and the presence of vertebral fractures in postmenopausal women. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 55, 341-347.
- Youm, T., Koval, K. J., Kummer, F. J. & Zuckerman, J. D. 1999. Do all hip fractures result from a fall? *American Journal of Orthopedics*, 28, 190-4.
- Zhu, K. & Prince, R. L. 2015. Lifestyle and osteoporosis. *Current Osteoporosis Reports*, 13, 52-59.

Appendices

Appendix A: Recent Physical Activity Questionnaire (RPAQ)

. Introduction						
This questionnaire is des	signed to fin	nd out about your p	ohysical activity	in your everyd	ay life in the pas	st 4 weeks.
The questionnaire is divi	ded into 3 s	ections.				
Please answer every que	estion.					
Section A asks about yo	our physical	activity patterns in	and around the	e house.		
Section B is about travel Section C asks about re-	I to work an creations th	d your activity at w at you may have e	vork. engaged in durir	ng the last 4 w	eeks.	
Your answers will be tree EXPLORE study.	ated as stric	ctly confidential an	d will be used o	nly for the Ma	ssey University '	Women's
*1. Please enter y	our ID nu	mber (this is c	on the front o	of your Phy	sical Acitivit	ty Diary)
*2. Please enter v	our name	a.				
*						
*3. Please enter y	our date	of birth.				
		Y				
00	MM YYY					
Date/Month/Year	MM 111	-				
Date/Month/Year	/					
Date/Month/Year	MM YYY		_			
Date/Month/Year	ne Activ	vities				
Date/Month/Year	ne Activ	vities	-	-	-	-
Date/Month/Year	ne Activ	vities	-	-	-	
Date:Month/Year	ne Activ	vities				
Date:Month/Year	me Activ	vities t have you MC	DST OFTEN (used in the	last 4 week	s APAR1
Date:/Month/Year	ne Activ transpor to and fro	vities t have you MC om work?	OST OFTEN (used in the	last 4 week	s APAR1
Date/Month/Year	me Activ transpor to and fro	vities t have you MC om work?	OST OFTEN (used in the	last 4 week	S APART
Date:/Month/Year	ne Activ transpor to and fro	vities t have you MC om work?	OST OFTEN (used in the	last 4 week	s APART
Date:/Month/Year	transpor	vities t have you MC om work?	OST OFTEN (used in the	last 4 week	S APAR1
Date://onthi/Year	transpor	vities t have you MC om work?	OST OFTEN (used in the	last 4 week	S APART
Date:/Month/Year	transpor	vities t have you MC om work?	OST OFTEN (used in the	last 4 week	S APART
Date://wonth/Year	transpor to and fro	vities t have you MC om work? st 4 weeks, ho	OST OFTEN (used in the	last 4 week	s APART
Date://onthi/Year	transpor to and fro	vities t have you MC om work? st 4 weeks, ho	OST OFTEN (used in the ars per day	last 4 week have you wa	s APART
Date://onth/Year	transpor to and fro	vities t have you MC om work? st 4 weeks, ho	OST OFTEN (used in the Irs per day	last 4 week have you wa	s APAR1
Date://onth/Year	transpor to and fro	vities t have you MC om work? st 4 weeks, ho Less than 1 hour perday	OST OFTEN (ow many hou 1 to 2 hours per day	used in the Irs per day 2 to 3 hours per	last 4 week have you wa	s APART atched T
Date://wonth/Year	Transporte and fro	vities t have you MC om work? st 4 weeks, ho Less than 1 hour per day	OST OFTEN (ow many hou 1 to 2 hours per day	used in the Irs per day	have you wa	s APART atched T
Date://wonth/Year	transpor to and fro	vities t have you MC om work? st 4 weeks, ho Less than 1 hour per day	DST OFTEN (DW many hou 1 to 2 hours per day	used in the Irs per day	last 4 week	s APART
Date://wonth/Year	rer the las	vities t have you MC om work? st 4 weeks, ho Less than 1 hour per day	DST OFTEN (DW many hou 1 to 2 hours per day	used in the Irs per day	last 4 week	s APART atched T
Date://wonth/Year	rer the las	vities t have you MC om work? st 4 weeks, ho Less than 1 hour per day	OST OFTEN (ow many hou 1 to 2 hours per day O	used in the Irs per day 2 to 3 hours per day	last 4 week	atched T
Date://wonth/Year	rer the las	vities t have you MC om work? st 4 weeks, ho Less than 1 hour per day	ow many hou	used in the ars per day 2 to 3 hours per day	have you wa	s APART

EXPLORE Recent Phy	ysical Activity Ques	tionnaire (RPAQ)
--------------------	----------------------	------------------

	None	Less than 1 hour per day	1 to 2 hours per day	2 to 3 hours per day	3 to 4 hours per day	More than 4 hours per day
On a weekday before 6pm	0	0	Ö	Õ	Õ	0
On a weekday after 6pm	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ
On a weekend day before 6pm	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ
On a weekend day after 6pm	0	0	0	0	0	0
tair Climbing at home						
*4. On average ov	er the la	st 4 weeks, h	ow many tin	nes each da	v have you	climbed up
flight of stairs (ap	prox. 10	steps) at hom	ne?		,	
angin tronano (ap		1 to 5 times per	6 to 10 times per	11 to 15 times per	16 to 20 times pe	r More than 20
	None	day	day	day	day	times per day
On a weekday	0	0	0	0	0	0
On a weekend day	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ
	100	1.5	122	5755	150	100
*1. Have you beer	n in empl	oyment durin	g the past 4	weeks?		
*1. Have you beer ○ Yes ○ No	n in empl	oyment durin	g the past 4	weeks?		
*1. Have you beer Ves No . Section B - Act	in empl	oyment durin Work (conti	g the past 4 nued)	weeks?		
*1. Have you beer Yes No Section B - Act *1. During the las	ivity at t 4 week	oyment durin Work (conti s, how many '	g the past 4 nued) TOTAL hour	weeks? s of work di	d you do pe	er week
*1. Have you beer Yes No Section B - Act *1. During the las (excluding travel)?	ivity at t 4 week	oyment durin Work (conti s, how many '	g the past 4 nued) TOTAL hour	weeks? s of work di	d you do pe	er week
*1. Have you beer Yes No Section B - Act *1. During the lass (excluding travel)?	ivity at t 4 week	oyment durin Work (conti s, how many '	g the past 4 nued) TOTAL hour	weeks? s of work di	d you do pe	er week
*1. Have you been Yes No Section B - Act *1. During the lass (excluding travel)? weeks ago weeks ago	ivity at t 4 week	oyment durin Work (conti s, how many '	g the past 4 nued) TOTAL hour	weeks? s of work di	d you do pe	er week
*1. Have you been Yes No Section B - Act *1. During the las (excluding travel)? Weeks ago Weeks ago	ivity at t 4 week	oyment durin Work (conti s, how many '	g the past 4 nued) TOTAL hour	weeks? s of work di	d you do pe	er week
*1. Have you been Yes No Section B - Act *1. During the lass (excluding travel)? weeks ago weeks ago weeks ago weeks ago weeks ago	ivity at t 4 week	oyment durin Work (conti s, how many '	g the past 4 nued) TOTAL hour	weeks? s of work di	d you do pe	er week
*1. Have you been Yes No Section B - Act *1. During the lass (excluding travel)? weeks ago weeks ago weeks ago weeks ago weeks ago	ivity at t 4 week	oyment durin Work (conti s, how many '	g the past 4 nued) TOTAL hour	weeks? s of work di	d you do pe	er week
*1. Have you been Yes No Section B - Act *1. During the las (excluding travel)? Weeks ago Weeks ago Weeks ago Weeks ago Weeks ago	ivity at t 4 week	oyment durin Work (conti s, how many '	g the past 4 nued) TOTAL hour	weeks? s of work di	d you do pe	r week

EXPLORE Recen	t Physical A	ctivity Questic	onnaire (RPAQ)
*2. Please choose t	the option that	BEST correspon	ds with your occup	ation(s) in the
last 4 weeks from the	e following fou	r possiblities:		
Sedentary occupation: you	spend most of your time	e sitting (such as in an office	=)	
O Standing occupation: you s	pend most of your time : quard)	standing or walking. Howev	er, your work does not require	intense physical effort.
Manual work: this involves carpenter)	some physical effort inc	cluding handling heavy obje	cts and use of tools (e.g. plur	nber, electrician,
Heavy manual work: this in bricklayer, construction worker)	iplies very vigorous phy	sical activity including hand	ling of very heavy objects (e.g	. dock worker, miner,
Travel to and from work in the last	4 weeks			
*3. What is the app	roximate distar	nce from your hor	ne to your work in	kilometres? (e.g.
10.5)				
*4. How many time	s a week did yo	ou travel from ho	me to your main w	ork? (Count
outward journeys on	ily)			
*E Have did you not	mally travel to	work?		
** 5. How ald you not	many travel to	WOIK:	Occastionally	Navar or meals
By car/motor vehicle	O	O		O
By works or public transport	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ
By bicycle	0	0	0	0
Walking	0	0	0	0
6. Please enter the p don't know your post 7. If you didn't know *8. What is the pos	ostcode for you t code please g your work post tcode of your h	ur main place of v go to question 7, d t code, please en nome address?	vork during the las otherwise skip to d ter your work add	t 4 weeks. If you juestion 8. ress.
5. Section C - Recr	eation			
The following questions as	k about how you or	nant unur laisura tima		
The following questions as	ik about now you sp	pent your leisure unie.		
Please indicate how often	you did each activity	y on average over the	last 4 weeks.	
Please indicate the average	e length of time that	at you spent doing the	activity on each occasio	n.

EXPLORE Recent Physical Activity Questionnaire (RPAQ)

1. Please indicate the NUMBER OF TIMES you did each activity in the past 4 weeks and the AVERAGE LENGTH OF TIME you spent doing that activity on each of those occasions.

Note: We want to know the AVERAGE TIME you spent doing the activity on EACH OCCASION, not the total time per week, e.g., if you did weeding for 1.5 hours twice a week, you would select '2 to 3 times per week' for the number of times, then '1' for hours and '30' for minutes.

Please answer for EVERY activity. If you DID NOT do an activity, choose 'None' for the number of times.

If you did an activity which doesn't fit into any of those listed below, please list them under the "Other" options and state what they were.

	Number of times in	Average time per	(minutes)
	last 4 weeks	session (nours)	
Swimming competitively			
Swimming leisurely			
Hiking or mountain climbing			
Walking for pleasure (not as a means of transport)			
Racing or rough terrain cycling			
Cycling for pleasure (not as a means of transport)			
Mowing the lawn			
Watering the lawn or garden			
Digging, shoveling or chopping wood			
Weeding or pruning			
DIY e.g. carpentry, home or car maintenance			
High impact aerobics or step aerobics			
Other types of aerobics			
Exercise with weights			
Conditioning exercises e.g. using an exercise bike or rowing maching	ine		
Floor exercises e.g. stretching, bending, keep fit or yoga			
Dancing e.g. kapa haka, walata-a-ringa, lakalaka, hip hop			
Competitive running			
Jogging			
Bowling - Indoor, lawn or 10 pin			
Tennis or badminton			
Squash			
Table tennis			
Golf			

ali, rugby, hockey, touch et or softball/baseball re ali, volleyball or basketball re riding riding ter, billiards or darts al instrument playing or singing ating g, wind-surfing or boating il arts, boxing or wresting 1 2 3 4 5 you selected "Other" activities above please			
tor softball/baseball			
ng iii, volleyball or basketball ig riding ter, billiards or darts al instrument playing or singing ating g, wind-surfing or boating ii arts, boaing or wrestling 1 2 3 4 5 you selected "Other" activities above please			
III, volleyball or basketball riding riding rec, billiards or darts al instrument playing or singing ating g, wind-surfing or boating at arts, boxing or wrestling 1 2 3 4 5 you selected "Other" activities above please			
riding riding ter, billiards or darts al instrument playing or singing ating g, wind-surfing or boating il arts, boxing or wrestling 1 2 3 4 5 you selected "Other" activities above please b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b b	state what e		
riding ter, billards or darts al instrument playing or singing ating g, wind-surfing or beating at ats, boaing or wrestling at at a structure			
ter, billiards or darts al instrument playing or singing ating g, wind-surfing or boating il arts, boxing or wrestling 1 2 3 4 5 you selected "Other" activities above please	state what e		
al instrument playing or singing ating g, wind-surfing or boating al arts, boxing or wrestling 1 2 3 4 5 you selected "Other" activities above please	state what e		
ating g, wind-surfing or beating all arts, boaling or wrestling 1 2 3 4 5 you selected "Other" activities above please	state what e		
anng g, wind-surfing or boating at arts, boxing or wrestling 1 2 3 4 5 you selected "Other" activities above please	state what e		
g, wind-suring or boating al arts, boxing or wrestling 1 2 3 4 5 you selected "Other" activities above please	state what e		
1 arts, boxing or wresting 1 2 3 4 5 you selected "Other" activities above please 1 2 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	state what e		
1	state what e		
2 3 4 5 you selected "Other" activities above please	state what e		
3 [4 [5] 9 ou selected "Other" activities above please	state what e	ach one was	
4 [5] you selected "Other" activities above please	state what e	each one was	
s [you selected "Other" activities above please	state what e	each one was	. —
you selected "Other" activities above please	state what e	ach one was	

Appendix B: Bone-Specific Physical Activity Questionnaire (BPAQ)

you were for each	spon	act		-	1							-				1	1	1	<u> </u>										
Aç Activities	⁹ · 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13 1	14 1	5 16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30
																										-			
																													_
	-									0 0		1		2				2 2										-	
Age						-																50			50			50	
Activities	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38	39	40	41	42	43 4	44 4	5 46	4/	48	49	50	51	52	53	54	55	56	5/	58	59	60
						_																							
Age	61	62	63	64	65	66	67	68	69	70	71	72	73 7	74 7	5 76	77	78	79	80	81	82	83	84	85	86	87	88	89	90
Activities		_										-																	_
						-			_			-	-	-	-		-	-	-			-	2 - 12	- 12					_
Во	ne	-S	pe	ci	₿	C	E-SPE	CCIFI Devel Gri	IC PI loped iffith	HYSI I by B Univ	CAL . B.K. W versity	ACTI Veeks V, QL	VITY (and B D, Aus	QUES 3.R. Bo stralia	stion. eck	Qu	E	sti	01	n	ai	re	÷ (B			2)		
Во	ne	-S	ре	C	₿ Ifi	ONE	z-spe I	CCIFJ Devel Gri IY	IC PI loped iffith	HYSI i by E Univ	CAL . 3.K. II versity	ACTI Veeks v, QL		QUES 3.R. Bi stralia	stion. eck	NAIR Qu	E	sti	01	nn	ai	re	e (BI	<u></u>		!)	0	
BO 2. Please list the s	ne [-S subje	pe ccr II	Ci	₿ B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B	C	Ph	tcIFJ Devel Gri NY	IC PI loped iffith SI	HYSI by E Univ	CAL . 3.K. Th versity al	ACTI Veeks Veeks AC	VITY (and B D, Aus tin	QUES 3.R. Bi stralia Vit	y (NAIR QU	e) y	sti	OI	nn	ai	re	e (BI	D arly	\Q y du	!)	g th	e <u>la</u>
Bo 2. Please list the s months and inc Activity:	ne [ports cate	-S subjections	pe corn othe ave	Ci er p rag	B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B	C	Ph I acuen	CCIFJ Devel Gru DY:	IC PI loped iffith SI	HYSI I by E Unitv	e as	ACTII Veeks y, QL	virry (and B D, Aus tiv	QUES 3.R. B. stralia VIL DATE c as k)?	y (Qu	E E E E E	sti /ou	OI		ai	re	e (n re	B	D A arly	\C	!)	g th	e <u>la</u>
Bo 2. Please list the s months and inc Activity: _	ne [ports cate	-S subjection	pe ccr II oothe ave	Ci er p rag	B bhys je fr	C Sica	Ph II acuen	CCIFJ Devel Gri DY:	IC Pl oped iffith Si	HYSI I by E Univ	CAL 3.K Thereith al	ACTI Veeks v, QL	viiry (and B D, Aus ttiv	QUES 3.R. Bo stralia DATE	y (Qu	E e) y Fr	sti /ou	OI	ticip	ai	re	e (n re	Bl	D arly	\C	!)	g th	e <u>la</u>
Bo 2. Please list the s months and inc Activity: _ Activity: _	ne [ports cate	-SI SUBJE	pe contra ave	Ci er p rag	B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B	C Sica	Ph Il acuen	CCIFJ Gra Gra NY:	IC PI loped iffith	HYSI by E Univ	e as	ACTI Veeks v, QL	VITY (and B D, Aus tin	QUES 3.R. Ba stralia DATE c as k)?	y C	Qu	e) y Fr	you requ	par	ticip ticip	ai pate	re ed i	e (n re k): .	B	D	d u	()	g th	e <u>l</u> a
Bo 2. Please list the s months and inc Activity: _ Activity: _ Activity: _	ne [ports cate	-S subjections	pe ccr II oothe ave	Ci pr pr	B fic	C	Ph Il acuen	CCIF, Devel Gri DY:	ties	HYSI by E Univ	e as	ACTII Veeks v, QL	viiry (and B D, Aus tiv	QUES 3.R. Bi stralia DATE	pos	Qu	e) y Fr Fr	sti vou requ requ		ticip ticip cy (p		re ad in wee	• (• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Bl	D	\G	()	g th	e <u>l</u> a
Bo 2. Please list the s months and inc Activity: _ Activity: _ Activity: _ Activity: _	ports cate	-SI subjection	othe	Ci pr rag	B bhys ge fr	C	Ph Il acuen	CCIFJ Devel Gra IV:	ties	HYSI I by E Univ	e as	ACTI Veeks v, QL	VITY (and B D, Aus :ti\ ecific	QUES 3.R. BB stralia DATE c as k)?	pos	Qu	E e) y Fr Fr Fr	you requ requ requ		ticip ticip cy (p cy (p cy (p		re ad in wee wee	e (n re k): k): k):	BI	arly	v du	()	g th	e <u>la</u>
Bo 2. Please list the s months and inc Activity: _ Activity: _ Activity: _ Activity: _ Activity: _	ne [ports cate	-SI subj	othe	Ci prag	B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B	C	Ph Il acuen	ccur, Devel Gri Cy (IC PJ oped iffith Si	HYSI by E Univ	e as	ACTII Veeks , QL AC	VIIY (and B D, Aus ctil	QUESS 3.R. Ba stralia DATE c ass k)?	y (Qu	E e) y Fr Fr Fr Fr	sti vou requ requ requ		ticit ticit (p) (y: (p) (y: (p) (y: (p) (y: (p) (y: (p) (y) (y) (y) (y) (y) (y) (y) (y) (y) (y		re ad in wee wee	e (n re k): . k): . k): .	BI	arly	du	()	g th	e <u>la</u>
Bo 2. Please list the s months and inc Activity: _ Activity: _ Activity: _ Activity: _ Activity: _ Activity: _ Activity: _	ne [ports cate	-S subjections	othe	Ci pr pr	B bhys ge fr	C		CCIF. Grand	IC PJ oped iffith Si	HYSI I by E Univ	CAL S.K. Fi eersity al	ACTI Veeks y, QL AC	VIIY (and B D, Aus still ecifie weel	QUES 3.R. B stralia vit, DATE c as k)?	y C	Qu	e) y Fr Fr Fr Fr	sti vou requ requ requ requ		ticip ticip cy (p cy (p cy (p cy (p cy (p cy (p		re ad in wee wee wee	e (n re k): . k): . k): . k): .	BI gul	arly	du	()	g th	e <u>la</u>
Bo	ports	-SI SUBJE	othe	Ci pr p rag	B bhys je fr	C		CCIFJ Devel Gri T Y :	ties ses	HYSI I by E Univ	e as	ACTI Veeks , QL AC	VITY (D, Aus still ecifii weel	QUES 3.R. B stralia VIT DATE c as k)?	y (Qu	e) y Fr Fr Fr Fr Fr			ticit ticit ticit ticit ticit ticit ticit			• (• (• k): • k): • k): • k): • k): • k): • k): • k):	BI gul	arly	, du	!) ring 	g th	e <u>la</u>

Bone-Specific Physical Activity Questionnaire (BPAQ)

BONE-SPECIFIC PHYSICAL ACTIVITY QUESTIONNAIRE Developed by B.K. Weeks and B.R. Beck Griffith University, QLD, Australia

Appendix C: Current BPAQ (cBPAQ) algorithm

cBPAQ algorithm (Weeks and Beck, 2008):

cBPAQ = [R + 0.2R(n-1)] x a

R = effective load stimulus (derived from ground force reaction testing)

n = frequency of participation (per week)

a = age weighting factor (age weightings: <10 yrs = 1.2; 10-15 yrs = 1.5; 15-35 yrs = 1.1; >35 yrs = 1.0)

Appendix D: Food Frequency Questionnaire

EXPLORE Food	l Frequ	ency (Questi	onnaire	÷				
1. Please read c	arefully	before	you b	egin:					
Please make sure whe	n filling out t	this question	onnaire th	nat you:					
Tell us what YOU usu Fill in the form YOUR Are correct, but don't Answer EVERY quesi before moving onto the	ally eat (not SELF. spend too n tion; the ast next questio	t someone nuch time erisk symb on.	else in y on each f ool (*) at t	our househ Tood. he beginnir	old!). ng of each	n question	means tha	at you mu	st answer
This will help us to get	the most ac	curate info	rmation a	about your	usual food	l intake.			
Please answer by tickin the LAST MONTH and	ig the box w HOW MUCI	hich best H you wou	describes Id usually	HOW OF have.	FEN you a	te or dran	nk a particu	ular food o	r drink in
For example:									
1. EXAMPLE: How	often do	you usi	ually ha	ive suga	r? (Plea	se do n	ot fill ou	ıt)	
	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Sugar - 1 tsp	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc
If every day you have 2 cups o pancakes at dinner, you would	of coffee with 1 1 choose four o	tsp sugar, 4 r more times	cups of tea	with 1 tsp su 4+ x / day'.	gar, one bow	/i of cereal w	vith 1 tsp sug	ar and sugai	ron
Adjust your portion size and fr	equency of Int	ake to suit yo	our eating h	abits.					
2. EXAMPLE: How	often do	you usi	ually ea	at bread	? (Pleas	e do no	t fill out)		
	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Bread - 1 slice	\circ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc
If every day you have two slice times per day = '2-3x / day'.	es of toast for b	oreakfast, and	d you have	a sandwich fo	r lunch three	e times per w	veek, you wou	uld choose th	wo - three
Adjust your portion size and fr	equency of Int	ake to sult yo	our eating h	abits.					

2. EXPLORE Study Food Frequency Questionnaire

*1. Please enter your study ID (if you are unsure or don't know please ask the researcher)

3. Eating Pattern

*1. How would you describe your eating pattern? (Please choose one only)

Eat a variety of all foods, including animal products

- Eat eggs, dairy products, fish and chicken but avoid other meats
- Eat eggs, dairy products and fish, but avoid chicken and other red meats
- Eat eggs and dairy products, but avoid all meats, chicken and fish
- C Eat eggs, but avoid dairy products, all meats and fish
- Eat dairy products, but avoid eggs, all meats and fish
- Eat no animal products
- None of the above

Other (please state)

^k 4. How often do you usually have	e mill	k?								
	N	lever	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x day
lavoured milk (milkshake, iced coffee, Primo, Nesquik) 50 mL/ 1 cup	- (0	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0	С
llik as a drink - 250 mL / 1 cup		$^{\circ}$	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\circ	С
lik on breakfast cereals or porridge - 125 mL/ 1/2 cup	(0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	C
flik added to water-based hot drinks (coffee, tea) - 50 m /5 cup	il (0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	С
/IIk-based hot drinks (Latte, Milo) - 250 mL / 1 cup	(0	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\odot	C
^k 5. How often do you usually eat o	hee	se?								
of from orien ao you assumy cut o		<1X	/ 1-3x	/ 1x/	2-3x /	4-6x/	Once	/ 2-3x/	4+ x /	4+)
	Never	mont	h mont	h week	week	week	day	day	day	da
Cheddar (tasty, mlid, colby) - 2 heaped Tbsp / natchbox cube	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C
dam, Gouda, Swiss - 2 heaped Tbsp / matchbox cube	Q	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C
eta, Mozarella, Camembert - 1 heaped Tbsp / 1 med vedge	0	0	\circ	0	0	0	0	0	0	C
irie, blue and other specialty cheese - 1 heaped Tbsp / med wedge	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	С
Processed cheese slices - 1 slice	\odot	\odot	\circ	0	0	0	\odot	0	0	C
Cream cheese - 2 heaped Tbsp	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	С
Cottage or ricotta cheese - 2 heaped Tbsp	\odot	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C
^k 6. How often do you usually eat t	these	e dai	rybas ⊲1x/	sed fo 1-3x /	ods?	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x /	4+ x
20000 2 coope		\cap	month	month	week	week	week	day	day	day
Sustant or dainy food - 1 pottle / 16 cup		X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	K
(ophust plain or flavour - 1 pottle / 34 oup		ă	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	č
		X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	č
armented or evanorated milk (buttermilk) - 34 our	-	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	č
inin publicings (semolina, instant) - 2: dup	(ŏ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	(

EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire
5. Bread
*1. Do you eat bread? No Yes 2. What type(s) of bread, rolls or toast do you eat most often? (You can choose up to 3 options, but please only choose the ones you usually have) Not applicable White - high fibre White - high fibre Wholemeal or wheat meal
Other (please state)
*3. What type of bread slice do you usually have? (Please choose one only) Not applicable Sandwich slice Toast slice
 Mixture of both sandwich and toast slices *4. On average, how many servings of bread do eat per day? (Please choose one
only) (A 'serving' = 1 slice of bread or 1 small roll)
Less than 1 serving 1-2 servings 3-4 servings 5-6 servings 7 or more servings

5. How often do you usually eat these N lain white bread - 1 slice (ligh fibre white bread - 1 slice (lifholemeal or wheat meal - 1 slice (lifholegrain bread - 1 slice (lifholegrain bread - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread or fruit bun - 1 slice (lift bread -			ased f 1-3x / month 0 0 0 0 0	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week		2-3x/ day	4+ X/ B) () () () () () () () () () () () () ()
N Iain white bread - 1 silce (Igh fibre white bread - 1 silce (Iholegrain bread - 1 silce (Iholegrain bread - 1 silce (Iholegrain bread - 1 silce (Itap - 1 medium (locaccia, bagel, pita, panini or other speciality breads - 1 (edium araoa Parai (fry bread) - 1 silce (ewena bread - 1 silce (oughboys or Maorl bread - 1 silce (<1x/ month 000000000000000000000000000000000000	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	aay	2-3x/ day	4+ x/ day 00000000000000000000000000000000000
lain white bread - 1 silce () ligh fibre white bread - 1 silce () /holemeal or wheat meal - 1 silce () /holegrain bread - 1 silce () edium () araoa Paral (fry bread) - 1 silce () ewena bread - 1 silce () /holegrain bread - 1 silce () /holeg	000000000000	00000000000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	00000000	00000000	0000000	0000000	0000000	000000
Igh fibre white bread - 1 silce (holemeal or wheat meal - 1 silce (holegrain bread - 1 silce (holegrain bread - 1 silce (trut bread or fruit bun - 1 silce (trap - 1 medium (bocaccia, bagel, pita, panini or other speciality breads - 1 (edium araoa Paral (fry bread) - 1 silce (ewena bread - 1 silce (boughboys or Maori bread - 1 silce (00000000000	0000000000	0000000	0000000	0000000	0000000	000000	00000	00000
Iholemeal or wheat meal - 1 slice (Iholegrain bread - 1 slice (rult bread or fruit bun - 1 slice ((rap - 1 medium (occaccia, bagel, pita, panini or other speciality breads - 1 (edium (araoa Paral (fry bread) - 1 slice (ewena bread - 1 slice (0000000000	00000000	000000	000000	00000	00000	00000	0000	0000
tholegrain bread - 1 silce (ruit bread or fruit bun - 1 silce (trap - 1 medium (occaccia, bagel, pita, panini or other speciality breads - 1 (edium (araoa Paral (fry bread) - 1 silce (ewena bread - 1 silce (00000000	0000 0	00000	0000	0000	0000	0000	000	000
ruit bread or fruit bun - 1 siloe () Irap - 1 medium () occaccia, bagel, pita, panini or other speciality breads - 1 () edium araoa Paral (fry bread) - 1 siloe () ewena bread - 1 siloe () oughboys or Maori bread - 1 siloe ()	000	000 00	000	000	000	000	000	00	Õ
Itap - 1 medium (occaccia, bagel, pita, panini or other speciality breads - 1 (edium araoa Paral (fry bread) - 1 silce (ewena bread - 1 silce (oughboys or Maori bread - 1 silce (0000000	0000	00	00	00	0	Õ	Ó	\cap
ocaccia, bagel, pita, panini or other speciality breads - 1 (edium araoa Paral (fry bread) - 1 silce (ewena bread - 1 silce (oughboys or Maori bread - 1 silce (0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\sim		\cup
araoa Paral (fry bread) - 1 siloe (ewena bread - 1 siloe (oughboys or Maori bread - 1 siloe (000	Õ	\cap		-	\cup	0	Ο	0
ewena bread - 1 silce (oughboys or Maori bread - 1 silce (0	~	\cup	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	\bigcirc	0
oughboys or Maori bread - 1 silce (\sim	\odot	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0
	\bigcirc	Ο	Ο	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
How often do you usually eat these	e oth	er bro	ead b	ased f	oods	?			
N	Vever	<1x/	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once /	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
rumpet or muffin split - 1 crumpet / 1 whole muffin split (0	0	0	0	0	0	Õ	Ő	Ó
cone - 1 medium (Ó	Ō	0	Ō	Ō	Ó	Ó	Ō	Ó
ran muffin or savoury muffin - 1 medium (0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
roissant - 1 medium (0	Ο	0	0	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	0
/affie, pancakes or pikelets - 1 medium / 2 small (0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	0
ed buns - 1 medium (0	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0	0
rackers (cream crackers, cruskits, com / rice crackers, tawheat) - 2 medium	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	0	Ο	0
7. Do you have butter, margarine or s No Yes	prea	ds on) brea	d or c	racke	rs?			

EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire
8. What type(s) do you have most often? (You can choose up to 3 options, but please
only choose the ones you usually have)
Not applicable
Butter (all varieties)
Monounsaturated fat margarine e.g. Ollve, Rice Bran, Canola Oli Spreads
Polyunsaturated fat margarine e.g. Sunflower Oli Spreads
Light monounsaturated fat margarine e.g. Olivio Spread Light
Light polyunsaturated fat margarine e.g. Flora Spread Light
Plant sterol enriched margarine e.g. Pro Active, Logical Spreads
Light plant steroi enriched margarine e.g. Pro Active Spread Light
Butter and margarine blend e.g. Country Soft, Butter Lea
Other (please state)
*9. On average, how many servings of butter, margarine or spreads do you have per
day? (Please choose one only)
(A 'serving' = 1 level teaspoon or 5 mL)
e.g. 1 sandwich with butter thinly spread on two pieces of bread = 2 servings
Not applicable
Less than 1 serving
1–2 servings
3–4 servings
5–6 servings
7 or more servings

EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire
6. Breakfast Cereals and Porridge
*1. Do you usually eat breakfast cereal and/or porridge?
○ No
⊖ Yes
2. What breakfast cereal(s) do you eat most often? (You can choose up to 3 options, but
please only choose the ones you usually have)
Not applicable
Weetblx
Refined cereals e.g. Comflakes or Rice Bubbles
Bran based cereals including fruity varieties e.g. Special K, Muesli, All Bran
Sweetened e.g. Nutrigrain, Cocoa Pops
Porridge
Other (please state)
e.g. ½ cup of porridge 3 times per week + 2 weetbix 4 times a week = 7 servings per week
Less than 4 servings
4-6 servings
7-9 servings
0 10-12 servings
O 13–15 servings
16 or more servings

*4. How often do you usually eat porridge or these cereal foods?									
	Never	<1x/ month	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Porridge, rolled oats, oat bran, oat meai - ½ cup	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0	0
Muesil (all varieties) - ½ cup	0	$^{\circ}$	\odot	$^{\circ}$	\odot	\odot	$^{\circ}$	\odot	\circ
Weetblx (all varieties) - 2 weetblx	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Comflakes or rice bubbles - % cup	0	\circ	\circ	0	\odot	0	\odot	0	0
Bran cereals (All Bran, Bran Flakes) - ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Bran based cereals (Sultana Bran, Sultana Bran Extra) - $\%$ cup	Ο	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	0	Ο	0
Light and fruity cereals (Special K, Light and Tasty) - $\%$ cup	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
Chocolate based cereals (Milo cereal, Coco Pops) - ½ cup	0	0	0	0	Ó	0	0	Ó	0
Sweetened cereals (Nutrigrain, Fruit Loops, Honey Puffs, Frosties) - ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Breakfast drinks (Up and Go) - Small carton / 250 mL	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο

EXPLORE Food Frequency Qu	estio	nnai	re						
7. Starchy Foods									
 *1. Do you eat any type of starchy for No Yes *2. On average, how many servings couscous do you eat per week? (Pleat (A 'serving' = 1 cup cooked rice / pasta e.g. 1 cup of rice + ½ cup of pasta incle = 2.5 servings Not applicable Less than 4 servings 4-6 servings 10-12 servings 10 10 content 	oodss ofstan isech a) ludedi	uch a rchy fi oose (s rice oods s oone o sagne	, past such : nly) e past	a, noo as rice a dish	odles e, pas 1 + 1 c	and c ta, no up of	ousco odles spagh	and netti
0 13–15 servings									
*3. How often do you usually eat the	se sta	<1x / month	foods 1-3x / month	? 1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Rice, white - 1 cup	0	Q	0	0	0	0	0	Q	0
Rice, brown or wild - 1 cup	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	Ö
Canned spaghetti (Wattles) - 1 cup	X	8	X	X	В	X	X	X	ö
Instant noodles (2 minute noodles) - 1 packet	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ
Egg and rice noodles (hokklen noodles, udon) - 1 cup	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ
Other grain (quinoa, couscous, bulgar wheat) - 1 cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire									
8. Meat									
 *1. Do you eat beef, mutton, hogget, lamb, or pork No Yes *2. Do you trim any excess fat (fat you can see) off these meats? (Please choose one only) Not applicable Always Often Occasionally Never out the fat off meat *3. On average, how many servings of meat e.g. beef, mutton, hogget, lamb or pork do 									
you eat per week? (Please choose one (A 'serving' = palm size or ½ a cup of m e.g. ½ cup of savoury mince + 2 small Not applicable Less than 1 serving 1-3 servings 4-6 servings	e only neat v lamb) vithou chops	ıt bon s = 2 s	e) ervin	gs				
7 or more servings									
★4. How often do you usually eat mea	Never	<1x/	1-3x /	1x/	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x /	4+ x /
Beef mince dishes (rissoles, meatloaf, hamburger pattle) - 1 silce / patty / $\%$ cup	0	month	month	Week	week	Week	day	day	day
Beef or veal mixed dishes (casserole, stir-fry) - $\%$ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Beef or veal (roast, chop, steak, schnitzel, corned beef) - paim size / ½ cup	Ο	Ο	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	0
Lamb, hogget or mutton mixed dishes (stews, casserole, stirfy) - $\%$ cup	0	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0	0
Lamb, hogget or mutton (roast, chops, steak) - paim size / $\%$ cup	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	\bigcirc
Pork (roast, chop, steak) - palm size / ½ cup	Ο	\bigcirc	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	0
Canned comed beef - 1 medium slice	\bigcirc	Ο	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Ο	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

EXPLORE Food Frequency Qu	estio	nnai	re						
*5. How often do you usually eat these other meats?									
	Never	<1x/ month	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Sausage, frankfurter or saveloy - 1 sausage / frankfurter/ 2 saveloys	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\circ
Bacon - 2 rashers	0	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	\circ	0	\circ
Ham - 1 medium silce	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Luncheon meats or brawn - 1 slice	0	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	0	0	0
Salami or chorizo - 1 siloe / cube	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Offal (liver, kidneys, pate) - palm size / ½ cup	0	Ο	0	0	Ο	Ο	0	0	0
Venison/game - paim size / ½ cup	Ο	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

EXPLORE Food Frequency Que	estio	nnai	re						
9. Poultry									
 9. Poultry *1. Do you eat poultry e.g. chicken, to No Yes *2. Do you remove the skin from chice Not applicable Always Often Occasionally Never remove the skin from chicken *3. On average, how many servings of one only) (A 'serving' = palm size of chicken or ½ e.g. 1 chicken breast + 2 chicken drum Not applicable Less than1 serving 1-3 servings 4-6 servings 	urkey ken? of chic 2 cup) stick	or du (Plea cken d) s + 1 d	ck? se ch do you	oose 1 eat j	one o oer wo	nly) eek? (servi	Pleas ngs pr	e cho er wee	ose ek
*4. How offen de veu usually oof neu	14002								
4. Now often do you usually eat pou	Never	<1x /	1-3x /	1x/	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x /	4+ x /
Chicken legs or wings - paim size / ½ cup / 1 unit (wing, drumstick)	0								
Chicken breast - paim size / ½ cup / ½ breast	0	0	0	Ο	0	Ο	0	0	0
Chicken mixed dishes (casserole, stir-fry) - paim size / $\%$ cup	0	0	Q	Q	Q	Q	0	0	0
Crumbed chicken (nuggets, patties, schnitzel) - 1 medium / 4 nuggets	Ο	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	0	Ο	\odot
Turkey or quali - paim size / ½ cup	\bigcirc	Ο	\bigcirc	Ο	Ο	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Mutton bird or duck - paim size / % cup	Ο	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	0	Ο	\circ

EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire
10. Fish and Seafood
 ★ 1. Do you eat any type of fish or seafood? No Yes
*2. On average, how many servings of fish and seafood (all types; fresh, frozen, tinned) do you eat per week? (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = 80 - 120g or palm size or small tin (85g)) e.g. 1 fish fillet and 1 small tin of tuna = 2 servings per week.
Not applicable Less than 1 serving 1-3 servings
 4-6 servings 7 or more servings 2. How do you not make to contract (ont figh? (You can alwage up to 2 antions, but places)
only choose the ones you usually have)
Not applicable Raw / I don't cook It Oven baked / Grilled Deep fried Shallow fry Micro waved
Steamed Poached Smoked

*4. How often do you usually eat seafood?									
	Never	<1x/ month	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Canned Salmon - 1 small can (85-95g)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0
Canned Tuna - 1 small can (85-95g)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Canned Mackerel, sardines, anchovies, herring - 1 small can (85-95g)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Frozen crumbed fish (patties, filiets, cakes, fingers, nuggets) - 1 medium / 4 nuggets	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Snapper, Tarakihi, Hoki, Cod, Flounder - paim size / ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc
Gurnard, Kahawal or Trevally - paim size / ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Lemon fish or Shark - paim size / ½ cup	0	0	0	0	Q	0	0	0	0
Tuna - paim size / ½ cup	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ
Saimon, trout or eel - paim size / ½ cup	\odot	\odot	0	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot
*5. How often do you usually eat seafood?									
*5. How often do you usually eat sea	food?	2							
*5. How often do you usually eat sea	Never	<1x/	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
* 5. How often do you usually eat sea Shrimp, prawn, lobster or crayfish - ½ cup	Never	<1x/ month	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
* 5. How often do you usually eat sea Shrimp, prawn, lobster or crayfish - ½ cup Crab or surumi - ½ cup	Never	<1x/ month	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
* 5. How often do you usually eat sea Shrimp, prawn, lobster or crayfish - ½ cup Crab or surumi - ½ cup Scallops, mussels, cysters, paua or clams - ½ cup	Never	<1x/ month	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
* 5. How often do you usually eat sea Shrimp, prawn, lobster or orayfish - ½ cup Crab or surumi - ½ cup Scallops, mussels, oysters, paua or clams - ½ cup Pipi or cockie - ½ cup	Never	<1x/ month	1-3x / month		2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x/ day	4+ x / day
* 5. How often do you usually eat sea Shrimp, prawn, lobster or orayfish - ½ oup Crab or surumi - ½ oup Scallops, mussels, oysters, paua or clams - ½ oup Pipi or cockie - ½ oup Kina - ½ oup	Never	<1x/ month	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-5x / week	once / day	2-3x/ day	4+ x / day
* 5. How often do you usually eat sea Shrimp, prawn, lobster or orayfish - ½ cup Crab or surumi - ½ cup Scallops, mussels, oysters, paua or clams - ½ cup Pipi or cockie - ½ cup Kina - ½ cup Whitebalt - ½ cup	Never	<1x/ month	1-3x / month		2-3x/ week	4-6x / week	once / day	2-3x/ day	4+ x / day
* 5. How often do you usually eat sea Shrimp, prawn, lobster or orayfish - ½ cup Crab or surumi - ½ cup Scallops, mussels, oysters, paua or clams - ½ cup Pipi or cockie - ½ cup Kina - ½ cup Whitebait - ¼ cup Roe - ¼ cup	Never	<1x/ month 000000000000000000000000000000000000	1-3x / month		2-3x / week	4-5x / week		2-3x/ day	4+ x / day

EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire
11. Fats and Oils
*1. Do you cook meat, chicken, fish, eggs and/or vegetables with fat or oil? No Yes
2. What type(s) do you use most often? (You can choose up to 3 options, but please
only choose the ones you usually have)
Not applicable
Butter (all varieties)
Margarines (all varieties)
Cooking oils (all varieties)
Lard, Dripping, Coconut oil, Ghee (clarified butter)
Cooking spray
Other (please state)
(A 'serving' = 1 level teaspoon or 5 mL) Not applicable Less than 1 serving 2 servings 3 servings 4 servings 5 or more servings
st4. On average, how many servings of fat or oil do you use to cook per week? (Please
choose one only)
Not applicable
15 or more servings
EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire

12. Eggs
*1. Do you eat eggs?
O Yes
*2. On average, not counting eggs used in baking / cooking, how many eggs do you usually eat per week? (Please choose one only)
Not applicable
Less than 1 egg
1 egg
2 eggs
🔘 3 eggs
4 eggs
5 or more eggs
*3. How often do you usually eat egg
Whole eggs (hard-bolled, poached, fried, mashed, omelette, scrambled) - 1 egg
Mixed egg dish (quiche, frittata, other baked egg) - 1 slice

13. Leaumes			13. Legumes								
*1. Do you eat legumes e.g. chickpeas/dried peas, soybeans, dried/canned beans, baked beans, lentils or Dahl? No Yes											
*2. On average, how many servings of legumes (fresh, frozen, canned, dried) do you eat per week? (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = ½ cup or 125g of cooked legumes)											
Not applicable											
C Less than 1 serving											
1 serving											
2 servings											
3 servings											
4-5 servings											
6-7 servings											
8 or more servings											
*3. How often do you usually eat the	se lea	umes	?								
	Never	<1x/	1-3x /	1x/	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x/	4+ x /		
Soybeans - % cup	\bigcirc	month	month	week	week	week	day	day	day		
Tofu - ½ cup	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ		
Dahi - % cup	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ		
Canned or dried legumes, beans (baked beans, chickpeas, lentils, peas, beans) - % cup	Ó	Ó	Ó	Ó	Õ	Ó	Ó	Õ	Õ		
Hummus - 2 Tbsp	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc		

EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire										
4. Vegetables										
*1. Do you eat vegetables? No Yes										
*2. On average, how many servings of vegetables (fresh, frozen, canned) do you eat per day? Do NOT include vegetable juices. (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = 1 medium potato / kumara or ½ cup cooked vegetables or 1/2 cup of lettuce) o a 2 medium potatotes + 1/4 cup of page = 3 servings										
O Not applicable	:45 - 5	Servi	ngs							
Less than 1 serving										
1 serving										
2 servings										
3 servings										
4 or more servings										
			10.0							
"S. How often do you usually eat th	ese veç	setab <1x/	1-3x/	1x/	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x /	4+ x /	
	Never	month	month	week	week	week	day	day	day	
Potato (bolled, mashed, baked, roasted) - 1 medium / 1/2 ci		8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	
Pumpkin (bolied, mashed, baked, roasted) - ½ cup Kumara (bolied, mashed, baked, roasted) - 1 medium / ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Mixed frozen vegetables - % cup	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	Ο	0	\bigcirc	Ο	
Green beans - ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	
Silver beet, spinach - ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Carrots - 1 medium / ½ cup	O.	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	
Sweet corn - 1 medium cob / ½ cup	Q	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	
Mushrooms - 1/2 cup	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	
Tomatoes - 1 medium / ½ cup	Q	Q	S	Q	Q	8	Q	S	Q	
Beetroot - 1 medium / ½ cup Taro, cassava or breadfruit - 1 medium / ½ cup	0	00	00	00	0	0	00	00	0	

* 4. How often do you usually eat these vegetables?									
	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Green bananas (plantain) - 1 medium / ½ cup	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0
Sprouts (alfalfa, mung) - ½ cup	0	0	0	$^{\circ}$	$^{\circ}$	\circ	\circ	$^{\circ}$	0
Pacific Island yams - 1 medium / ½ cup	\bigcirc	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc	\odot	\bigcirc	\odot	0	\bigcirc
Turnips, swedes, parsnip or yams - ½ cup	\bigcirc	0	0	$^{\circ}$	Ο	0	\odot	\odot	0
Onions, celery or leeks - ¼ cup	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc
Cauliflower, broccoll or broccoflower - ½ cup	0	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	0	0	0
Brussel sprouts, cabbage, red cabbage or kale - ½ cup	0	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot
Courgette/zucchini, marrow, eggpiant, squash, kamo kamo, asparagus, cucumber - ½ cup	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0	Ο	0
Capsicum (peppers) - 1/2 medium / 1/4 cup	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Avocado - ¼ avocado	0	0	0	0	Ó	0	Ó	0	0
Lettuce greens (mesculin, cos, iceberg) - % cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc
Other green leafy vegetables (whitioof, watercress, taro leaves, puha) - $\%$ cup	Ó	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire									
5. Fruit									
 * 1. Do you eat fruit? No Yes * 2. On average, how many servings of fruit (fresh, frozen, canned or stewed) do you eat per day? Do NOT include fruit juice. (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = 1 medium or 2 small pieces of fruit or 1/2 cup of chopped fruit) e.g. 1 apple + 2 small apricots = 2 servings) Not applicable Less than one serving 1 serving 2 servings 3 or more servings 									
*3. How often do you usually eat thes	e frui	its? <1x/ month	1-3x / month	1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Apple - 1 medium / ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0
Pear - 1 medium / ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0
Banana - 1 medium / ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Orange, mandarin, tangelo, grapefruit - 1 medium / 2 small	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\circ	0
Peach, nectarine, plum or apricot - 1 medium / ½ cup / 2 small	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0
	\sim						-	\sim	\frown
Mango, paw-paw or persimmons / ½ cup	\circ	0	\bigcirc	Ο	Ο	0	0	\circ	\circ
Mango, paw-paw or persimmons / ½ cup Pineappie - ½ cup	0	0	00	00	00	00	0	0	0
Mango, paw-paw or persimmons / ½ cup Pineappie - ½ cup Grapes - ½ cup / 8-10 grapes	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	000	000
Mango, paw-paw or persimmons / ½ cup Pineappie - ½ cup Grapes - ½ cup / 8-10 grapes Strawberries, other berries, cherries - ½ cup	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000
Mango, paw-paw or persimmons / ½ cup Pineapple - ½ cup Grapes - ½ cup / 8-10 grapes Strawberries, other berries, cherries - ½ cup Melon (watermelon, rockmelon) - ½ cup	00000	00000	00000	00000	00000	00000	00000	00000	00000
Mango, paw-paw or persimmons / ½ cup Pineappie - ½ cup Grapes - ½ cup / 8-10 grapes Strawberries, other berries, cherries - ½ cup Meion (watermeion, rockmeion) - ½ cup Kiwifruit - 1 medium / 2 small	000000	000000	000000	000000	000000	000000	000000	000000	000000
Mango, paw-paw or persimmons / % cup Pineappie - % cup Grapes - % cup / 8-10 grapes Strawberries, other berries, cherries - % cup Meion (watermeion, rookmeion) - % cup Kiwifruit - 1 medium / 2 smail Feljoas - 1 medium / 2 smail	0000000	0000000	0000000	0000000	0000000	0000000	0000000	0000000	0000000
Mango, paw-paw or persimmons / % cup Pineappie - % cup Grapes - % cup / 8-10 grapes Strawberries, other berries, cherries - % cup Meion (watermeion, rockmeion) - % cup Kiwifruit - 1 medium / 2 small Feljoas - 1 medium / 2 cup	000000000	000000000	000000000	000000000	000000000	000000000	000000000	00000000	000000000
Mango, paw-paw or persimmons / % cup Pineappie - % cup Grapes - % cup / 8-10 grapes Strawberries, other berries, cherries - % cup Melon (watermelon, rockmelon) - % cup Klwifruit - 1 medium / 2 smail Feljoas - 1 medium / 2 smail Tamarillos - 1 medium / % cup Sultanas, raisins or currants - 1 smail box	0000000000	00000000000	0000000000	0000000000	0000000000	0000000000	00000000000	0000000000	0000000000000

E	EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire									
ł	6. Drinks									
	*1. On average, how many drinks do you have per day? (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = 250 mL or one cup/glass)									
	Less than 1 serving									
	1-3 servings									
	4-5 servings									
	6-8 servings									
	9-10 servings									
	11 or more servings									
	*2. How often do you usually have th	ese d	rinks	?						
		Never	<1x/	1-3x /	1x/	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x /	4+ x /
	Instant soup (Cup of soup) - 250 mL / 1 cup	Ο	\bigcirc	0						
	Fruit juice (Just Juice, Fresh-up, Charlie's, Rio Gold) - 250 mL / 1 cup/glass	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Ŏ	Õ	Ŏ
	Fruit drink (Choice, Rio Splice) - 250 mL / 1 cup/glass	\bigcirc								
	Vegetable Juice (tomato Juice, V8 Juice) - 250 mL / 1 cup/glass	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Iced Tea (Lipton Ice tea) - 250 mL / 1 cup/glass	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Cordial or Powdered drinks (Thriftee, Raro, Vita-fresh) - 250 mL / 1 cup/glass	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Low-calorie cordial - 250 mL / 1 cup/glass	0	Q	Q	0	Q	Q	0	0	0
	Energy drinks small-medium can (V, Red Bull) - 250-350 mL	Q	õ	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q	Q
	Energy drinks large can (Monster, Mother, Demon, large V) - 450-550 mL	0	\circ	0	0	\circ	0	0	0	0
	Sugar-free Energy drinks (sugar-free V, Monster, Red Bull) - 1 small can	0	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0	0
	Diet soft/fizzy/carbonated drink (diet sprite) - 250 mL / 1 cup/glass	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Soft/fizzy/carbonated drinks (Coke, Sprite) - 250 mL / 1 cup/glass	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Sport's drinks (Gatorade, Powerade) - 1 bottle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Flavoured water (Mizone, H2Go flavoured) - 1 bottle	Õ	Õ	Q	Õ	õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ
	Water (unflavoured mineral water, soda water, tap water) - 250 mL / 1 cup/glass	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

17. Dressings and Sauces

*1. How often do you usually have these dressings or sauces?										
	Never	<1x/	1-3x /	1x/	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x /	4+ x /	
Butter (all varieties) - 1 tsp	0	month	month	Week	Week	Week	day		day	
Margarine (all varieties) - 1 tsp	0	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	0	0	\odot	0	
Oli (ali varieties) - 1 tsp	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	
Cream or sour cream - 1 Tbsp	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	0	0	0	
Mayonnaise or creamy dressings (aloii, tartae sauce) - 1 Tbsp	0	Ο	Ο	0	Ο	0	0	Ο	0	
Low fat/calorie dressing (reduced fat mayonnaise) - 1 Tbsp	0	Ο	0	Ο	Ο	0	0	Ο	0	
Salad dressing (french, Italian) - 1 Tbsp	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	
Sauces (tomato, BBQ, sweet chill, mint) - 1 Tbsp	0	Ο	Ο	0	Ο	0	0	0	0	
Mustard - 1 Tbsp	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	
Soy sauce - 1 Tbsp	0	Ο	\odot	0	Ο	0	0	Ο	0	
Chutney or relish - 1 Tbsp	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\odot	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc	
Gravy homemade - ¼ cup	0	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	Ο	0	
Instant Gravy (e.g. Maggi) - ¼ cup	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	
White sauce/cheese sauce - % cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	$^{\circ}$	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	

18. Miscellaneous - Cakes, Biscuits and Puddings

*1. How often do you usually eat these baked products?

	Never	<1x/	1-3x /	1x/	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x/	4+ x /
		month	month	week	week	week	day	day	day
Cakes, loaves, sweet muttins - 1 slice / 1 muttin	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Sweet ples or pastries, tarts, doughnuts - 1 medium	\circ	$^{\circ}$	$^{\circ}$	\bigcirc	$^{\circ}$	\circ	\circ	$^{\circ}$	\circ
Other puddings or desserts - not including milk-based puddings (sticky date pudding, paviova) - ½ cup	0	0	\odot	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0
Plain biscuits, cookles (Round wine, Ginger nut) - 2 biscuits	0	Ο	0	\bigcirc	Ο	0	0	0	0
Fancy biscuits (chocolate, cream) - 2 biscuits	\bigcirc								

EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire

19. Miscellaneous

*1. How often do you usually eat these other foods?										
	Never	<1x/	1-3x /	1x/	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x /	4+ x /	
Jelly - 1/2 cup	\bigcirc									
Ice blocks - 1 Ice block	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	
Lollies - 2 Iollies	Ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	
Chocolate - Including chocolate bars (Moro bars) - 1 small bar	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	Õ	
Sugar added to food and drinks - 1 level tsp	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	
Jam, honey, marmalade or syrup - 1 level tsp	Ο	\odot	0	Ο	0	Ο	0	\bigcirc	\circ	
Vegemite or marmite - 1 level tsp	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	
Peanut butter or other nut spreads - 1 level Tbsp	Ο	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Brazil nuts or walnuts - 2	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	
Peanuts - 10	0	0	Ο	0	Ο	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	
Other nuts (almonds, cashew, pistachio, macadamia) - 10	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	0	\odot	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc	
Seeds (pumpkin, sunflower)	0	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	Ο	0	
Muesil bars - 1 bar	\bigcirc	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc	\odot	\odot	\odot	\odot	\bigcirc	
Coconut cream - ¼ cup	Ο	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	$^{\circ}$	\circ	
Coconut milk - % cup	\bigcirc	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\odot	\bigcirc	
Lite coconut milk - ¼ cup	0	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0	\circ	
Potato crisps, com chips, Twistles - ½ cup / handful	0	\odot	0	\odot	0	\odot	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	
*2. Do you use salt in cooking?										
Never										
Rarely										
Usually										
Always										
*3. Do you use salt at the table?										
O Never										
Rarely										
◯ Sometimes										
Usually										
Always										

EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire									
20. Miscellaneous - Takeaways									
 *1. On average, how often do you eat Never Less than 1 times 1-2 times 3-4 times 4 5 mms 	take	away	s per \	week'	? (Ple:	ase cl	noose	one o	nly)
A o umes More than 7 times *2. How often do you usually eat thes Meat ple, sausage roll, other savouries - 1 ple / 2 small	Never	<a>teawa	y food 1-3x / month	ls? 1x/ week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
sausage rolls or savouries Hot potato chips, kumara chips, french fries, wedges - ½ cup Chinese - 1 serve	0	00	00	0	0	00	0	00	0
Indian - 1 serve Thai - 1 serve	0000	000	0000	0000	000	0000	0000	0000	0000
Burgers - 1 medium burger Battered fish - 1 piece Fried chicken (KFC: Country fried chicken) - 1 medium niece	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000
Bread based (Kebab, sandwiches, wraps, Pita Pit, Subway) - 1 medium	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ

21. Other

 ${\sc *}$ 1. Are there any other foods or drinks that you can think of that you have on a regular basis that was not covered by this questionnaire?

○ N0 ○ Yes

EXPLORE Food Frequency Questionnaire

22. Other

1. Please list these foods and drinks including; the serving size, and how many times per week you eat or drink these items (e.g. Pizza, 4 slices, one time per week)

7

*

Appendix E: Standard Operating Procedure for Food Frequency Questionnaire

Questionnaire Procedure

 The questionnaires will be completed online using the computers in building 27. The two computers must first be turned on using the power button on the hard drive. You must then log in using the Explore network account, so that the computer is ready for the participants;

> Username: xxxxxxx Password: xxxxxxx

- 2. Once logged in open up each link to the FFQ, ensuring there is access. If there are any issues, please ask Zara, AJ, Sara, Kathryn Beck, or PC to help. If the issue cannot be resolved, there are hardcopies of the questionnaire which are kept in the pink Explore questionnaire folder which is will be beside the computers at the questionnaire station. However, the hardcopy version must be a last resort as this will have to be put into survey monkey manually by an Explore staff member at a later date, which is time consuming.
- 3. Participants will move to the questionnaire station after completing the blood pressure station, which is very quick (3-5minutes maximum) so ensure you are prepared by this stage. The participants are offered breakfast and a hot drink once blood pressure has been recorded, and if the participant declines food and drink please escort them straight to the questionnaire station. If the participant would like breakfast and/or a hot drink, please encourage them to consume this at the computer stations where they will begin the FFQ (as time may be short with multiple participants on the testing days). The questionnaire station is time consuming (25-40 minutes) so it is important to get this underway as soon as possible.
- 4. Read the first page of the FFQ to the participant, taking your time through the question examples, asking at the end if they have any questions.

- 5. Click 'next' at the bottom of the page and this will take you to the first questionnaire question which asks for the participant ID number, please insert this full number yourself i.e. 250018 and click 'next' at the bottom of the page.
- 6. The questionnaire is now ready for the participant to begin. Let the participant know that you will be there to answer any questions they have whilst completing it. Leave the participant and sit at the big round table behind the computer station, so that you are close enough for any possible questions, but so that you still give the participant some privacy.
- 7. It is important that conversation is kept to a minimum whilst participants are completing the questionnaires, they need full focus.
- 8. If any questions arise during this time from the participant that you are unsure of, please ask one of the team members stated above. It is important that we obtain the most accurate information possible from the FFQ.
- 9. If the FFQ stops working at any time, please see a team member stated above. You may need to provide a hardcopy for the participant to complete. If so, please ensure they complete this hardcopy version from the beginning, as their questionnaire data will not be saved unless they have 100% completed it.

ID	Weight (kg)	Height (m)	BMR (kcal)	Reported energy	**Energy
				intake (kcal)	Intake:BMR
1	109	1.70	2061	940	0.456*
2	104.4	1.65	1692	833	0.492*
3	87.9	1.73	1558	783	0.502*
4	82	1.79	1719	1128	0.656*
5	100.1	1.61	1792	1236	0.690*
6	69	1.71	1519	1092	0.719*
7	61	1.62	1387	1007	0.726*
8	101.3	1.82	1989	1497	0.753*
9	87.3	1.67	1758	1425	0.810*
10	97.5	1.64	1636	1406	0.860*
11	72.3	1.65	1549	1333	0.860*
12	95.8	1.75	1622	1443	0.889
13	87.1	1.58	1729	1578	0.912
14	103	1.67	1972	1806	0.916
15	95.6	1.76	1621	1538	0.949
16	110.2	1.74	1739	1681	0.967
17	104.6	1.61	1694	1644	0.971
18	53.7	1.62	1281	1248	0.974
19	73.2	1.67	1567	1547	0.987
20	71.1	1.65	1532	1536	1.003
21	118.8	1.66	2183	2243	1.027
22	85.8	1.67	1541	1631	1.058
23	66.3	1.71	1483	1655	1.116
24	93.9	1.58	1823	2092	1.147
25	94.4	1.71	1611	1913	1.187
26	70.3	1.72	1416	1699	1.200
27	121.4	1.84	1830	2203	1.204
28	84.7	1.58	1532	1854	1.210
29	111.4	1.69	1749	2200	1.258
30	86.5	1.65	1547	1962	1.268
31	68.6	1.54	1467	1869	1.274
32	116.5	1.66	2151	2807	1.305
33	68.9	1.69	1513	1996	1.319
34	99.1	1.69	1924	2561	1.331
35	76	1.78	1635	2246	1.374
36	82.6	1.75	1516	2085	1.376
37	109	1.68	2056	2836	1.379
38	61.1	1.64	1392	1969	1.415
39	104.9	1.71	1696	2403	1.417
40	72.2	1.69	1431	2031	1.419
41	80.2	1.74	1496	2134	1.426
42	105.5	1.71	2016	2969	1.473
43	72.9	1.59	1554	2303	1.482
44	88.2	1.70	1779	2650	1.489

45	64.1	1.63	1365	2075	1.520
46	105.9	1.74	2030	3144	1.549
47	70.5	1.66	1417	2223	1.569
48	106.5	1.70	1709	2700	1.580
49	99.6	1.64	1653	2642	1.598
50	101.8	1.68	1671	2673	1.600
51	107.7	1.66	2032	3387	1.667
52	102.1	1.63	1673	2795	1.670
53	99.4	1.67	1921	3219	1.675
54	131.9	1.67	1915	3237	1.691
55	64.9	1.66	1517	2567	1.693
56	89.2	1.55	1569	2715	1.731
57	69	1.62	1534	2670	1.741
58	103.8	1.79	2017	3603	1.787
59	81.4	1.69	1506	2715	1.803
60	82.7	1.67	1695	3092	1.824
61	101.6	1.68	1669	3151	1.887
62	74.6	1.62	1451	2778	1.915
63	83.2	1.74	1723	3537	2.054
64	95.5	1.67	1868	3915	2.096
65	134	1.67	2393	5103	2.132
66	92.3	1.68	1830	3976	2.173
67	82.1	1.67	1687	3817	2.262
68	122.1	1.73	2249	5210	2.317
69	78.2	1.62	1619	3869	2.389
70	70.6	1.61	1418	3421	2.412
71	79.8	1.68	1493	3772	2.527
72	66.1	1.64	1462	3765	2.576
73	120	1.73	1818	4692	2.580
74	70.7	1.68	1536	4107	2.674
75	70.7	1.62	1419	3912	2.757 [†]
76	137.5	1.73	2457	7246	2.949 [†]
77	73.3	1.64	1559	4641	2.976 ⁺
78	143.1	1.73	2006	6322	3.152 [†]
79	89.3	1.66	1783	5696	3.194 [†]
80	103.2	1.62	1822	6105	3.350 ⁺
81	67.9	1.59	1396	5482	3.926 ⁺
82	79.4	1.62	1489	6656	4.469 [†]
83	96.8	1.63	1877	8929	4.757 [†]
84	83.7	1.67	1709	9026	5.280 [†]
85	86.6	1.66	1548	9298	6.007 ⁺
86	65.6	1.59	1440	10082	6.999 ⁺
87	94.4	1.64	1847	13029	7.054 [†]
88	68.5	1.61	1485	14974	10.086 ⁺
89	147.7	1.64	2043	20698	10.133 ⁺
90	104.7	1.65	1987	31042	15.619 [†]

*=Under-reported energy intake; ⁺=over-reported energy intake. **Energy Intake:BMR=reported energy (kcal)/BMR (kcal).Cut-off for under-reporting=0.873; cut-off for over-reporting=2.752.